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Financial Summary

EERE
SUMMARY OF RESULTS
HZE12A31HLEE
Year ended 31 December
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
AREFRT ARBTRE ARBTT ARBTT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
W& Revenue 30,331,512 28,591,271 28,257,432  25230,613 22,761,822
EF] Gross profit 9,869,668 8,711,731 8,187,917 8,218,910 8,065,931
PREFIZIAIRF Profit before income tax 2,483,774 2,239,924 1,730,829 2,141,842 2,326,459
FTigmiBx Income tax expenses (634,655) (572,864) (508,672) 641,127 (700,756)
FERA Profit for the year 1,849,119 1,667,060 1,222,157 1,500,715 1,625,703
KRB EEHFBA  Profit for the year
EIEEE R attributable to
the equity holders of
the Company 1,849,119 1,667,060 1,222,157 1,500,715 1,625,703
BE Dividends 1,849,119 1,833,769 1,466,588 1,800,859 1,625,703
ARER ARES ARES ARER ARES
RMB cents RMB cents RMB cents RMB cents RMB cents
BRERER Basic earnings per Share 42.81 38.60 28.30 34.74 37.64
128318
As at 31 December
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
AREFRE ARBTRT ARBTT ARBTT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
mEE Total assets 23,376,234 22,134,218 21,784,355 22,065,346 22,104,371
mas Total liabilities 9,977,124 8,751,841 8,603,002 8,300,045 8,217,838
EmAEER Total equity 13,399,110 13,382,377 13,181,353 13,765,301 13,886,533
ReMREEEY  Cashand
cash equivalents 610,016 931,995 108,519 285,573 486,300
E (BB /EE  Netourrent
JBRA (iabilities)/assets (92,094) (370,186) 494,708 (319,284) (1,504,978)

#F—1 ¥ hE PG AR /2 E Uni-President China Holdings Ltd.
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Chairman’s Statement

Uni-President China Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together as the “Group”, “our Group”, “we”, “our” or
“us”) adhere to the corporate vision of “Honesty and Diligence;
Innovation and Excellence (G, E #h7E ~ BJF7 k%) ” and uphold the
principle of “Value Marketing (B{&%& #H) ”. With a focus on operation,
we are always vigorous in creating brand value, pursuing steady
operation and aligning to “Healthy Practice (f#Eg12/E)”, with an aim
to evolve into an enterprise boasting “Integrity (F#%)”, “Brand (%

F2)” and “Taste (GMK) .

With experienced management team, robust profit-making model
and risk management mechanism, the Group progressed steadily
in the complex and ever-changing economic environment and set
another record for revenue and profit in 2024, as it continuously
optimised its organisational and operational structure to properly
cope with the systemic risks brought about by market fluctuations,
which formed a solid foundation for achieving greater ambitions in
the future. Further recovery of China’s economy and new characters
and trends of the consumption market represent both challenges
and opportunities to us, and it is a major theme to which we have
been devoted for so long to provide consumers with more valuable
consumption experience. As a food and beverage enterprise that
is closely related to people’s well-being, we maintained stable
development and reached further goals after braving the wind and
waves and sailing the growth cycle by the unremitting endeavour of
all staff, the resilient organisation and the flexible risk management
mechanism. Since 2020, the Group’s revenue has been growing at
a compound annual growth rate of 7.4%, in which the compound
annual growth rate of the beverages even reached 11.3%.

Hi—> ¥ hEZERAERAT Uni-President China Holdings Ltd. ¢ Annual Report 2024 %3
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Chairman’s Statement
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#F—1 ¥ hE PG AR /2 E Uni-President China Holdings Ltd.

In 2024, the Group’s revenue reached RMB30,331.5 million,
representing an increase of 6.1% over last year, and marking a
new milestone. Post-tax profits amounted to RMB1,849.1 miillion,
representing an increase of 10.9% over last year. In particular, “Uni
Stewed Beef Flavoured Noodles (45 —#4L/&E4-PO%H) ", with a focus
on product strength, achieved breakthrough in innovation and
accomplished all-front upgrading for inner and outer attractiveness.
Staying true to the brand positioning of “Pioneer of Tomato Delicacy
(BMFEKEIIRE)”, “The King of Tomato (Fi2)” recorded
increased revenue at the compound annual growth rate of over
100% since 2020. As it catered for the health trend with the dual-
line portfolio of low-sugar and sugar-free offerings, “Uni Green Tea
(#—4:55 " consolidated its leading position in the green tea
market. Riding the tide of the times, “Haizhiyan (82> =)~ proactively
cultivated presence in the electrolyte drink market and fostered
a stronger momentum for brand growth. With insights in market
trends, “Uni Assam Milk Tea (45 —PFAIFEIRYHEY) " further diversified its
drinking scenarios and showcased a strong market competitiveness.

In the backdrop of boosting consumer confidence, we have been
more proactively integrating into this resilient and dynamic market.
The Group devoted greater energy to operation, built up brands
and cultivated future trendy products with a long-term perspective,
striving to build a long-term competitive barrier of brands; made
freshness control a fundamental policy for its operation and
maintained healthy inventory levels in its sales channels; established
a management mechanism for diversified and integrated offline-
online channels, and developed channels with tailored and targeted
approaches, in a bid to expand high-performance terminal point-
of-sale for deepening market penetration; continued to promote its
digital transformation, so as to empower its business operation in
all aspects; remained committed to creating value for consumers
by upholding the corporate philosophy of “Three Goods and One
Fairness (=8 —138) "

FINAL DIVIDEND

Based on the Group’s overall performance in 2024, and having
accounted for, including but not limited to, the Group’s surplus,
overall financial condition and capital expenditures, the board (the
“Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of the Company will propose
to declare a final cash dividend of RMB42.81 cents per share
(amounting to a total dividend of approximately RMB1,849.1 million)
for the year ended 31 December 2024 at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company.

o Annual Report 2024
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Chairman’s Statement

PROSPECT

Looking to 2025, the Chinese government will prioritise the first
key task to “vigorously boost consumption, improve investment
efficiency, and expand domestic demand on all fronts”, and it is
expected that China’s economy will be fueled by the strengthened
drive of domestic demand and sustain stable growth. The continuous
policy support will stimulate consumption recovery more efficiently
to a better outlook. In the new economic landscape, the Group
will further consolidate infrastructure construction and organisation
capability in each market segment, and reinforce operation system
construction and talent cultivation, aiming to provide consumers
with safe, high-quality and innovative products and create values
to bring better investment returns to all shareholders, as motivated
by the determined pursuit of “sustained success (/&A% TH) " and
“relentless progress (GKiEES) .

APPRECIATION

The Group’s record-high performance and profit is wholly dependent
on support and efforts from all stakeholders. On behalf of the Board,
I would like to extend my sincere gratitude to customers, suppliers,
business partners, financial institutions and shareholders for their
strong support, and particularly to all staff for their dedicated efforts
and contributions over the past year.

Lo Chih-Hsien
Chairman

5 March 2025

Hi—> ¥ hEZERAERAT Uni-President China Holdings Ltd. ¢ Annual Report 2024 %3

4



EEEw R D

Management Discussion & Analysis
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ANALYSIS ON ECONOMIC ENVIRONMENT

In 2024, the gross domestic product (“GDP”) of the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC” or “China”) recorded a year-on-
year increase of 5.0% and total retail sales of consumer goods
grew by 3.5% year-on-year. The year 2024 was positioned as the
“Consumption-Promoting Year CHE{E#4F)” in the PRC, and the
consumption remained the most important driving forces for the
economic growth. The PRC government has implemented a series
of policies to expand domestic demand and promote consumption,
and has further unleashed the potential of consumption and boosted
consumer confidence by perfecting the consumer activity system
of “Shopping Festival, Consumption Month, Launch Season and
Promotion Year (BE¥)E1~ JHE A~ B 2= (2 ). The consumer
market has shown a trend of gradual recovery, which has provided
strong market support for the Group to achieve steady growth in
revenue.

The market price trend of raw materials related to food and beverage
remained volatile in 2024. Multiple risks such as geopolitical tensions,
exchange rate fluctuations and inflation have brought about various
uncertainties to the global economic recovery and the stability of the
supply chain. The Group continued to pay attention to the changes in
the external environment and constantly enhanced its organisational
coordination and risk management capabilities to effectively cope
with the risks of rising prices of individual raw materials by means of
enhancing the utilization of production capacity and optimising the
product structure, so as to maximise its resource utilisation efficiency
under the principle of improvement in efficiency.

In 2024, consumers continued to pursue a consumption habit
focusing on products with good value for money, and re-examined
the meaning of consumption, forming a more rational and more
quality-oriented consumption philosophy, with the balance between
price and quality becoming a major consideration for consumers. At
the same time, consumers have begun to create a spiritually pleasing
world for themselves, pursuing meaningful consumer behaviors, inner
compensation, social attributes and emotional experience. This year,
new products are emerging in the industry, and only those products
that can satisfy the core needs of consumers can stand out in the
fierce competition. The Group upholds a value-based marketing
strategy, strives for innovation in product strength, explores and
cultivates offline and online diversified channels, and establishes
in-depth interactive emotional links with consumers to satisfy
consumers’ consumption needs in different scenarios.

o Annual Report 2024
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SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

The Group continues to improve its social responsibility management
mechanism, incorporating sustainable development into its overall
business strategy to implement social responsibility risk management
and advance its sustainable development goals. We have
comprehensively strengthened economic, social and environmental
management, and implemented improvement measures on key
corporate responsibility issues, including climate change, water
resources management, green production, product safety and
quality, product nutrition and safety, customer service quality,
employee development, occupational health and safety, and giving
back to the society, in order to enhance the standards for corporate
sustainability.

The Group follows the goal and strategy of “sustainable operation (7k
447 and while pursuing performance growth, the Group makes
great efforts to create value for the community. With respect to the
Group’s policies, measures, actions and achievements in corporate
social responsibility (‘CSR”) for the year ended 31 December 2024,
please refer to the CSR Report published by the Group. The online
edition of the CSR Report is available for view or download on the
website of HKEXnews (http://www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company’s
website (http://www.uni-president.com.cn).

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2024, the Group adhered to its core philosophy of focused
operation, concentrated on upholding the strategy of brand
building and value-based marketing and strived to achieve steady
and sustainable development. We continued to promote healthy
operation and strengthen freshness management of our products,
and actively accumulated brand assets and optimised product
strengths and product mix on a long-term basis to cope with the
diversified changes in the market demand. The Group achieved
record-high revenue on the premise of sound operation, and
meanwhile relentlessly pursued innovation, upheld the operational
attitude towards honesty and diligence, focused on the brands’
intrinsic value, explored and responded to the nature of consumer
demand, proactively expanded consumption scenarios, and built
diversified channels in line with and leading the ever-changing
consumer trends, driving long-term growth for its brands and
businesses. The Group recorded a revenue of RMB30,331.5 million
for the year ended 31 December 2024, representing an increase
of 6.1% as compared with that of last year. Performances of the
Group’s core businesses are as follows:

Hi—> ¥ hEZERAERAT Uni-President China Holdings Ltd. ¢ Annual Report 2024 %3
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Food Business

With a focus on catering for the needs of consumers, the Group
was committed to strictly managing product quality, continuously
refining flavours and enhancing product strengths to create an
excellent consumption experience for consumers. We strived to
offer diversified products that are suitable to be served in various
daily occasions for enjoyment by consumers, achieving the perfect
combination of taste and convenience. While upholding the value-
based marketing strategies, we were committed to enhancing brand
awareness and customer loyalty and thus steadily accumulating
brand assets, so as to lay a solid foundation for the future growth.
The Group recorded a revenue of RMB9,998.2 million from the food
business in 2024, representing an increase of 1.5% over last year.

Instant Noodles Business

In 2024, the consumer behavior showed a trend of diversification,
rationalization, and optimism. At the same time, consumers have
been placing more emphasis on health, safety and products with
good value for money. Under the guidance of value-based marketing
strategy, the Group’s instant noodles business advanced the
sustainable development of the brand by leveraging ingenuity and
innovation in product development to bring consumers more high-
quality products that meet market demand. The instant noodles
business recorded a revenue of RMB9,848.5 million in 2024,
representing an increase of 2.6% over last year.

As the pioneer and leader of nourishing soup noodles,
“Soup Daren (%% A)” insisted on improving the
products with ingenuity. For the first time in 16 years, it
has been comprehensively upgraded and relaunched,
so as to bring consumers the ultimate product
experience. Inheriting the brand assets, Soup Daren
continued to launch the limited cherry blossom season
edition and pioneered temperature-based variable
package technology in 2024, successfully igniting
the market. In terms of communication, the anime
creative TVC was broadcasted. By focusing on online
advertising exposure in S+ blockbuster dramas and
offline advertisement placements on metro and elevator
media in core cities and shopping districts, the Group
achieved comprehensive brand exposure. In terms of
channels, the Group resolutely maintained the stability
of market price and the freshness of products, and
improved the purchasing and enjoying experience of

W ve U e— CONSUMEYS.
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Upholding the zero-tolerance attitude to foreign objects in its
products, “Uni-President Lao Tan Pickled Cabbage and Beef Noodles
(W —EZERE S A%E) " managed the product quality with multiple
measures and the strictest standard to bring consumers a pleasant
and sour experience. In terms of communication, centering around
the brand slogan of “Lao
Tan Pickled Cabbage and
Beef Noodles, the key to
choice is Uni-president
Brand (EIEEE4-PI%E >
REMH—ZRIH)” and
the super IP “Grandpa
Lao Tan (EB&H&E) ",
we enhanced brand
loyalty through advertising
placement on media of
high potential and opened
up factories of Lao Tan
Pickled Cabbage suppliers for visits for the 11th consecutive year
to reach out to tens of millions of self-media users in the form of live
streaming, with over 4 million comments reposted from short videos.
The brand sales have further recovered, further solidifying its leading
position in the product category.

“Uni Stewed Beef Flavoured Noodles (#t—#41 &4 A%HE) " focused
on product strength, achieved breakthrough in innovation and
completed a comprehensive internal and external upgrade. By
centering on the core value of “Uni-President, a dominant braised
beef noodles brand (ATJEE @K > #—FhEH) ", cooperating with
“Advertising Festival of Chinese College Students (Bl A2 4 E 4
2787 " which targeted at the students and conveying the brand
attitude of “Uni Stewed Beef Flavoured Noodles (#t—ATIE4A
#@)”, we enhanced brand
recognition and gained
consumer preferences.
By leveraging on online
advertising placement in
S+ blockbuster dramas
and offline promoting
activities in key markets to
accumulate active assets
of “Niugi Festival (&
&7)”, we enhanced brand
recognition and drove
revenue growth.

o Annual Report 2024 F#§ 1 1
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Adhering to the brand positioning of “Pioneer of Tomato Delicacy (&t
EIKBHIRE)”, “The King of Tomato (i &)~

continued to explore the
delicious taste of tomatoes.
With product strength as the
core, it kept managing and
controlling key technological
processes and managing
the “3Ys” (stability, continuity
and consistency) of
products to continuously
bring consumers a safe,
convenient and reassuring
product experience.
Cooperating with the
Tencent platform on “Haha
Maker (EEIAE)” and
“Natural High S2 (3R7E
R4 82)", the brand
has achieved a strong
exposure and made its

brand positioning popular. The offline activities have been steadily
implemented, contributing to the double-digit growth of the brand’s

™ With “Craving Meat? Imperial Big Meal’s

For You (f8IZE9 > imEKE)” as the core
appeal, “Imperial Big Meal GiiE K&)”
continued to improve its product with a
focus on the flavour “Scallion Braised Beef
Flavor Instant Noodles (B &4 M) in
2024, contributing to the high double-digit
growth of the brand’s revenue. In terms of
communication, we focused on the Douyin
channel to strengthen the public awareness
of large beef noodles through gourmet-
featured communication matrix comprising
talents’ short videos and live broadcast.

o Annual Report 2024 £
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Other Products

Upholding the vision of becoming the social kitchen for the Chinese,
“Kai Xiao Zao (Bi/J\#t)” strived to fulfil the diversified needs of
consumers on three meals every day. We launched “Sour Soup

: Wonton (B /%8R8 " and “Nori and
Shrimp Wonton (523282 KEEAD) " to meet
diverse customer needs. At the same time,
we focused on “Spicy Grilled Fish (&%
J&£8)" and “Lao Tan Pickled Cabbage
and Fish (BEEIZA)” in frozen food
segment which were well received by the
customers. We kept cultivating brand
assets with a long-term perspective and
continued to optimise product strengths,
so as to cope with the diverse changes in
market demand.

Looking ahead to 2025, while China’s
economy is expected to grow steadily
despite intensifying internal and external
uncertainties and challenges, the fast-
moving products industry may also
experience considerable changes. The
products with good value for money will
continue to dominate the mainstream of
consumption, while innovative products in
the new era should pay more attention to
health, safety and distinguishing features
to bring emotional value to consumers.
The Group adheres to a consumer-
oriented approach, staying true to its
original aspirations without compromising
its quality. The Group will seize consumers’
preferences and needs and continue to polish products to improve
quality with the aim of providing consumers with more satisfactory
experiences. The Group will give full play to its own advantages
to integrate healthy food ingredients into the national flavour, and
carry forward the profound Chinese culinary culture to satisfy the
personalised, diversified and healthy needs of consumers. The
Group will establish a strong emotional connection with consumers
by conveying the brand concept to consumers through products to
gain emotional resonance, ultimately becoming a trusted partner of
consumers.

Fohman
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Beverages Business

Dedicated to brand building for creating brand value, the Group
devoted incessant efforts in improving flavours and enhancing
product strengths, and strengthened in-depth interaction and
communication with young consumers, so as to accurately reach
out to diverse consumer groups. We actively expanded and further
developed market channels to cover multiple consumption scenarios
other than traditional ready-to-drink scenario, such as dining, family,
gift and group buying scenarios, etc. Meanwhile, we pushed forward
the expansion of high-performance terminal point-of-sale, continued
to enhance sales of frozen products and empowered digitization.
We had a deep insight into consumers’ needs in various scenarios,
and prepared our products in advance, so as to adapt to and lead
the ever-changing consumption trends to enhance the sustainable
growth of our brands and businesses. The beverages business
recorded a revenue of RMB19,240.6 million in 2024, representing an
increase of 8.2% over last year. The performance of various major
beverages businesses in 2024 is set forth as follows:

Tea Drinks

In 2024, the revenue from the Group’s tea drinks business amounted
to RMB8,574.9 million, representing an increase of 13.1% over last
year, which maintained a stable growth trend, fully demonstrating
strong development momentum and market resilience. In 2024,
the healthy trend of the consumer market further deepened, the
demands of young consumers became more personalised, and
their pursuit of cultural connotation continued to rise. Under this
market dynamic, the Group’s tea drinks business
closely followed consumer habits and preferences,
adhered to the concept of high-price-performance
product experience as the core, and strived to
adapt to the expansion of new channels, the
extension of new scenarios and the emerging
consumer groups and other changes to continue
cultivating and consolidating the market.

In 2024, “Uni Green Tea (4 —#%%%) " consolidated
its brand positioning as “national tea products
with good value for money (B FRENE R
%) " with its low-sugar and sugar-free product
lines. Of which, the classic low-sugar series relied
on the core technology of “Real tea extraction (&
ZEHY)” to deeply explore the potential of lower-
tier markets. The sugar-free “Spring Breeze Green
Tea (F#B432%)” precisely catered the demands
of young consumers such as college students

o Annual Report 2024
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and new white-collar workers for no burden on health, seized the
consumers’ high ground of “first sip of sugar-free tea (55— %
145" to effectively rejuvenate the brand. In terms of marketing,
“Uni Green Tea (#t—#%2%%) " has carried out the “Send coolness to
delivery riders (Z/NEF/ERINED) " activity for five consecutive years,
serving and cultivating heavy users such as delivery riders and blue-
collar workers. “Spring Breeze Green Tea (HF#4EZ%)” precisely
reached young groups by sponsoring comedy variety shows that
young people love, effectively conveying the concepts of brand and
product, thereby strengthening the recognition of “Spring Breeze
Green Tea (F#4£Z) ", In addition, we joined hands with top sport
platform “Keep” to launch “Smiling Cycling (M{5€E571T)” events,
and further strengthened the healthy and happy image of the brand
through the integration of online and offline interactions. Looking
ahead to 2025, “Uni Green Tea (4 —#%%2%) " will further optimise and
improve its product matrix and continue to make effort to expand the
market of young generation to consolidate its leading position in the
green tea category.

In 2024, “Uni lce Tea (#i—kALZ%) " aligned with consumer trends
and actively promoted product upgrades and optimisations by
adding large-leaf black tea to enhance and optimise tea flavour
for creating a bold and refreshing drinking experience. In terms of
marketing, we directly targeted the student
customers and strengthened the brand asset
of “Stay Young for Ever (H&HEBFR)". In the
first half of the year, we partnered with Bilibili's
top IP “Forever 22! (;k3&22!)" Graduation
Concert, deeply stimulating the resonance
of youth and achieving precise marketing
coverage both online and offline. In the second
half of the year, we deeply cultivated the
campus scenario by the marketing campaign
for back-to-school season, and had in-depth
interactions with students in the back-to-school
carnivals staged with the theme of passionate
youth inspired by Chinese comics. In 2025,
“Uni Ice Tea (#—KALZ5)” will continue to
focus on product strength, combining IP
collaboration and the launch of limited editions
to maintain product competitiveness and brand
freshness. Meanwhile, it will deeply take root
in the campus scenario and use key marketing
moments such as back-to-school season
and graduation season to attract the young
generation.
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In 2024, “Uni Plum Green Tea
(fr—B B3 partnered
with top cultural bloggers
to co-create the “Childhood
Sweethearts Bottle (F1817T
E#R)”, exporting traditional
Chinese style intangible
cultural heritage elements
and consolidating the brand’s
- - traditional Chinese style. In
- CT R he marketing end, we took
products as the carriers
and shaped the differentiated Chinese-style brand image of “Plum
Green Tea with Chinese Taste (I8Z& 33 « FARIIK) " by leveraging
the active platforms of Generation Z to expand word-of-mouth
communication and collaborating with top influencers on the Chinese
Valentine’s Day to narrate the traditional Chinese stories of childhood
sweethearts. In 2025, the brand will continue to cultivate the field of
traditional Chinese culture, strengthen the raw material advantages
of “Grade A plums (AZRERTS ARIHE)” to highlight the differentiated
competitiveness of its products.

“Uni Shuangecui Lemon Tea (4 — & %@
BH)” continued to enhance its brand
positioning of “a kind of lemon tea that is
never tired of drinking (— X8~ Rl AV 22
B0 in 2024, creating the brand image
of Cantonese-style lemon tea with unique
regional and humanistic characteristics
through the communication of the unique
selling point of “Double Tea Base with
7-minute Extraction (8K ZH7
4388)”, particularly focusing on major
cities in southern and southwestern China
during the Year. Under the theme of “Uni
Shuangceui, Authentic Kung Fu (#—%
O #iEINK) ", we leveraged the classic
Cantonese-style elements of “Kung Fu
Wing Chun (Z1k5k%&)” to create topic-
spreading event marketing, quickly
boosting brand awareness and reputation
and contributing to the long-term
sustainable development of the brand with
a “Guinness World Records (& /2 Hrtt 57
5C#%)” Challenge.
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“Classmate Xiaoming (/NZE [
2)” underwent a brand concept
upgrade in 2024, aiming to create
a vibrant “fruit-flavoured tea (S20k
)" exclusive for classmates. As
usual, the product bottle served as
a communication medium to build
the IP image of “Classmate Xiaoming
(NER2)” and accumulate brand
assets. We continued to focus on
the subculture of ACG for promotion.
From May to July 2024, we partnered
with the ACG platform “Kuaikan Comics (IREE82)” under the
theme “Classmate Xiaoming’s Whispers (IR & /)\Z B 289151455 7,
combining online graduation season events with offline Kuaikan
comic conventions to precisely engage our target consumers and
create a unique experience with them.

»

With the core appeal of “a sweet taste came after just like it's
freshly brewed (Bl H 7t 3R38) ", “Chai Li Won (352 F)” continued
to improve its products in 2024. The core product “Dong Ding
Oolong (RIERBE) " enhanced its core
competitiveness by increasing tea polyphenol
concentration to strengthen its flavour profile.
We invested our efforts in short videos
platforms to output original brand-highlighted
short dramas online and focused on core cities
for outdoor media advertising reinforcement,
constantly conveying the brand’s attitude of
“dedication to making good tea (FB:{CMEEF
%) to consumers. In 2025, “Chai Li Won (2%
= F)” will continue to optimise its product
quality, upgrade and iterate its inner and
outer attractiveness simultaneously, so as
to provide consumers with value-for-money
product experience and thus to strengthen its
brand positioning as the king of tea. In terms
of channels, we will continue to focus on key
cities and attempt to increase the trial order
rate with the combination of product refreshing
programme and consumer recruitment activities.

=
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Looking ahead to 2025, the Group’s tea drinks business will continue
to follow consumption and health trends, continuously improve and
optimise the product matrix, enhance brand popularity, and further
expand the consumer base to achieve sustainable high-quality
development.
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Juice

In 2024, revenue from the juice business of the Group amounted
to a total of RMB3,604.7 million, representing an increase of 5.9%
over last year. Adhering to the idea of providing tasty and healthy
juice product to consumers, the juice business continued to
optimise product flavours. We concentrated our business strategy
on diversifying specifications and scenarios with an aim to develop
mass-taste products. On the basis of steady development in the
ready-to-drink market, the Group actively expanded the dining
scenario and accelerated the development of gift box and family
scenarios, so as to continue to expand the market share of its juice
business.

“Uni Orangeate (4t —#£ &%) ” continued to deliver the
orange juice image of “More Fiber (Z#)” and “More
Vitamin C (2C)” to reinforce the core value of “More
Beauty (%7Z253)". In terms of the dining scenario, we
continued to increase the number of points of sale of
canned products, in conjunction with promotion through
social media platforms, to reinforce Orangeate’s image
of being the “go-to beverage”. With respect to the gift
box scenario, we meet the consuming needs in different
regions with gift boxes of different specifications. The
exterior packaging of the gift box has been further optimised to
appear more festive and eye-catching, and we launched the New
Year-themed cans, which communicated with consumers with
youth-oriented auspicious phrases, aiming to convey the festive
and auspicious gifting attributes of the Orangeate gift box and to
strengthen the association between our products and festive gifting
occasions. In terms of communication, we focus on penetrating
the gift box market in lower-tier cities, selecting offline advertising
media suitable for county and rural areas, complemented by the
communication influence of online key opinion leaders (KOLs)/key
opinion consumers (KOCs), creating a synchronised online and offline
resonance to promote the gifting attributes of Orangeate.

szs5)# “Haizhiyan (8 2 &) ” continued to
& Ik B 3k capitalise on the favourable timing
2 RNEn 2 and momentum to penetrate key
FEEE B sweating scenarios like labor,
B HESE sports and travel. In 2024, the
FERTS F L J— —— revenue maintained double-digit
= 20245 Iﬁlg;% growth. Emphasising “containing
WHRRITE PR i potassium ions, sodium ions, etc.,
fIBIR R 2 LA I with refreshing juice, which tastes
& %5 o B Wos an iam, fresh and helps you rehydrate
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and replenish electrolyte loss (2B #HEE T iNEE 75 BEC/F K
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________

R OREH BB MEANKOMEBAE)", we continually
optimised its product strength and enriched “Haizhiyan (82 =)”
with scientific elements to strengthen purchase reasons; conveyed
the brand value of “Drink Haizhiyan to Replenish Electrolytes (7%
BREBBE 2 S)” through online and offline communication
matrices, cultivated consumer loyalty, accumulated brand assets and
captured consumer’s attention as “Haizhiyan = A Delicious Electrolyte
Drink GBZ & = BMEBMREEVED”. Meanwhile, we actively
deployed the electrolyte drinks market and met drinking demands
under different scenarios to boost brand growth momentum.

“Uni Guo Yang (88— B %)” has always been committed to shaping
the brand image of “Outstanding with Sweet and Sourness (F& &H
X)”, focusing on the development path
of product personalisation and quality
enhancement. The launch of two distinctive
flavors, Kumquat Lemon and Plum Juice,
meets the increasingly diverse and refined
taste preferences of consumers. In terms
of brand communication, we targeted the
specific audience and focused on campus
channels to create immersive experiences,
which strengthened the emotional bond
and value resonance between the brand
and young consumers. As a result, the
brand’s market exposure and awareness
have been significantly enhanced. Meanwhile, leveraging the flavour
and refreshing attributes of Plum Juice, we have expanded our
revenue scale steadily by seizing opportunities arising from the dining
scenario.

With the key appeal of “Moisten
and Soothe Your Heart (—O
FO0BR)”, “Uni Crystal Sugar
Pear Drink (#—kiEEHEF)”
collaborated with the virtual
character “Angie ()’
for IP co-branding in 2024,
expressing the contemporary
attitude of “Easy Soothing
(B 580", We continued
to enhance brand power by
communicating with the new
generation and highlighting the
visual presentation of “Moist
(F9)” through creating different
scenarios for expression, thus attracting young consumers’ attention
and love. The revenue of “Uni Crystal Sugar Pear Drink (4 — k1S
£9)” in 2024 showed a steady growth trend.
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“Vitality Awakening CGTRZEE)” carefully selected
naturally fully-ripened fruits and vegetables and
replicated the freshness and sweetness of naturally
fully-ripened fruits and vegetables. In 2024, we
continued to enhance product quality and optimised
packaging vision and flavour, while strengthening
the benefit of “Naturally Fully-ripened with Freshness
and Sweetness (FE#ERH) 7. We continued to focus
on cultivating 100% fruit (vegetable) juice market in
key first-tier cities by refining e-commerce platforms
to boost sales share. Our communication revolved
around the brand slogan of “Vitality is awakened
every day by the freshness and sweetness of
naturally fully-ripened fruits (B2ASEAASFE > 7T
REBEXKE)", promoted positive energy and
conveyed the brand identity of “Full of vitality and
awakening new power Gt mm » SEEHIE) .

Looking ahead to 2025, the juice business will continue to seize
the definite growth opportunity from the existing products by
adhering to the business strategy of cultivating mass taste through
diversifying specifications and scenarios to expand revenue from
featured juice products. We will also adapt to consumer demands
and market trends, explore new opportunities for product category,
seize opportunities to launch upgraded product series that are more
healthy and create new growth driver for the juice business.

Milk Tea

In 2024, the milk tea business of the Group generated revenue of
RMB6,403.7 million, representing an increase of 1.6% over last
year. As a leading brand in the market, “Uni Assam Milk Tea (4% —
FITERYHZS) " has always insisted on “product quality is the key to
competitiveness (E g /I EE) " and managing the freshness well
to boost the mood of consumers nationwide with smooth and tasty
Assam Milk Tea anytime and anywhere.

“Uni Assam Milk Tea (#—FJ & 89355 "
insisted on implementing its stable operational
strategy, leveraging its strong brand influence
to continuously expand drinking scenarios,
and achieved significant results in lower-tier
markets and steady revenue growth. The
original milk tea grew steadily across various
specifications, demonstrating robust market
competitiveness. Targeting young consumers
in first-tier cities, a sugar-free original milk
tea was newly launched, seizing the initiative
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in the sugar-free trend in advance, broadening its user base and
rejuvenating the mature brand. As a market-leading brand, “Uni
Assam Milk Tea (#t—PFITERIIZS) " continuously discerns market
trends to meet evolving consumer demands. The brand remains
centered on the core value of “Smooth and Good Mood (IB&4F
21%)”. During the Chinese New Year, it focused on the drinking
scenario of family reunion and conveyed the brand’s new year appeal
of “Happy New Year to the Family GITFIEZIZ) ", to enhance brand
recognition during the festive season. Through the exclusive title
sponsorship of the variety show “Friends Together 2024 (27 AR
K BB 2024)", the brand was deeply embedded in scenarios
of consumers’ daily lives, strengthening the connection between
the brand and good moods, solidifying the emotional bond with
consumers and laying a solid foundation for long-term development.

“CITEA mik tea (F&HCITEAGELEY) " offers young consumers a new
choice of milk tea. In terms of product features, it uses an innovative slow-
boiling technique
and carefully selects
raw materials such
as the original leaves
of Da Hong Pao and
Rose Puer Tea, and
imported milk for
slow-boiling of 12
minutes. Its rich yet
palanced sweetness
making it highly
popular among the
young consumers.
In the fourth
quarter of 2024,
a limited-edition
blue-and-white
porcelain packaging
capitalised on neo-Chinese aesthetic trends was launched, receiving
widespread acclaim from consumers. In terms of brand communication,
promoting topics like “Slow cooking is more flavorful (12 FZREZ)” on
Xiaohongshu online, and promoting in-depth collaborations between
the CITEA Slow Life Center (F# 184 /5/)\88) and comic-animation
exhibitions offline continuously deliver the brand concept of “The
Companion of Slow Life in the City (i 124 & RIBEEE) ”, advocating
that young consumers take the time of enjoying a bottle of milk tea to slow
down and savor the beauty in their busy lives.
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Coffee

In 2024, while focusing on the brand building of “A-Ha (J
14) " and steadily expanding its basic market share, the
coffee business actively grasped the industry development
trends and continuously sought secondary growth through
product innovation. In September 2024, a 1L American
coffee named “Coffee Shop on the Go (B&EFTAIMNMEE
#8)” was launched on e-commerce platforms, mainly to
meet the drinking needs in office and home settings and
to target the “sugar-free black coffee (ZEXEZMI)” niche
market. In December 2024, a “Coffee Plaza (MI5FE
#)” TP-packaged product was developed for the snack
channels, catering the trend of diversified consumption
and the coffee demand in lower-tier markets.

Looking forward to 2025, the coffee business will continue to
implement its existing business strategies, focus on the “A-Ha (3
15)” brand, and achieve growth breakthroughs through in-depth
cultivation in its strongholds. Meanwhile, it will actively incubate and
cultivate innovative products to meet the needs of different niche
consumer groups and promote the healthy development of product
mix.

Bottled Water

The water business of the Group focused on the operation of
“ALKAQUA (Z%%)” natural mineral water. “ALKAQUA (Z35)” is
dedicated to the in-depth operation in the Shanghai market and
has established a deep emotional connection with core groups
such as urban elites, sophisticated mothers, student, families and
urban couples. Through its simple and transparent bottle design,
high-quality water source and minimalist blue label, it conveys the
life concept of “simplicity and nature (%3~ B2A)”. In terms of
communication, “ALKAQUA (E#5)”" enhanced its interaction with
consumers and increased brand awareness and reputation through
offline advertising placements in subways and on podcasts online. By
conveying the brand concept of “ALKAQUA, Linked by Origin (B35
BER » RUR4AS4%) ", it connects the high-quality water source with the
emotion of consumers, further deepens the brand connotation and
improves market recognition. Through sustained breakthroughs in
the fierce market competition, we are positioned to become a brand
favored by more consumers.
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Looking forward to 2025, “ALKAQUA (E5)" wil still focus on
the Shanghai market, concentrate on long-term brand building,
expand its target consumers, combine the emotional connection
between the high-quality water source and consumers, and further
deepen the brand connotation to enhance market recognition. In the
future, efforts will be made to further enhance its leading position in
the Shanghai mineral water market, create high-end brand water,
and strive to achieve sustained breakthroughs in the fierce market
competition to become a brand favored by more consumers.

E-commerce

The Group’s online business is committed to enriching customers’
purchasing channels and creating a convenient, safe and efficient
business model that continuously brings more convenience to
consumers. While maintaining the online e-commerce business
foundation, we have strategically deployed our resources into the
field of universal interest-based e-commerce, which is represented by
platforms like Douyin Shop (& &) , Kuaishou (£3F), Pinduoduo
(£ 2) and Wechat Channels (IM{Zt3485%) . We aim to advance
the process of product promotion via short video and live streaming
and have also set up five themed live streaming rooms to meet the
emerging demand of most users for “cost-effectiveness (4E&LL) ”.
We are committed to providing more emotional value while creating
new promotional platforms for various brands within the Group.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

Targeting at developing mass products, the Group’s business
research institute kept pursuing product innovation and optimisation
to meet customer needs, thereby promoting industrial development,
creating social values and achieving sustainable development.

In order to ensure the effective implementation of business strategy,
the Company optimised the management of its research and
development (the “R&D”) projects in 2024, and strengthened
the project approval management requirements for product R&D
projects through determining whether or not to approval a project
according to the Company’s business strategy, so as to concentrate
the investment of R&D resources and reduce unnecessary R&D
activities. With a focus on two major products, namely “lce Tea (7K
41%%)” and “Stewed Beef Flavoured Noodles (AL EE4-PUEHE) ", the
Company optimised the R&D organisations of beverages and food
in a targeted way to develop flatter organisations, and strengthened
the commercialisation of project achievements and the cultivation
of talent team, to achieve a better value-for-money services
corresponding to business, motivate innovation, and assist the
Company to realise its operation targets.
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In 2024, the Company continued to innovate and develop new
products to satisfy the diverse needs of consumers. Beverages and
food business were developing in a healthier and more lifestyle-
oriented direction. In terms of the beverages business, the Company
has launched sugar-free tea “Uni Green Tea Spring Breeze Green Tea
(M — 1325 F AR SS) 7, grapefruit flavour of isotonic electrolyte drink
“Haizhiyan (82 5)", “LA RIVE GAUCHE DE LA SEINE (£=)”
refrigerated milk tea and “Uni Assam (4% —PBa &) " sugar-free milk
tea this year. In terms of the food business, the Company expanded
into the non-fried products, launching the non-fried noodle “Danggui
Huadiao Chicken Noodle (&8 7/EREZESA) " under the “Da Bu Tie
(R#EMh) " brand. At the same time, the business research institute
responded quickly to the demands of customers for customized
products to conduct the R&D of customized products. In order to
continue to develop advantageous core technologies, the Company
regarded the establishment of core patented technologies as one of
its regular and important tasks. In 2024, the Company won awards
for five technologies in assessment of core technology achievements.
As of December 2024, the Company has been granted 179
authorized patents, with 50 patents in application. The Company will
continue to build its competitive barriers.

The Group focused on the existing mass taste products with
revenues of over RMB1 billion while expanding into competitive
product categories. The Group continued to improve its product
strength with the spirit of “attaining knowledge by investigation
of things (B#IEED) " to bring better consumption experience to
consumers and maintain its competitiveness in the market.

“Uni Assam Milk Tea (4&—FRIEEMEYHZS)” maintained its product
strength by having stricter traceability control of core raw materials
and optimising and upgrading the manufacturing process, with
its “3Ys” (stability, continuity and consistency) being enhanced
continuously, contributing to a continuous increment in sales in
lower-tier markets and a constant expansion in the catering market.
To maintain a sound development trend, description on zero trans
fatty acids was added to the nutrition facts of all series of the
product, thereby not only delivering good taste but also ensuring
product safety. As a leader of milk tea, the Company kept improving
its product layout with an innovative and enterprising spirit. The
Company launched the first ready-to-drink sugar-free milk tea in
China to enrich the brand and provide consumers with a brand new
experience.

“Uni lce Tea (Bt—K4L%5)” continued to enhance its product
strength with enhancements in tea flavour, tea aroma and lemon
taste. Upon the enhancements, the product came with a richer and
more pleasant tea flavour and a fresher lemon scent, making it ever
charming.
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“Uni Green Tea (Bt —#%%%)” focused on and kept improving tea
raw materials and production techniques, continuously improved its
product strength and effectively enhanced the consistency of quality
through multi-source reserves of raw materials, on-site guiding at
factories, and simplified on-site production operation.

“Uni Stewed Beef Flavoured Noodles (#t—41 &4 P9%H) " continued
to enhance its product strength with seasoning optimisation.
The condensed fresh flavour oil and stir-fried sauce stimulate the
fragrance and taste of stewed beef. The vacuum freeze-drying (FD)
meatball technology together with ingredients matching with the
stewed beef flavoured noodles create a tasty soup and rich meat
flavour with delicate and juicy taste, offering a keenly-priced product
to consumers.

“Uni Green Tea Spring Breeze Green Tea (Mi—4x 3 HFHAEZ)”
strictly selected high mountain green tea with micro-fermentation
technology and special jasmine tea. It adopts exclusive green tea
with micro-fermentation technology and a patented rapid cooling
technology, which is not only energy-saving and environmental-
friendly but can also achieve enhancements in tea aroma and
extraction efficiency. The product is healthier as it is sugar-free, and
the application of core technology of green tea micro-fermentation
makes it more fragrant and environmental-friendly.

“Haizhiyan (82 &) " isotonic electrolyte drink launched its grapefruit
flavour designed in isotonic formulation in April 2024, which received
positive feedback from customers while the taste and the concept of
the product were gradually recognised by consumers.

“Danggui Huadiao Chicken Noodle (& 877t mE %t
%H)” under the “Da Bu Tie CK##ME)” brand is a
non-fried product introduced by the Company,
which utilises non-fried straight noodle technology
to replicate the texture of freshly boiled noodle.
Through a process of steaming and drying, the
noodles are shaped into a straight form, allowing
for quick rehydration. The texture and flavour of
the rehydrated noodles closely resemble those of
freshly boiled noodles. 4 patents have been applied,
covering formulation, processes and equipment.
The noodles were simmered with various Chinese
herbs and chicken soup, adopting key process such
as constant temperature chopping, low temperature
pulping and two-stage freeze-drying technology.
The Company also obtained the utility model patent
of “Cooking equipment with auto-dispensing function

(BB B8N ERRB) "
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“CITY BAKER” oat cookies were launched in March 2024, crafted
with Australian oatmeal, New Zealand butter, American cranberries
and European 70% pure dark chocolate, with no artificial flavours,
artificial colours or preservatives, but rich in dietary fiber. Only high-
quality Australian oatmeal is used in “CITY BAKER”, and the Nutrient
Reference Value (NRV) for dietary fiber in every 100g of “CITY
BAKER” oat cookies exceeds 36%.

“LA RIVE GAUCHE DE LA SEINE (£/%)" frozen milk tea was
released in March 2024, to cater consumers demands for clean
and hygiene food and taste of fresh, rich and non-greasy, bringing a
high quality product experience to the middle class. With simply four
ingredients, namely water, pure milk, condensed milk and black tea,
the taste is light and sweet. Responding to consumers’ demand for
sugar reduction and control, no additional sugar is added, striking a
balance between deliciousness and health.

INSISTING ON FOOD SAFETY

We uphold the philosophy of “Three Goods and One Fairness (=
PH—/A3E)”, i.e. Good Quality, Good Credit, Good Service and Fair
Price (B~ E BT~ R BELQE), and with the mission
of producing products that consumers will “be comfortable and
happy to eat (1Z18Z. 0~ 1248F810) ", we offer safe, healthy and
delicious food to consumers. We have set up the Food Safety
and Quality Committee with our General Manager as its Director.
The Committee serves as the organisation with supreme power
to design and optimise the food safety and quality assurance
system. The members of the Food Safety and Quality Committee
cover all relevant departments including the business research
institute, procurement resources management office, the production
management group, food safety and management office, etc. The
Committee holds meetings periodically to discuss food safety and
quality assurance management issues. Besides, we have set up
the Food Safety and Management Office as the food safety and
quality assurance management department to establish a food
safety and quality assurance system, implement and put in place
policies, enhance food safety risk assessment, provide warning and
monitoring, etc.

We have established three lines of defence for food safety, namely,
qualification review, field assessment, and food safety testing. By
managing suppliers’ food safety from multiple perspectives, we have
effectively controlled the food safety risk brought by suppliers and
ensured food safety of suppliers.
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We adhere to three controls to ensure quality and prevent abnormity
in quality: quality control on product development and design,
quality control on production process, and quality control on finished
products. The Group strictly abides by relevant laws and regulations
such as the Food Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China.
Besides, the food safety of all products are strictly monitored to
ensure they comply with the relevant laws and regulations and are

==

“comfortable and happy to eat ((Z18Z 0~ 1213 BE.L) "

The Group’s Food Safety and Management Office has set up a
Food Safety Testing Centre to provide strong support for food safety
risk control. Since 2005, the Centre has passed the annual China
National Accreditation Service for Conformity Assessment (CNAS
accreditation). As of 2024, 173 projects of the Group have been
approved. Meanwhile, the Group has a number of national patents
for utility models and more than 700 perennial independent testing
projects. The scope of assessment on the Group’s food safety
projects covers drinks, food, water, additives, grain and oil, and
packaging materials.

The Group’s plants have established a complete food safety
management system according to ISO 22000, FSSC 22000
and Hazard Analysis Critical Control Point (HACCP). As of 2024,
25 subsidiaries of the Group were accredited with the ISO
22000 International Standard Food Safety Management System
Certification, one with the FSSC 22000 certification, and five with the
HACCP certification.

PRODUCTION STRATEGIES

The Group spared no effort in its operation, and research and
development and innovation of products, aiming to meet different
customer needs. In order to strike a balance between the supply
chain risk and the transportation cost, and to achieve synergistic
effects in production efficiency and operational support, the
Group did not solely rely on its own production resources, but
also outsourced its production to other professional beverages
manufacturers (including external independent third parties and
related-party companies). A strategic alliance was formed under
long-term co-operation with the external manufacturers, enabling
the Group to outsource production to adjust production capacity
in addition to the basic production capacity, providing the Group
with production flexibility. Thus, the Group was able to fully utilise its
resources on core operation and optimise its efficiency.
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FINANCIAL RESULTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (the “Year”), the Group
recorded revenue of RMB30,331.5 million, representing an increase
of 6.1% from RMB28,591.3 million for 2023. Revenue from the
food business amounted to RMB9,998.2 million, representing an
increase of 1.5% as compared with the corresponding period of last
year, which accounted for 33.0% of the Group’s total revenue, and
revenue from the beverages business amounted to RMB19,240.6
million, representing an increase of 8.2% as compared with the
corresponding period of last year, which accounted for 63.4% of
the Group’s total revenue. During the Year, gross profit of the Group
increased from RMB8,711.7 million for the corresponding period of
last year to RMB9,869.7 million, representing an increase of 13.3%,
while the gross profit margin increased by 2.0 percentage points
from 30.5% for the corresponding period of last year to 32.5%,
which was mainly due to the improvement of productivity and the
optimisation of product mix.

During the Year, the selling and marketing expenses increased by
approximately RMB460.5 million to RMB6,738.4 million (2023:
RMB6,277.9 million) as compared with the corresponding period of
last year. The increase in selling and marketing expenses was mainly
due to the increase in the scale of brand building, the transportation
costs and the depreciation of refrigerators and freezers in sales
channels. During the Year, administrative expenses amounted to
RMB1,107.5 million (2023: RMB1,065.9 million), representing an
increase of approximately RMB41.6 million as compared with the
corresponding period of last year, which was mainly due to the
increase in employee social security expenses and performance
bonus.

The operating profit was RMB2,243.9 million for the Year (2023:
RMB1,996.5 million), representing an increase of 12.4% as
compared to the corresponding period of last year, which was
mainly attributable to the increase of sales and the increase of gross
profit due to the optimisation of product mix. The share of profits of
investments accounted for using the equity method amounted to
RMB59.4 million (2023: RMB49.9 million) during the Year, which was
mainly due to the increase in income from investments in associates
and joint ventures. Profit attributable to equity holders of the
Company for the Year was RMB1,849.1 million (2023: RMB1,667.1
million), representing an increase of 10.9% as compared to the
corresponding period of last year. Earnings per share during the Year
were RMB42.81 cents (2023: RMB38.60 cents).
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

Cash and Borrowings

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had cash at bank and on hand
of RMB8,577.2 million (31 December 2023: RMB7,565.5 million),
among which 99.89% was denominated in Renminbi, 0.06% was
denominated in New Taiwan dollar, 0.08% was denominated in Hong
Kong dollar, and 0.02% was denominated in United States dollar.
The Group mainly financed its operation and capital expenditures
with internally generated cash flow. As at 31 December 2024, the
Group’s total financial liabilities amounted to RMB290.0 million (31
December 2023: RMB1,079.4 million), representing a decrease of
73.1% as compared to the corresponding period of last year, which
was mainly attributable to the decrease in short-term borrowings.
The short-term working capital was relatively sufficient to repay bank
borrowings. 100% of borrowings under the Group’s total financial
liabilities was denominated in Renminbi. As at 31 December 2024,
all of the Group’s financial liabilities bore floating interest rates. As
at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any secured bank
borrowing (31 December 2023: Nil).

Financing

The Group aims to maintain an appropriate capital structure. The
gearing ratios of the Group as at 31 December 2024 and 31
December 2023 were as follows:

2024 2023

ARETT AREFT

RMB’000 RMB’000

WwES (BEHEE® Total borrowings (including lease liabilities) 289,996 1,079,435
B RTT R FBEIRE (Mfi5E1)  Less: cash at bank and on hand (Note 1) (8,577,196) (7,565,454)
&35 Net cash (8,287,200) (6,486,019)
Y g Total equity 13,399,110 13,382,377
EARBBIEE (fi:2) Gearing ratio (Note 2) (61.85%) (48.47%)

i—1 ¥ hEEAR B RA S Uni-President China Holdings Ltd.
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Note 1:  As at 31 December 2024, cash at bank and on hand excluded
the Group’s purchase of financial products issued by four major
domestic banks and other commercial banks. As at 31 December
2024, the Group had financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss of RMB1,676.7 million (31 December 2023: RMB1,618.7
million).

Note 2:  The gearing ratio is computed as net cash divided by total equity.

The Group reviewed its gearing ratio on a regular basis. According to
the capital plan for the future, the Group tried to maximize revenue
for its shareholders with capital risk awareness in mind. Capital
structure was constantly adjusted according to changes in the
operational environment.

Cash Flow and Capital Expenditure

As at 31 December 2024, the Group recorded a year-on-year
net decrease in cash and cash equivalents of RMB322.0 million,
comprising net cash inflow from operating activities of RMB4,373.3
million, net cash outflow from investing activities of RMB1,997.8
million and net cash outflow from financing activities of RMB2,697.5
million. The Group’s capital expenditure (including lease right-of-
use assets) for the Year was RMB728.7 million (31 December 2023:
RMB1,078.8 million), which was mainly investments in marketing
assets for sales channels, technological improvement of production
equipment and environmental protection equipment.

Analysis of Operating Efficiency

The Group stringently controls and manages the levels of trade
receivables, trade payables and inventories. Sales to most customers
are made on a delivery on payment basis. Trade receivables are
generated from credit sales to credit customers from modern
channels and e-commerce business (including but not limited to
food and groceries stores, stalls and department stores) with credit
terms normally ranging from 60 to 90 days. During the Year, net trade
receivables increased by RMB41.8 million to RMB627.6 million (31
December 2023: RMB585.8 million).
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The Group’s inventories mainly comprised raw materials, packaging
materials, finished goods and low-value consumables. As at 31
December 2024, the inventories balance increased by RMB361.2
million to RMB2,487.1 million (31 December 2023: RMB2,125.9
million) as compared to the beginning of the Year, which was
attributable to the product preparation for the Chinese New Year
in 2025. The inventory turnover days decreased by one day as
compared with that of 2023. The Group’s trade payables mainly
arise from credit purchases of raw materials and finished goods.
During the Year, trade payables increased by RMB160.9 million to
RMB2,283.5 million (31 December 2023: RMB2,122.6 million). The
increase in trade payables was mainly due to the purchase of raw
materials and finished goods as a result of the product preparation
for the Chinese New Year in advance. The following table sets
out the major turnover days for the past two years ended 31
December.

HE12H31HLEE
Year ended 31 December
2024 2023
FEWE S RRBERH Trade receivables turnover days 7 9
GFEREBXH Inventory turnover days 41 42
ENESRBEXH Trade payables turnover days 39 43

FEWE Z IR EERBE NI E F RN
FNRFEREFOTHERNEXER BF
LLB60K °

FERBRBERNFEREREFELEGRNT
HEFRUIHE A4S > B3R LL360K ©

BANEZERREABRBSZNENE SRR
FUREREFNFHERUBEENES B
FeLAZBOK ©

i—1 ¥ hEEAR B RA S Uni-President China Holdings Ltd.

Trade receivables turnover days were calculated based on the
average of trade receivables balances as at the beginning and the
end of the year divided by revenue multiplied by 360 days.

Inventory turnover days were calculated based on the average of
inventory balances as at the beginning and the end of the year
divided by cost of sales multiplied by 360 days.

Trade payables turnover days were calculated based on the average
of trade payables balances as at the beginning and the end of the
year divided by cost of sales multiplied by 360 days.
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The Group reckoned that receivables turnover days, inventory
turnover days and trade payables turnover days in the distribution
channel helped the Group in understanding the efficiency of inventory
liquidity and the sales and cash conversion cycle. Through reviewing
and improving the turnover days, the Group could further improve
its revenue, profit and the ability of on-going growth for the sake of
enhancing operational efficiency.

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

The Group adheres to the principle of financial prudence. It seeks
to control risk variables and moves forward prudently by moderately
adjusting its selling and marketing expenses according to market
conditions, and making appropriate capital expenditures to optimise
and expand the infrastructure and marketing assets for sales
channels. The Group’s finance department has formulated financial
risk management policies based on the policies and procedures
approved by the Board and guided by the executive Directors.
These policies are reviewed by the Group’s internal audit department
and internal control department regularly. The Group’s financial
policy aims at reducing impacts of interest rate and exchange rate
fluctuations on the Group’s overall financial position, as well as
minimising the Group’s financial risk exposure.

The Group’s finance department provides centralised financial risk
(including interest rate and foreign exchange risk) and cash flow
management, and cost-effective funding for the Group and its
members. During the Year, the Group has maintained an automated
reconciliation system, which significantly improved capital efficiency
and accounting treatment effectiveness.
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TREASURY POLICY

It was the Group’s treasury management policy not to engage in any
high-risk investment or speculative derivative products and not to
invest working capital in financial products with significant underlying
leverage or risks, including hedge funds or similar financial products.
The Group continued to adopt a conservative approach to financial
risk management with no significant bank borrowing during the Year.
Most of the Group’s receipts and payments were denominated in
Renminbi since a majority of its revenue was derived from operations
in the PRC. The Group may use foreign exchange forward contracts,
when appropriate, for risk aversion when it is exposed to foreign
exchange risk arising from assets or liabilities, such as cash and cash
equivalents and borrowings, which may be denominated in other
currencies.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not hold any significant
investments with a value of 5% or more of the Group’s total assets.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2024.

CHARGES ON GROUP ASSETS

The Group did not have any charge on group assets as at 31
December 2024.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

The Group had no material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures during the Year.

FUTURE PLAN FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
OR CAPITAL ASSETS

The Directors confirmed that as at the date of this report, there was
no plan for any material investment or to acquire capital assets other
than those in the Group’s ordinary business of manufacturing and
sale of beverages and instant noodles.
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HUMAN RESOURCES AND REMUNERATION
POLICY

As at 31 December 2024, the total number of employees of the
Group was 33,755. The Group adhered to the policies of focused
and streamlined operation, and organisational structure and staff
structure were improved on a continuous basis to build a stronger
and efficient enterprise. In terms of recruitment, the Group was
streamlining its administration and progressing towards meritocracy.
The Group insisted on building a stable and robust team through
mechanisms including comprehensive training and humane care.
Internal training, regular position transfer, external exchange
and part-time study and other measures enhanced our overall
performance and secured talents for key positions of the Group.
Meanwhile, priorities were given to internal promotion over external
recruitment, and performance appraisal and other measures were
implemented to keep the current management team ambitious
and strong. To achieve the Group’s annual goals, the Group had
performance bonuses and incentive schemes in place to commend
and encourage employees at all levels to make outstanding
contributions to the Group’s business. Performance bonuses were
distributed on the basis of the realized earnings and profits objectives
of individual business units and the Group as a whole, as well as the
performance appraisal of the respective employees.

The Group’s remuneration policy rewarded our employees and
directors with reference to their performance, qualifications,
demonstrated capabilities, market comparable information and the
performance of the Group. As part of the Group’s remuneration
policy, the Group entered into individual employment contracts with
each of its employees, which covered wages, social security benefits,
workplace safety and hygiene environment, confidentiality obligations
on trade secrets and termination conditions.

During the Year, total staff costs (including directors’ remuneration)

were RMB4,702.0 million (2023: RMB4,474.7 million). The Group
does not have any share option scheme or share award scheme.
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ESEHRS

Report of the Directors

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Uni-President
China Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”) is pleased to present its report
together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2024 (the “Year”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of the Group comprise the manufacturing and sales of
beverages and instant noodles in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”). The principal activities of its subsidiaries as of 31 December
2024 are set out in Note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the Year by business
segments is set out in Note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
income statement on page 96 of the annual report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of
RMB42.81 cents per share of the Company for the Year (the
“Proposed Final Dividend”), amounting to a total dividend of
approximately RMB1,849.1 million. The Proposed Final Dividend
shall be declared in RMB and paid in Hong Kong dollars. The actual
amount of dividend payable in Hong Kong dollars will be calculated
based on the average exchange rate of USD/CNY (HK) spot rate and
the average exchange rate of USD/HKD spot rate as published by
The Treasury Markets Association for the five business days in Hong
Kong immediately preceding the date of the annual general meeting
of the Company (the “Annual General Meeting”).

The Proposed Final Dividend, subject to the approval of shareholders
of the Company (the “Shareholders”) at the Annual General Meeting
to be held on or around Friday, 6 June 2025, will be paid on or
around Wednesday, 25 June 2025 to Shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company on Monday, 16
June 2025.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in Note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of the movements in the investment properties of the Group
during the Year are set out in Note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company
during the Year are set out in Note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the Year are set out in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on page 100 of the annual report and Note 27
to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, the Company’s distributable reserves
calculated under the Companies Law of the Cayman lIslands
comprise the share premium, contributed surplus, fair value reserves
and retained earnings totalling RMB8,035,359,000.

FIVE YEARS’ FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 4 of the annual
report.

BORROWINGS

Particulars of the borrowings of the Group are set out in Note 30 to
the consolidated financial statements.

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the Year
amounted to RMB7,146,600 (2023: RMB3,646,056).
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EFEHRS
Report of the Directors

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the Year and as at the date of
the annual report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lo Chih-Hsien (Chairman)
Mr. Liu Xinhua (President)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chen Kuo-Hui
Ms. Chien Chi-Lin
Mr. Su Tsung-Ming (retired on 31 May 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chen Johnny

Mr. Chen Sun-Te

Dr. Fan Ren-Da, Anthony
Mr. Lo Peter

The biographies of the Directors are set out on pages 63 to 67 of the
annual report.

The names of Directors who have served on the boards of
the subsidiaries of the Company during the Year and up to
the date of this report are available on the Company’s website
“www.uni-president.com.cn”.

In accordance with Article 130 of the articles of association of the
Company (the “Articles of Association”), each of Mr. Chen Johnny,
Dr. Fan Ren-Da, Anthony and Mr. Lo Peter, will retire by rotation at
the forthcoming Annual General Meeting. Each of Mr. Chen Johnny,
Dr. Fan Ren-Da, Anthony and Mr. Lo Peter being eligible, will offer
himself for re-election at the Annual General Meeting.
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There is no service contract entered into between each of Mr. Chen
Johnny, Dr. Fan Ren-Da, Anthony and Mr. Lo Peter and the
Company which is not determinable by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.

Particulars of Directors seeking re-election at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting are set out in the related circular to the shareholders
of the Company.

The Company received from each independent non-executive
Director an annual confirmation of his independence with reference
to the guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and
the Company considered all of them to be independent. Please
refer to the details disclosed in the section headed “Independent
Non-executive Directors” in the Corporate Governance Report of this
annual report.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS IN THE SECURITIES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ”) as recorded in the
register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO, or as
otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) were
as follows:
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A REQLBRMGBZEFE (A) Long Position in the Shares of the Company
#2024
12H31H

AT EEATZ

EENY 515 BiER%E HRaatt

Percentage of

shareholding

Number of in the Company

ordinary as at

shares of the 31 December

Name of Director Capacity Company 2024

BFrEE BH#EAA 310,000 0.007%

Liu Xinhua Beneficial owner
(B) MHEHEBRNDZEFE (B) Long positions in the shares of the associated
corporation

1420244

12831H

G R e R EEZ

MR B A B L 18 S 515 EER#E RS

Percentage of

Number of shareholding in

ordinary  the associated

shares of the  corporation as

Name of associated at 31 December

Name of associated corporation Director Capacity corporation 2024

H—TEERNERAT BEL BEmBEAA 4,059,095 0.08%
Uni-President Enterprises Corporation® Lo Chih-Hsien Beneficial owner

ACiB 2 e 93,402,447 1.64%

b EXXFrigEEE SN ) 1220245F 128310 > #f
BEANBDEBSATETHRABREZEZH
BAREKRBANRERELIE (EERESK
HAERAISEXVER) Z IR~ HBRERMD HESH
BEAAERNARDRESMAEEASE
32FIREFBEZEBELMA - WREZEFE
BRTHNEARNBD MM BRI KA
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Interest of spouse

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the
Directors nor the chief executive of the Company and their respective
associates had any interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which were
recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

*

For identification purpose only
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

None of the Company, any of its holding companies, subsidiaries and
fellow subsidiaries was a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors or their respective associates (as defined under the Listing
Rules) to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate at the end
of the Year or at any time during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS AND
SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the Directors has entered into a service contract or letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years and which
may be renewed upon expiry of their term.

Except for the service contracts or letters of appointment entered
into with the Company and the agreements as disclosed under
the paragraph headed “Continuing Connected Transactions” of
this Report of the Directors, during the Year, no other contracts of
significance, transaction and arrangement to which the Company,
any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was
a party and in which a Director or an entity connected with a Director
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the Year or at any time during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

As at the date of the annual report, none of the Directors and
directors of the Company’s subsidiaries, or their respective
associates had interests in businesses, other than being a Director
and/or a director of its subsidiaries and their respective associates,
which competes or is likely to compete either directly or indirectly,
with the businesses of the Company and its subsidiaries as required
to be disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ OR OTHERS’
INTERESTS IN THE SECURITIES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2024, so far as are known to any directors or
chief executive of the Company, the following parties (other than
directors or chief executive of the Company) had interests in the
shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be
kept pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.
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Long positions in the shares of the Company

1420245

12831H

EERFEZ

513 FABERREE BRESL
Percentage of

shareholding in

the Company

Number of as at

ordinary shares of 31 December

Capacity the Company 2024
(BE49)

(Approximate)

m—EROBERLAE (1)
Uni-President Enterprises Corporation* (Note 1)

Cayman President Holdings Ltd. (H{zE1) (Note 1)

M5k -

MNZS/AT)3,150,436,983 1D (TR 14 1)
Erh>3,044,508,0008% f& 5 BHCayman
President Holdings Ltd. (F'Cayman
President] » — (R MHARAE (MR
—hrEDN)DZERZENBRE) FH>
122,528,983 f& A HIPresident (BVI)
International Investment Holdings Ltd.
(M'President (BVl)) > H#E— =M EFAE
69.37% @) 1A > 83,400,000 B 14 H
SRBVIREARAS (MFl&BV)I > A
F—rEMEEZEER) KA AL BRI
BARBAERA M—EERERDIN
Cayman President~ President (BVI)& Kk
BVNEBZMBRNOFHEREG

R EMIEEN MERAESAEARAAETE
TEAERH > i2024FE 128310 fiEHE
HMEERRIHIALT (RRABDEERXTETH
ANEBRIN RAERBRSNEBROTHS
RIREE S R EROIFEIHRERATE
BB MP LN R KA o

SR E S 3,150,436,983(L) 72.93%
Interest of controlled
corporations

Em#EBE A 3,044,508,000(L) 70.49%
Beneficial owner

Note:

1. Out of 3,150,436,983 shares of the Company (the “Shares”),
3,044,508,000 Shares were held by Cayman President Holdings Ltd.
(“Cayman President”), which is a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of
Uni-President Enterprises Corporation* (‘UPE”), 22,528,983 Shares
were held by President (BVI) International Investment Holdings Ltd.
(“President (BVI)"), which is indirectly-owned as to 69.37% by UPE
and 83,400,000 Shares were held by Kai Yu (BVI) Investment Co., Ltd.
("Kai Yu (BVI)"), which is indirectly wholly-owned by UPE. Accordingly,
UPE was deemed to be interested in all the Shares respectively held
by Cayman President, President (BVI) and Kai Yu (BVI) by virtue of the
SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, so far as were
known to any Directors or chief executive of the Company, no other
substantial shareholder or person (other than Directors or chief
executive of the Company) had an interest or short position in the
Shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.

For identification purpose only
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the Year.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions” of this Report of the Directors, (i) there was no
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance subsisting during
or at the end of the Year in which a Director or an entity connected
with a Director is or was materially interested, either directly or
indirectly; (i) no other contract of significance was entered into by,
and/or subsisted between the Company or any of its subsidiaries
with its controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries during the
Year; and (jii) there is no other contract of significance in relation
to provision of services by the controlling shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries to the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance coverage for
Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its
Directors and senior management arising out of corporate activities
and/or actions. During the Year and as at the date of this annual
report, permitted indemnity provision (as defined in section 9 of the
Companies (Directors’ Report) Regulation (Chapter 622D of the
Laws of Hong Kong)) was and is being in force for the benefit of the
Directors.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

UPE is the holding company of Cayman President which in turn is
a substantial shareholder of the Company. As Cayman President is
a connected person of the Company and UPE is an associate of
Cayman President, UPE is also a connected person of the Company
under the Listing Rules. As at the date of this report, Mr. Lo Chih-
Hsien, who is () a Director and (i) the chairman of the board of
directors and group chief strategy officer of UPE, held an insignificant
shareholding interest of approximately 1.72% in UPE.
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Details of the continuing connected transactions entered into by,
and/or subsisted between, the Group and UPE, its subsidiaries and
associates (excluding the Group) (for the purpose of this Report of
the Directors, hereinafter referred to as “UPE Group”) during the Year
and which are not being exempted under Rule 14A.73 of the Listing
Rules are set out below:

() 2023 Framework Sales Agreement

On 8 March 2023, the Company entered into a framework
sales agreement (the “2023 Framework Sales Agreement”)
with UPE, pursuant to which the Company agreed to sell
and procure members of the Group to agree to sell, on a
non-exclusive basis, to UPE Group, certain beverages, instant
noodles, bakery products and such other products, as may
be agreed in writing by the Group and UPE Group and/or
their respective members from time to time, manufactured
under the Group’s brands for a fixed term of three years from
1 January 2024 to 31 December 2026 (both days inclusive).
The pricing basis and the other terms of the sales transactions
contemplated under the 2023 Framework Sales Agreement
shall be subject to the terms and conditions contained
therein and determined in the ordinary course of business on
normal commercial terms, negotiated on arm’s length basis
between the parties thereto and determined in accordance
with the internal control procedures of the Group, which,
in principle, shall be no less favourable to the Group than
those offered to independent third parties by the Group in
comparable transactions of the same period. Further details of
the 2023 Framework Sales Agreement were disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 8 March 2023.
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(ii)

2023 Framework Purchase Agreement

On 8 March 2023, the Company entered into a framework
purchase agreement (“2023 Framework Purchase Agreement”)
with UPE, pursuant to which the Company agreed to purchase
and procure members of the Group to agree to purchase, on
a non-exclusive basis, from UPE Group certain raw materials,
packaging materials, finished goods and such other goods
as may be agreed in writing by the Group and UPE Group
and/or their respective members from time to time for a fixed
term of three years from 1 January 2024 to 31 December
2026 (both days inclusive). The pricing basis and the other
terms of the purchase transactions contemplated under the
2023 Framework Purchase Agreement shall be subject to
the terms and conditions contained therein and determined
in the ordinary course of business on normal commercial
terms, negotiated on arm’s length basis between the parties
thereto and determined in accordance with the internal control
procedures of the Group, which, in principle, shall be no less
favourable to the Group than those offered to the Group by
independent third parties in comparable transactions of the
same period. Further details of the 2023 Framework Purchase
Agreement were disclosed in the announcements of the
Company dated 8 March 2023 and 2 June 2023 and the
Circular of the Company dated 10 May 2023.
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(iii) 2024 Framework Logistics Service Agreement

On 6 March 2024, the Company entered into a framework
logistics service agreement (the “2024 Framework Logistics
Service Agreement”) with UPE, pursuant to which UPE agreed
to provide and procure members of UPE Group to agree to
provide, on a non-exclusive basis, to the Group transportation
and logistics services (including, but not limited to, storage
services, design of, and the provision of technical support
service to, logistics systems) and such other logistics-related
ancillary and support services as may be agreed in writing by
the Group and UPE Group and/or their respective members
from time to time for a fixed term from 6 March 2024 to 31
December 2026 (both days inclusive). The pricing basis and
the other terms of the transactions contemplated under the
2024 Framework Logistics Service Agreement shall be subject
to the terms and conditions contained therein and determined
in the ordinary course of business on normal commercial
terms, negotiated on arm’s length basis between the parties
thereto and determined in accordance with the internal control
procedures of the Group, which, in principle, shall be no
less favourable to the Group than those offered by suppliers
who are third party independent of the Group in comparable
transactions of the same period. Further details of the 2024
Framework Logistics Service Agreement were disclosed in the
announcements of the Company dated 6 March 2024 and 21
March 2024.
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(iv) 2023 Framework Technical Support Service

Agreement

On 8 March 2023, the Company entered into a framework
technical support service agreement (the “2023 Framework
Technical Support Service Agreement”) with UPE, pursuant to
which the Company agreed to provide and procure members
of the Group to agree to provide, on a non-exclusive basis,
to UPE Group technical support and management services
(including but not limited to the human resources management
services) and such other technical support services as may
be agreed in writing by the Group and UPE Group from time
to time for a fixed term of three years from 1 January 2024
to 31 December 2026 (both days inclusive). The pricing basis
and the other terms of the transactions contemplated under
the 2023 Framework Technical Support Service Agreement
shall be subject to the terms and conditions contained therein
and determined in the ordinary course of business on normal
commercial terms, negotiated on arm’s length basis and
determined in accordance with the internal control procedures
of the Group, which, in principle, shall be no less favourable
to the Group than those offered to independent third parties
by the Group in comparable transactions of the same period.
Further details of the 2023 Framework Technical Support
Service Agreement were disclosed in the announcement of the
Company dated 8 March 2023.
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The annual cap (the “Annual Cap”) as set by the Company (for
each of the 2023 Framework Sales Agreement, 2023 Framework
Purchase Agreement, 2024 Framework Logistics Service Agreement
and 2023 Framework Technical Support Service Agreement) and
the total actual transaction value in respect of each of the 2023
Framework Sales Agreement, the 2023 Framework Purchase
Agreement, the 2023 Framework Logistics Service Agreement
and the 2023 Framework Technical Support Service Agreement

(collectively, the “CCT Agreements”) for the Year are set out below:

#HE20245 #HE20245
128B31H 128318
LEFEER LEFEER
5 FEMERZHE BB FELR
Actual
Transaction
Amount Annual Cap
for the for the year
year ended 31 ended 31
Transaction CCT Agreements December 2024  December 2024
AREBHET) ANE#BEET)
(RMB million) (RMB million)
2023 FIERHE = 2023 Framework Sales Agreement
RIHEEE Total sales value 214.2 350.0
2023 F HER R R 2023 Framework Purchase Agreement
BIREEE Total purchase value 6,220.2 8,200.0
2024 F BRI AR5 thh ok 2024 Framework Logistics Service Agreement
B ZBEE Total transaction value 26.2 32.0
2023FER M T 1k 2023 Framework Technical Support Service
BR# 9 a% Agreement
BRI SEE Total transaction value 47.5 170.0
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When determining whether the above transactions have been
conducted in accordance with the pricing policies under the relevant
CCT Agreements, the management of the Company would obtain
sufficient market intelligence to ascertain the relevant prevailing
market rate, payment terms and practices, as well as the latest
market and independent third party information. For example, the
management would review quotations from at least two independent
suppliers or service providers and evaluate them from a commercial
perspective, so as to ensure that the products or services to be
procured from the UPE Group are of comparable prices for such
products or services being offered by the independent third parties
of the same period. Where there are no sufficient comparable
transactions available, the prices of such products or services would
be determined on arm’s length basis with reference to historical
prices and cost analysis. Likewise, the management would also
determine the prices of the products or services to be provided to
the UPE Group by reviewing market information to ensure that they
are of comparable prices for such products or services being offered
to independent third parties by the Group.

The internal audit team of the Company has reviewed the continuing
connected transactions based on the relevant documentations
and internal control procedures and have provided findings to the
independent non-executive Directors.

The independent non-executive Directors consider that the methods
and procedures established by the Company were sufficient
and effective to ensure that the transactions were conducted on
normal commercial terms and not prejudicial to the interests of the
Company and its minority shareholders, and that appropriate internal
control procedures were in place. In the opinion of the independent
non-executive Directors, the above transactions conducted pursuant
to the CCT Agreements were carried out in the ordinary and usual
course of business of the Group, on normal commercial terms and
were in accordance with the relevant CCT Agreements and the
pricing policies of the Company, and on terms that were fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Group and the shareholders of
the Company as a whole.
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The Company’s auditors were engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditors have issued their unqualified letter
containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions of the Group in accordance with Rule
14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

The auditors of the Company have confirmed that regarding the
continuing connected transactions of the Group, nothing has come
to their attention that causes them to believe that:

= the continuing connected transactions as disclosed above
have not been approved by the Board;

- for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by
the Group, such transactions were not, in all material respects,
in accordance with the pricing policies of the Group;

- the transactions were not entered into, in all material respects,
in accordance with the relevant agreements governing such
transactions; and

- the annual transaction amount of the continuing connected
transactions as disclosed above have exceeded the annual
cap as set by the Company or approved by the independent
Shareholders (as the case may be).

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Board confirms that the related party transactions with the
subsidiaries and/or associates of UPE during the Year as disclosed
in Note 33(a) to the consolidated financial statements fall under the
definition of “connected transactions” or “continuing connected
transactions” (as the case may be) in Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. The Directors confirm that the Company has, where
applicable, complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance
with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Save as aforesaid, the Board
confirms that the related party transactions conducted during the
Year as disclosed in Note 33(b) and Note 33(c) to the consolidated
financial statements do not fall under the definition of “connected
transaction” or “continuing connected transaction” (as the case may
be) in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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NON-COMPETITION CONFIRMATION

The Company has received a written confirmation from UPE
confirming that the UPE Group has not breached any of the terms of
the non-competition deed entered into between the Company and
UPE on 23 November 2007.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

During the Year, the aggregated sales attributable to the five largest
customers represented less than 30% of the Group’s total revenue.
In addition, The five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for
approximately 49.1% of the Group’s total purchases while the largest
supplier of the Group accounted for approximately 24.9% of the
Group’s total purchases.

As at the date of this annual report, Mr. Lo Chih-Hsien, who is (i) a
Director and (i) the chairman and group chief strategy officer of UPE,
a substantial shareholder of the Company (as defined in the SFO),
held an insignificant shareholding interest of approximately 1.72% in
UPE.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, their close
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) and any shareholders
(which to the best knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5%
of the Company’s issued shares (excluding treasury shares)) had any
interest in the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers during the
Year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

The Company has not entered into any equity-linked agreement (as
defined in section 6 of the Companies (Directors’ Report) Regulation
(Chapter 622D of the Laws of Hong Kong)) during the Year, nor was
there any such equity-linked agreement subsisted at the end of the
Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association, although there are no restrictions against such rights
under the laws of the Cayman Islands.

TAX RELIEF
The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the

shareholders of the Company by reason of their holding of the shares
of the Company.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SECURITIES

The Company and its subsidiaries did not purchase, sell or redeem
any of the listed securities (including sale of treasury shares) of the
Company during the Year.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules during
the Year and as at the date of the annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Board reviewed with management the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and
discussed auditing, internal control and financial reporting matters
including the review of the audited financial statements for the Year
and has recommended their adoption by the Board.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers who shall retire and, being eligible, shall
offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company.

There has been no change of auditors of the Company in any of the
preceding three financial years.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Below is a business review as required by Schedule 5 to the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong).
The discussion on a fair review of the Group’s business, financial
key performance indicators and performance and indication of future
development of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024
can be found in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report. Those
discussions form part of this Report of the Directors.
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Principal risks and uncertainties

There are a number of factors which may affect the results and
business operations of the Group, some of which are inherent to
beverages and instant noodles business and some are from external
sources. Major risks are summarized below.

(i)  Consumer preferences risk

The Group’s success depends on its ability to anticipate the
tastes and dietary habits of consumers and to offer products
that appeal to their preferences. The Company’s failure to
anticipate, identify or react to the changes in consumer
preferences could result in reduced demand for the Group’s
products, which would, in turn, lead to excessive inventory
levels and lower sales volume. The Group will continuously
introduce new products throughout the seasons and will further
shorten the product development cycle in order to improve
our portfolio of products to satisfy consumers’ changing
preferences.

(i)  Competition risk

The industries in which the Group operates in the PRC are
highly competitive. The Group’s ability to compete is, to a
significant extent, dependent on its ability to distinguish its
products from those of the Group’s competitors by providing
high quality products at reasonable prices that appeal to
consumers’ tastes and preferences. The Group’s competitors
have varying abilities to withstand changes in market
conditions. Some of the competitors, which have larger market
shares in the PRC with respect to beverages or instant noodles
products, have operated their respective businesses longer
than the Group has and have wider geographical coverage
for their products and/or stronger distribution networks in the
PRC, therefore they may have substantially greater financial
and other resources than the Group has and may have better
established in the market. Should the Group’s competitors
manage to seize a larger market share, the Group’s sales
volume may be adversely affected. To manage competition
risks, the Group will continue to conduct research and
development on new technology, introduce new products as
well as maintain a high level of quality of its existing products
for a better competitive edge.
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Economy and financial markets risk

The food and beverage industry in the PRC is impacted by
fluctuations in the global economy and financial market. The
slowdown of the worldwide economy, including that of the
PRC, caused a drop in consumer confidence and the level of
disposable income, which translated into lower demand for the
Group’s products, affecting the Group’s results of operations.
As a result, the global and local economies, including the PRC
economy, could continue to experience significant volatility.
Significant volatility or another downturn in the PRC and global
economy in the future could have an adverse effect on the
food and beverage industry in the PRC and the demand for
the Group’s products, which may in turn affect the Group’s
business, results of operations and financial condition. With a
relatively stable cash flow in the food and beverage industry,
the Group will continue to launch new products to boost
revenue, strictly control costs, and maintain a stable and
appropriate capital structure to reduce the impact from global
economic and financial market volatility.

Supply chain risk

All of the packaging materials used in the manufacture of the
Group’s food products and a large percentage of packaging
materials used in the production of its beverage products
are supplied by independent third parties or related party
suppliers. In the event these independent third parties or
related party suppliers fail to continue to supply or cannot
meet the Group’s demand for such packaging materials, or the
Group is unable to reach agreement upon reasonable terms
with them in relation to such continued supply, the Group
may be unable to find a comparable substitute supplier of
packaging materials, which in turn may lead to delay in the
delivery of its products to customers. Such delivery delay may
affect the Group’s results of operations. The Group strives to
maintain stable and cooperative relationships with suppliers in
respect of the procurement of essential raw materials and to
develop long-term strategic partnerships as well as productivity
strategies with three or more suppliers to reduce the risk on
being over dependent on a single supplier.
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Purchase Risk

Most of the raw materials and packaging used in our beverage
and food business are commodities that may experience price
volatility caused by external conditions such as commodity
markets fluctuations and currency fluctuations. Unexpected
commodity price increase which may result in increase in
costs and therefore causes an impact on operating income. To
manage purchase risks, the Group will continuously review the
deviation of the purchase unit price every month, monitor the
real-time market information and adjust the purchase strategy
from time to time.

Key Relationships

The Group’s success also relies on the support from its key
relationships with employees, suppliers, distributors and customers.

()

Employees

Human resources are one of the greatest assets of the Group.
In view of the huge market opportunities for beverages and
food products in the PRC, the Group has been recruiting
talented professionals from time to time. In respect of the new
low-level staff, the Group devotes considerable resources in
staff training and monitor their development and progress in a
timely manner in order to ensure the employees possess the
skills and capabilities to fulfill the relevant job requirements.
Meanwhile, the Group recognises the value of its key personnel
in maintaining team morale and competitiveness. To promote
career advancement and to attract qualified candidates to
join the Group, the Group fill in vacant positions from time to
time through internal promotion and/or external recruitment
with competitive remuneration. On the other hand, the Group
ensures the continuity of the senior management by grooming
management talents through continuous internal training,
appropriate job rotation as well as external on-the-job training.
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Suppliers

The Group has developed long-standing relationships with a
number of suppliers and taken great care to ensure that they
understand the Group’s commitment to quality and ethics. To
achieve the objective of fair trade and win-win situation with
suppliers, the Group carefully selects suppliers in conformity
with the food safety requirements of “three lines of defense” (i.e
qualification audits, on-site evaluation and food safety testing),
through inviting quotations from suppliers to be procured to the
extent that those products are of comparable nature, quality,
quantity and condition via open tender.

Distributors

The Group sells products to end customers through third-
party distributors. The Group works with distributors like
business partners with the same interest, specifically focusing
on attracting and retaining customers in order to drive sales
growth. The Group requires distributors and sub-distributors to
comply with its policies, including but not limited to retail selling
price, promotional activities and standardised application of the
Group’s system.

Customers

The Group is committed to offer tasty, differentiated and trendy
products to customers. The Group provides safe, healthy
and delicious beverages and instant noodles to consumers.
The Group also stays connected with customers to keep
abreast of the changing consumer preference through various
channels including the Company’s website, customer hotlines,
marketing promotion and social media. In the instant noodles
and beverages industry, the Group’s vast number of customers
are from modern channels (including but not limited to food
and groceries stores, stalls and department stores) which
are scattered and separated. Therefore, the Group does not
have major customers which account for a significant part of
the Company’s revenue. The credit terms and subsequent
settlement for customers are disclosed in the paragraph
headed “Analysis of operating efficiency” in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Group has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) on
31 December 2018 to enhance the transparency of the Company
and to facilitate its shareholders (the “Shareholders”) and investors to
make informed investment decisions relating to the Company.

According to the Dividend Policy, in addition to final dividends, the
Company may declare interim dividends or special dividends to the
Shareholders from time to time.

The recommendation of the payment of any dividend is subject
to the absolute discretion of the Board. In proposing any dividend
payout, the Board will take into account, inter alia, the Group’s
general financial position, current and future operations, working
capital requirements, liquidity position and any other factors it may
deem relevant from time to time. Any payment of the dividend by
the Company is also subject to the applicable laws of the Cayman
Islands and the Articles of Association.

Subject to the factors set out above, the final dividend to be declared
and paid by the Company shall be not less than 20% of the Group’s
audited consolidated profit attributable to the Shareholders in any
financial year.

The Dividend Policy will continue to be reviewed from time to time
and there is no assurance that any dividend will be paid in any
particular amount for any given period or that the Company is
obliged to declare any dividend at any time or from time to time.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group’s operations are carried out by the subsidiaries of the
Company in the PRC while the shares of the Company are listed on
the Stock Exchange. Our operations are regulated by the respective
laws and regulations of the PRC and Hong Kong. During the Year
and as at the date of this annual report, we have complied with the
relevant laws and regulations of the PRC and Hong Kong that have
significant impact on the Group. In particular, as a food and beverage
manufacturer, the Group’s operations are regulated by the applicable
food safety and environmental protection laws and regulations in
the PRC. During the year under review, the Group did not have any
material non-compliance with such laws and regulations.
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Environmental Policies and Performance

To support environmental protection, the Group initiates and strives
to minimize environmental impact by using water-saving facilities,
conserving electricity and encouraging recycle of office supplies and
other resources. The Group also requires factories of an original
equipment manufacturer (OEM) to operate in strict compliance with
the relevant environmental regulations and rules and possess all
necessary environmental-related permission and approval from the
PRC regulators. A further discussion of the environmental policies of
the Group is contained in the Corporate Social Responsibility Report
of the Company.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENT OF COMPANY’S
BUSINESS

The discussion of future development of the Company business
can be found in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report. Those
discussions form part of this Report of the Directors.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

No significant event has occurred after the reporting period.

On behalf of the Board
Uni-President China Holdings Ltd.
Lo Chih-Hsien
Chairman

5 March 2025
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Executive Directors

Mr. LO Chih-Hsien (% %), aged 68, is the chairman and
executive director of the Company. Mr. Lo is also a director and/
or the chairman of the board of directors of most of the wholly-
owned subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Lo joined the Group in
September 1998 and is responsible for the overall strategic planning
and management of the Group. He has over 39 years of experience
in the food and beverage industry and is currently the chairman of
President Chain Store Corporation (4 —B @&/ ER A=), Ton Yi
Industrial Corp. (#t—8 XD BERAE]), TTET Union Corporation
(K& FHRRIABPR/AT), Prince Housing & Development Corp. (K
F 2R BR/AT)and ScinoPharm Taiwan, Ltd. (& 7€t
DB BR/AT), all of which are listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange
Corporation. He is also the director of Tait Marketing & Distribution
Co., Ltd. (B2 F1TRIDBIRAE], a company listed on the Taipei
Exchange. He is also the chairman and group chief strategy officer
of Uni-President Enterprises Corporation (4 — 12 M EEA
&) (‘UPE”), a substantial shareholder of the Company (as defined
in the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong)), and the director of 102 companies associated with
UPE and its subsidiaries. Mr. Lo holds a master’s degree in business
administration from the University of California, Los Angeles, the
U.S.A. His spouse is Mrs. Shiow-Ling Kao, a director of UPE.

Mr. LIU Xinhua (237 2E), aged 54, is the president of the Group
and the general manager of Uni-President Enterprises (China)
Investments Ltd. (#i—1>% (FE) LEBRAQED) (“Uni-President
China Investments”). He has been appointed as an executive director
of the Company with effect from 25 March 2017. He has over 31
years of experience in strategic marketing in the food and beverage
industry. Mr. Liu joined the Group in July 1994 and since then has
been involved in sales and marketing for the Group. He acted as
the sales general manager for the Sichuan province of Chengdu
President Enterprises Food Co., Ltd.* (Bi##— %2 BREREA
7)) from November 2006 until August 2008. From August 2008
to September 2014, he acted as the general manager of the food
business department of Uni-President China Investments. From
October 2014 until June 2016, he acted as a general manager of
the marketing planning office and convener of strategic marketing
committee of Uni-President China Investments. Mr. Liu holds a
doctoral degree in business management from Southwest Jiaotong
University (75 R3 3248 A %) in the PRC.
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Non-Executive Directors

Ms. CHIEN Chi-Lin (82 E ), aged 62, is a non-executive director
of the Company. Ms. Chien joined the Group in March 2023. She has
over 25 years of experience in the financial field. She is currently a
director of Uni-President Enterprise Social Welfare Charity Foundation™®
FHr—1ENETEAZSHEESE). Ms. Chien was a director
of the private banking department of UBS AG, Hong Kong Branch
from April 2005 to December 2014. Ms. Chien was a deputy director
in S.G. Warburg Securities, Taiwan Branch office* (A EBFH A
&) from July 1990 to April 2005. Ms. Chien obtained a Bachelor’s
degree in Economics from National Taiwan University. Ms. Chien also
holds a certification of the trust professional assessment awarded by
the Trust Association of the Republic of China (FERBE(SstXm %
BETE).

Mr. CHEN Kuo-Hui (BRE]}&) , aged 56, is a non-executive director
of the Company. Mr. Chen joined the Group in May 2011 as the
chief financial officer of the Group and is also a director and/or
supervisor of certain of the Group’s wholly-owned subsidiaries in the
PRC. He is also the chief financial officer of UPE. Mr. Chen worked
in UPE from November 1997 to April 2011. He was appointed as an
executive director of the Company between August 2013 and June
2017. He is currently a director or a supervisor of 5 wholly-owned
subsidiaries/joint ventures of the Group. Mr. Chen is also a director
of 6 members of UPE Group and a director of President Securities
Corp. which is listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange Corporation. He
has over 28 years of experience in financial management. Mr. Chen
holds a master’s degree in business administration from University of
Strathclyde in the United Kingdom.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. CHEN Sun-Te (BREE{E), aged 70, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company in August
2007. Mr. Chen has over 42 years of experience in the banking and
financial industry. He is currently a director of Lion Travel Services
Co., Ltd., a director of Taiwan Cement Ltd., and an independent
director of USI Corporation. Prior to that, Mr. Chen was the
chairman of Taipei Fubon Commercial Bank during the period from
October 2016 to June 2023, an independent director of China
Telecom Corporation from March 2012 to July 2019, the president
of Fullerton Financial Holdings Pte. Ltd. (North Asia and Greater
China regions) between 2005 and 2012, the president of Chinatrust
Financial Holdings Co., Ltd. (now known as CTBC Financial Holding
Co., Ltd) in 2005, the chairman of Chinatrust Securities Co., Ltd.
between 2003 and 2005, the country officer and country head of
the corporate bank in Taiwan of Citigroup between 2001 and 2003
and the regional head of financial markets in Asia Pacific of Citigroup
between 1998 and 2001. He gained extensive financial management
experience from various positions held with finance related
companies and has acquired general knowledge about the food and
beverage industry through dealing with clients in such industry.

Mr. Chen holds his MBA degree from University of Missouri, the
U.S.A. and BA degree from National Chengchi University, Taiwan.
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Mr. CHEN Johnny (&%), aged 65, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company in December
2015. Mr. Chen Johnny joined the management of Zurich Insurance
Group (“Zurich”) in 2005. He worked in Zurich from March 2005
to February 2015 in multiple senior managerial roles in the Asia-
Pacific region. His last position in Zurich was the chairman of
the life and general insurance business in China. Prior to joining
Zurich, Mr. Chen Johnny was an executive member of the Greater-
China Management Board and the Operating Committee of
PricewaterhouseCoopers (‘PwC”), as well as a managing partner of
PwC’s Beijing office.

Mr. Chen Johnny is also an independent non-executive director
of each of Alibaba Pictures Group Limited (stock code: 1060) and
China Travel International Investment Hong Kong Limited (stock
code: 308), all of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Chen Johnny was the chairman of Convoy Global
Holdings Limited (“Convoy”) (stock code: 1019) (delisted) from
December 2017 to March 2021, during which, he was also the
executive director of Convoy from December 2017 to December
2020 and had been re-designated as an non-executive director of
Convoy from January 2021 to March 2021. From February 2009 to
May 2023, he was an independent non-executive director of Stella
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 1836), which is listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Chen Johnny holds a
Master of Science Degree in Accounting from the University of Rhode
Island and a Bachelor Degree of Accounting from the Johnson &
Wales University and is a U.S. certified public accountant.

4



62

) J

EEREE

Directors’ Profile

BIFENTES

SBIZEE L 645% 0 2007 FE8R EEZFEA K
NEVBIUFHTEE - RAREELREFRA
Bz TEREEREE - HRARARER
BRAEEBERAR (RBMRSE 1206) ~ EBE
EINTMREEEBRARAR BB 1 563) ~
REERZERBREAE BRMDMSE 1 1205)
BAERERBERAT BRHMASE : 1868) ~
RSB ERBRESERAT BRMHA
5% 1 081) RBBEEFRMDBERAT BRMKHA
5% 1 6837) ZBILFEMITEE SEBT BRI
ABRERBRAR BRIDMRR 1 1623) BIE
HITEE - BIELTH2011FESHERAKXE (B
) IERBERAT R 1 6868) (TK4E))
ZHEIIENITES  WH2021FE58 WA E
ABRBHNHITEE - BEHELI1994F128E
20215 AFRBEEBRAT RMKHMK
5% 1 229) 2 R20128E38 E2024F38 B A
BEEEERERRAT RMSE  1062) »
2008598 E2024F 2R i A EEEH
() BRAE FIBEARERZEREBREA
B]) (R USE : 2882) K Fr20085E83 £2024
FeE MM ATEMFAER FIRANmERE
BRBRAT) RRMHASE 1 1387) 2B IEH
TESE A LR AR ERMER LT
CHIEERNSIREEEIBAEEAR

EEBETE

BEELAE 695 M2007E11BELZITA
KRNBVBILIFFERITES - HAAKRT (FFE)
ERBR AT RPD1SE:538) 2 BILIEHIT
EFE KR2011E38 E20184F68 i A+
FREMIZIRB R AT (RMHASE - 1146) 2 EfF
RBTES ZE R RBRER M
AR BEAYBEEASIERRITIFEHEH
WMABAK R AR YIRS E 2 E KSR
B4 &

Y EHEE

#F—1 ¥ hE PG AR /2 E Uni-President China Holdings Ltd.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Dr. FAN Ren-Da, Anthony (GB{Z3&), aged 64, was appointed
as an independent non-executive director of the Company in
August 2007. Mr. Fan is the chairman and managing director of
Asialink Capital Limited and also an independent non-executive
director of Technovator International Limited (stock code: 1206),
Shanghai Industrial Urban Development Group Limited (stock
code: 563), CITIC Resources Holdings Limited (stock code: 1205),
Neo-Neon Holdings Limited (stock code: 1868), Semiconductor
Manufacturing International Corporation (stock code: 981) and
Haitong Securities Co., Ltd.* (stock code: 6837). Dr. Fan is also
currently a non-executive director of Hilong Holding Limited (stock
code: 1623). Dr. Fan had been the independent non-executive
director of Tenfu (Cayman) Holdings Company Limited (stock code:
6868) (“Tenfu”) since August 2011 and was re-designated as an
executive director of Tenfu in May 2021. Dr. Fan was an independent
non-executive director of Raymond Industrial Limited (stock code:
229) from December 1994 to May 2021, China Development Bank
International Investment Limited (stock code: 1062) from March 2012
to March 2024, 3DG Holdings (International) Limited (formerly known
as Hong Kong Resources Holdings Company Limited (stock code:
2882) from September 2008 to February 2024 and China Dili Group
(formerly known as Renhe Commercial Holdings Company Limited)
(stock code: 1387) from August 2008 to August 2024. All of the said
companies are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
Dr. Fan holds a master’s degree in business administration from the
U.S.A. and a PhD degree in Economics.

Mr. LO Peter (B8EZ £), aged 69, was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company in November 2007. Mr. Lo is
also an independent non-executive director of Ajisen (China) Holdings
Limited (stock code: 538), and from March 2011 to June 2018,
he was the chairman and an executive director of China Outfitters
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1146), both of which are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Lo has over 31 years
of experience in the business field and holds a bachelor’s degree in
mathematical economics and econometrics from the London School
of Economics and Political Science, the United Kingdom.

* For identification purpose only
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Senior Management

Mr. LIU Xinhua (/%7 %), aged 54, was appointed as the president
of the Group since 1 July 2016 and an executive director of the
Company with effect from 25 March 2017. Mr. Liu's biographical
details are set out in the section headed “Directors’ Profile” of this
annual report.

Mr. LIU, Tzu-Chiang (2]F38), aged 55, has acted as the chief
financial officer of the Group since 1 July 2017. He also serves as
the deputy general manager and the chief financial officer of the
Group from 1 January 2024. Mr. Liu also acts as a supervisor of
certain of the Group’s wholly owned subsidiaries in the PRC. Mr.
Liu has over 31 years of experience in financial management. Mr.
Liu joined the Group in June 1998. He served as the manager and
supervisor of the finance department at Uni-President Enterprises
(Xinjiang) Food Co., Ltd. (Frs@s—tEBRERLE]), Nanchang
President Enterprises Co., Ltd. (B &4t — 1% HBPRA ), Shenyang
President Enterprises Co., Ltd. (BZ#— 2B RAF), Chengdu
President Enterprises Food Co., Ltd. (& —EBRBRA
&) and Zhengzhou President Enterprises Co., Ltd. (EB&E—1>
2B RAF) between June 1998 and September 2014, all being
the subsidiaries of the Group. From August 2007 to May 2012, he
was also the administrative director of the Group in the Northeast
region and Southwest region of the PRC. From October 2014 to
June 2017, he was the chief accountant of the Group. From July
1994 to April 1998, Mr. Liu had served in UPE Group. Mr. Liu holds
a bachelor degree in business administration from National Cheng
Kung University, Taiwan.

Mr. ZHAO Nianen (& 2&), aged 48, joined the Group in April
1999. He had acted as the head of marketing, the head of operation
and the head of dairy drink department of Kunshan President
Enterprises Food Co., Ltd. (BEWLWHAE—tEBRERLQE) from
March 2000 to October 2006, and has been appointed as the
general manager of the bottled water business of the Group since
October 2006. He has been a general manager of the combined
drinks business of the Group since October 2014. He has been a
general manager of the combined drinks business of the Group since
October 2014. He was a general manager of the marketing planning
office of the Group from August 2021. From 1 January 2024, he
serves as the deputy general manager of the Group and concurrently
as the general manager of the marketing planning office and the tea
business group. He has more than 26 years of experience in the food
and beverages industry and holds a bachelor’s degree in economics
from Shanghai Maritime University, the PRC.
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Mr. HUANG, Wei (E#f), aged 43, joined the Group in June
2004. From June 2006 to October 2009, he was responsible for
the planning and brand marketing of the food product business.
From 2010 to 2013, he served as the manager of the marketing
department at Beijing President Enterprises Food Co., Ltd. (3t
RFE—BBEBEMRAT)and Kunshan President Enterprises Food
Co., Ltd. (BEWWL—BRAERAE). From 2013 to 2014, he was
responsible for brand management of the Instant Food Department
of the Group. From 2014 to 2016, he was employed as the
general manager of the E-commerce Department of the Group
and concurrently served as the strategic development director of
the marketing strategy office. Since September 2017, he has been
the general manager of the business unit of the Life and Food
Business Department and the E-commerce Department of the
Group. He is currently the general manager of the Life and Food
Business Department. Mr. Huang holds a master degree in business
administration (MBA) from the School of Management, Fudan
University, the PRC.

Mr. YUE Bing (&), aged 57, joined the Group in April 1994.
He worked as the head of the research and quality assurance
department of Chengdu President Enterprises Food Co., Ltd.
from April 1994 to August 2005; as the manager of the logistics
department of Chengdu President Enterprises Food Co., Ltd. and
Kunshan President Enterprises Food Co., Ltd. from August 2005 to
September 2011; as the manager of the management department
of Chengdu President Enterprises Food Co., Ltd. from September
2011 to May 2015; as the manager of the commercial research
and development institute from May 2015 to November 2016, as
the director of the food institute of the commercial research and
development institute from November 2016 to September 2017, as
the general manager of the commercial research and development
institute from September 2017 to April 2024 and he has been the
general manager of the instant food business unit since April 2024.
He has over 30 years of experience in the food and beverage
industry. Mr. Yue holds a bachelor’s degree in engineering from
Shanghai Ocean University.
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Ms. CHEN Jui-Fen (BfI%%5), aged 53, joined Guangzhou
President Enterprises Corp. (BMN#A—FERA =), a subsidiary
of the Group, in February 2009 and was responsible for the
management of marketing functions of Guangzhou President
Enterprises Corp. (EM#—1E%AR/AE)and Wuhan President
Enterprises Food Co., Ltd. (RZ#HR—DXBRERAH),
subsidiaries of the Group, prior to October 2011. She was re-
designated as the deputy general manager of the head office of the
Group’s tea business in October 2011 She served as the general
manager of the tea business department in July 2013, and served as
the general manager of the ice and green tea business department
under the tea business group of the Group in September 2023.
She has many years of experience in the food and fast moving
consumer goods industries. Before joining the Group, she engaged
in marketing in various companies such as Wyeth Nutrition, Taiwan
Branch, Ting Hsin International Group (JEHTEIFREE) and YFY (Gk
ZE3) . In 2006, she started to work in the Mainland China when she
joined Wei Chuan Foods Corporation (k2 EmIERMDERA
&) of Ting Hsin International Group (JB¥EIFREE) and has since
accumulated rich work experience in the Mainland China. Ms. Chen
holds both master’s degree in nutrition and health sciences from
Taipei Medical University in Taiwan and EMBA (Shanghai) of Taiwan’s
National Chung Hsing University.

Mr. ZHAO Jinhui (B8 £ #8), aged 47, joined the Group in August
1998. From 2001 to 2010, he successively served as the sales,
planning supervisor and marketing manager of Kunshan President
Enterprises Food Co., Ltd. and Hefei President Enterprises Co., Ltd.,
and had been re-designated to the Marketing Planning Supervisor
of the Combined Drinks Business of the Group in October 2014.
He served as the general manager of the combined drinks business
department in August 2021, and was re-designated as the general
manager of the Assam business department under the tea business
group of the Group in September 2023. He has 26 years of work
experience in the food and beverage industry and holds a university
degree from Ludong University (formerly known as Yantai Teachers
College).
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Uni-President China Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries as the “Group”) is committed to ensure a high standard
of corporate governance practices and procedures and appreciates
that good corporate governance is crucial to enhance investors’
confidence in the Company. In the opinion of the board (the “Board”)
of directors (the “Directors”) of the Company, the Company has
complied with all code provisions of the corporate governance code
(the “Corporate Governance Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 to the
Rules (the “Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) then
in force during the year ended 31 December 2024 (the “Year”).

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

During the Year, the composition of the Board was as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lo Chih-Hsien (Chairman)
Mr. Liu Xinhua (President)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chen Kuo-Hui
Ms. Chien Chi-Lin
Mr. Su Tsung-Ming (retired on 31 May 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chen Johnny

Mr. Chen Sun-Te

Dr. Fan Ren-Da, Anthony
Mr. Lo Peter

As at the date of this annual report, there is no relationship (including
financial, business, family or other material relationship) exist amongst
the Directors. Biographical details of the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Directors’ Profile” in this Annual Report. In addition,
an updated list of Directors of the Company with their roles and
functions is available on our website and that of the Stock Exchange.

Appropriate directors’ and officers’ liabilities insurance were arranged
for the Directors and officers of the Company.

o Annual Report 2024



ERZEAEREE

EX (BEBIFATES NEBER=
F-RBEXEARTR BEELUABERRZE
REASAESTEMAEZMEETSE  RINE
ZEBRRA AT EERRAG LRZEA QT
REUEE-

BEARBDEBER REARFASERRE
FRg (RRBEAG) L =02 —&#F
B (RESFUIIF==2F8 AIRRELN
BRLR=ZD2Z2—2 A N8 BAREREI TS
UEF (BEFEEERZES E08=F
BERE—R-EFHERBEFRLER
(EERTX) REFEZTEHR (EER
™) EFER BE BEERERUKE
By h LM 7E °

EFREMRMUKREE

EFXFCEEREREEANT BEELERE
R REKRBBRAR FAERAREE
RABERRENER L UREEERER
WERR-EFTHA TRUEEZS S BIEZ
Z8g ((BZ%Z89)) RLEZE9 (R4
Z898) FWNEEE (FWNEET)) k&
B -BRAEREZEE (RE - BREERE
BE)) -BFZEEHEHBERE WEHM
BEFERSE-

i—1 ¥ hEEAR B RA S Uni-President China Holdings Ltd.

TtEERAHRS
Corporate Governance Report

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The term of office of the Directors (including independent
non-executive Directors) is three years. In accordance with the
Corporate Governance Code, any new Director appointed to fill a
casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall submit himself/
herself for re-election by shareholders of the Company at the first
general meeting of the Company after the appointment.

In accordance with the articles of association of the Company, at
each annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM”), one-third
of the Directors for the time being or, if their number is not three
or a multiple of three, the number nearest to, but not less than,
one-third, shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
The Directors’ remunerations are determined with reference to
the Director Nomination Policy (as defined below) and the Board
Diversity Policy (as defined below), the Directors’ qualifications,
duties, responsibilities and experiences, and the prevailing market
conditions.

Roles and Responsibilities of the Board

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company and oversees the Group’s businesses, investment and
strategic decisions, maintaining the effectiveness of the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems, and monitoring the
performance of the Group. There are currently four committees
established under the Board, being the audit committee (the
“Audit Committee”), the nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”), the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”) and the investment, strategy and development
committee (the “Investment, Strategy and Development Committee”).
Each committee has its terms of reference and reports to the Board
regularly.
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The Company does not have a chief executive officer, whose role
is instead performed by the president of the Group (“President”),
Mr. Liu Xinhua. The roles of the chairman of the Company (the
“Chairman”) and the President are performed by separate persons.
The Chairman, Mr. Lo Chih-Hsien, is responsible for ensuring that
the Directors perform their duties properly and ensuring discussions
on material matters take place on a timely basis. The power and
authority to carry out day-to-day operations and implementation of
the strategies and directions set by the Board are delegated to the
management team of the Company (the “Management”) which is led
by the President. The Management assumes full accountability to the
Board for the operation of the Group.

Continuing updates in relation to the obligations of the Company and
the Directors under the Listing Rules, and the latest developments or
material changes on the applicable ordinances, rules and regulations
are provided to Directors from time to time.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Board has at all times during the Year complied with the
requirements under Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of the minimum required number of independent
non-executive Directors which shall be at least one-third of the Board
with at least one independent non-executive Director possessing
appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

Pursuant to the Code Provision B.2.3 of the Corporate Governance
Code set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules, if an independent
non-executive Director has served the Company for more than nine
years, such Director’s further appointment should be subject to a
separate resolution to be approved by shareholders of the Company.
Each of Mr. Chen Sun-Te, Dr. Fan Ren-Da, Anthony and Mr. Lo Peter
has served as the independent non-executive Directors for more
than nine years since 2016. The re-election of Mr. Chen Sun-Te was
approved by the shareholders of the Company under a separate
resolution at the AGM held on 31 May 2024 and the re-election of
each of Dr. Fan Ren-Da, Anthony and Mr. Lo Peter was approved by
the shareholders of the Company under separate resolutions at the
AGM held on 27 May 2022.
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The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board considered
that each of the independent non-executive Directors, with a diverse
business and professional background as well as his in-depth
understanding of the Company’s operations and business, have
brought his valuable experience to the Board and, alongside the
other independent non-executive Directors, contributed to ensuring
that the interests of the Company’s shareholders were taken into
account and that relevant issues were subject to objective and
dispassionate consideration by the Board.

By virtue of the above, the Board considers that all four independent
non-executive Directors as at the date of this report, namely,
Mr. Chen Johnny, Mr. Chen Sun-Te, Dr. Fan Ren-Da, Anthony and
Mr. Lo Peter are independent having regard to the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board has not established a corporate governance committee.

Instead, the full Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance function including (i) developing and reviewing the
Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance, (ii)
reviewing and monitoring training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management of the Company;,
(iii) reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with the applicable legal and regulatory requirements
and (iv) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct
and compliance manual applicable to employees of the Group and
the Directors. During the Year, the Board reviewed the Company’s
compliance with the Corporate Governance Code and the disclosure
in its Corporate Governance Report.

Every Board member has full access to the advice and services of
the company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”)
with a view to ensuring that Board procedures and all applicable
rules and regulations are complied with and they are also entitled to
have full access to Board papers and related materials so that they
are able to make informed decisions and to discharge their duties
and responsibilities.
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Exus

Name of Directors

SUPPORT AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT OF DIRECTORS

The Company is responsible for arranging and funding suitable
trainings for the Directors. All Directors have been given relevant
guideline materials regarding the roles, duties and responsibilities
of being a Director, the relevant laws and regulations applicable to
them, duty of disclosure of interests and business of the Group.
They have also been updated on the latest developments regarding
the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements to
ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate
governance practices. A procedure has been approved by the
Board to ensure the Directors, upon reasonable request, to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstance, at
the Company’s expenses. The Directors confirmed that they have
complied with Code Provision C.1.4 of the Corporate Governance
Code on continuous professional training. During the Year, all of the
Directors have participated in continuous professional development
in connection with their roles, duties and responsibilities in the
Company by attending seminars, in-house briefings, conferences,
forums, online trainings and/or reading materials on the following
topics to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. Each
Director has provided relevant records of training to the Company
and is summarised as follows.

FRrBEZEEIEE (55

Topics on training covered (Note)

BERKLE (F/F) Mr. Lo Chih-Hsien (Chairman) A C
RIS (MRASIE) Mr. Liu Xinhua (President) A B, C
'R (e &8 ot A Mr. Chen Kuo-Hui A B, C
FEEM T Ms. Chien Chi-Lin A
BRI Mr. Su Tsung-Ming A
[REDTE I Mr. Chen Sun-Te A

ERTE Mr. Chen Johnny A B
SBCEEL Dr. Fan Ren-Da, Anthony A B
REELE Mr. Lo Peter A
MisE : Note:
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(A)  Corporate governance/regulatory

(B)  Finance

(C)  Industry-specific
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BOARD AND BOARD COMMITTEE MEETINGS

Board meetings were held at regular intervals. During the Year,
the Board has held four board meetings for, among other matters,
reviewing and approving the financial and operating performance
of the Company; reviewing and approving non-exempt continuing
connected transactions of the Group for the Year; reviewing and
approving the disclosures in the interim and annual reports and
the environmental, social and governance report with regards to
the Company’s compliance with the Listing Rules and Corporate
Governance Code; reviewing the Company’s progress in
implementing the corporate governance requirements as set out in
the Corporate Governance Code; making recommendation of the
final dividends for Shareholders’ approval at the next annual general
meeting of the Company; and considering and approving the overall
strategies and policies of the Company.

The attendance of individual Board members at the Board and Board
committees meetings held during the year ended 31 December 2024
are set out in the table below:

HE/ BITEERY (1)
Number of meetings attended/held (Note 1)

EEg BRZEEE REZEE FWEEE REEHER
g% g% g% g% LRZEGEE RRBFEXE
Investment,
Strategy and
Audit Nomination Remuneration  Development Annual
Board Committee Committee Committee Committee General
meetings meetings meetings meetings meetings Meeting
HITEE Executive Directors
BERRE Mr. Lo Chih-Hsien 4/4 - 3/3 3/3 2/2 il
MmERE Mr. Liu Xinhua 414 - - - 2/2 11
HHITEE Non-executive Directors
REBRE Mr. Chen Kuo Hui 414 - - - 2/2 11
BEHME L Ms. Chien Chi-Lin 33 33 - - - 11
BR#TE Mr. Su Tsung-Ming 1 1 - - 2/2 0/1
BUHHTEE Independient Non-executive Directors
BELLE Mr. Chen Johnny 4/4 3/3 3/3 - 2/2 11
IWD fyi Mr. Chen Sun-Te 3/4 3/3 - 33 2/2 o
BLERL Dr. Fan Ren-Da, Anthony 4/4 3/3 - 3/3 2/2 11
BEELE Mr. Lo Peter 4/4 3/3 3/3 - 2/2 0N
FIEE - Note:
1. REAFEHFERHUZ2RESZBMTHEALRIT 1. Attendances during the Year were stated by reference to the number of
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meetings held during the Directors’ respective tenures.
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In addition, in compliance with code provision C.2.7 of the Corporate
Governance Code, the Chairman of the Board held an annual
meeting with the independent non-executive Directors without the
presence of the other Directors in December 2024.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

During the Year, in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules,
the audit committee of the Board (the “Audit Committee”) comprised
Dr. Fan Ren-Da, Anthony, Mr. Chen Johnny, Mr. Chen Sun-Te
and Mr. Lo Peter, being independent non-executive Directors and
Ms. Chien Chi-Lin and Mr. Su Tsung-Ming (retired on 31 May 2024),
being non-executive Directors. The Audit Committee is chaired by Dr.
Fan Ren-Da, Anthony.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on appointment and removal of
the external auditors, approving the remuneration and terms of
engagement of external auditors, reviewing financial information
and overseeing the financial reporting system and internal control
procedures. The specific written terms of reference of the Audit
Committee are available for inspection upon request at the principal
place of business of the Company in Hong Kong and on the
respective website of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Audit Committee held three meetings during the Year to review
the interim and annual financial statements and the effectiveness of
the internal control practices of the Group. All members of the Audit
Committee attended all of the meetings held during their respective
tenure in the Year. A summary of the work performed by the Audit
Committee during the Year is set out as follows:

(i) reviewed with the senior management and finance-in-charge
and/or the external auditors the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group, the accuracy and fairness of
the interim and annual financial statements for the six months
ended 30 June 2024 and for the Year respectively;

(i)  met with the external auditors and reviewed their work and

findings relating to the annual audit for the Year and the
effectiveness of the audit process;
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(i) reviewed with management and finance-in-charge the
effectiveness of the risk management, internal control systems
and the internal audit function of the Group;

(iv) approved the audit plan for the year ending 31 December
2025;

(v)  reviewed the external auditors’ independence, approved the
engagement of the external auditors and recommended the
Board on the re-appointment of the external auditors;

(vi)  reviewed the terms of reference of the Audit Committee; and

(vl approved an internal pre-approval policy of the Group for
non-audit services of the external auditors.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

During the Year, the nomination committee of the Board (the
“Nomination Committee”) comprised two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Chen Johnny and Mr. Lo Peter; and one
executive Director, namely Mr. Lo Chih-Hsien. The Nomination
Committee is chaired by Mr. Lo Peter.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board, identify individuals
suitably qualified to become members of the Board, assess the
independence of independent non-executive Directors and make
recommendations to the Board on any proposed changes to
the Board, or select individuals nominated for directorships and/
or appoint or re-appoint Directors. The specific written terms of
reference of the Nomination Committee are available for inspection
upon request at the principal place of business of the Company
in Hong Kong and the websites of the Company and of the Stock
Exchange.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee held three meetings. All
members of the Nomination Committee attended all of the meetings
held during the Year. A summary of the work performed by the

Nomination Committee during the Year is set out as follows:

(i) reviewed the size, composition and structure of the Board;
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(i) assessed and reviewed the independence of each of the
independent non-executive Directors and consideration was
given to independent non-executive Directors who have served
on the Board for more than nine years;

(i) reviewed the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee;

(iv) reviewed the board diversity policy of the Company (the
“Board Diversity Policy”) and director nomination policy of the
Company (the “Director Nomination Policy”);

(v)  reviewed the policy in relation to independent views available
to the Board (the “Policy in relation to Independent Views
Available to the Board”).

DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY

The Board from time to time considers replenishing the composition
of the Board whenever the Company needs to cope with the
business demand, grasp opportunities, tackle challenges and/or to
comply with the applicable laws and regulations. The Nomination
Committee has adopted the Director Nomination Policy since
13 December 2018, which serves to improve the transparency of the
process and criteria in selecting and recommending candidates as
Directors for the Board’s approval from time to time and at any time
to appoint any person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy
or as an addition to the Board. The Directors and the Nomination
Committee will consider and nominate candidates, according to
the Director Nomination Policy based on objective criteria with
due regard to the benefits of diversity as set out in the Board
Diversity Policy, to the Board for approval. In identifying individuals
and making recommendations for nominations, the Nomination
Committee considers whether such individuals have the appropriate
qualifications, abilities and perspectives that would enable them
to effectively fulfil their roles and responsibilities as Directors. The
responsibilities of the Nomination Committee (as further set out in its
terms of reference) form the key part under the Director Nomination
Policy.
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Where a candidate is proposed to be appointed as an independent
non-executive Director, his/her independence will be assessed
in accordance with, among others, the factors as set out in Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules, subject to any amendments as may be
made by the Stock Exchange from time to time. Where applicable,
the totality of the candidate’s education, qualifications and
experience will also be evaluated to consider whether he/she has
the appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise for filling the office of an independent
non-executive Director as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing
Rules.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board adopted a Board Diversity Policy (as amended on 27 May
2022) which aims to enhance the effectiveness of the Board and
to maintain the highest standards of corporate governance and
recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board
composition.

Under the Board Diversity Policy, in order to achieve a diversity of
perspectives, skills and experience within the Board, a number of
factors will be considered when deciding on appointments to the
Board and the continuation of those appointments, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
length of service, skills, professional experience, regional and industry
experience. In forming its perspectives on Board diversity, the
Company will also take into account its own business model and
specific needs from time to time.

The Board considers that gender diversity is vital in order to achieve
a diverse Board composition. To achieve gender diversity within the
Board, the Board’s objective is to have at least 1 female director in
its composition. Subsequent to the retirement of Mr. Su Tsung-Ming
on 31 May 2024, out of the 8 Board members, 7 of them are male
and 1 of them is a female. Going forward, the Board is dedicated
to ensuring that qualified female candidates are given equal
consideration in the nomination of Directors. By focusing on gender
diversity in the Board succession planning process, the Company
aims to maintain a diverse pipeline of candidates for Board vacancies
as they arise.
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As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 33,755
employees (including senior management). The following sets out the

TR - gender distribution in the workforce of the Group:
Percentage
of the total
Number of workforce of
HERE S HER Employment by gender employees the Group
EREEET
EEHE WEHBE S
3B Male 19,360 57.4%
4 Female 14,395 42.6%
BEARE Total number of employees 33,755 100%
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In addition, the composition, experience and balance of skills on the
Board are regularly reviewed to ensure that the Board retains core
members with long-standing knowledge of the Group alongside new
Director(s) appointed from time to time who bring fresh perspectives
and diverse experiences to the Board. The Nomination Committee
will review the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy from
time to time to ensure its continued effectiveness, and will propose
and recommend any amendments to the Board Diversity Policy as it
thinks fit to the Board for consideration and approval. Please refer to
the Company’s website for details of the Board Diversity Policy.

The names of the current Directors and their biographies (including

their roles as well as their skills and experiences) are set out in the
section headed “Directors’ Profile” of this annual report.
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POLICY IN RELATION TO INDEPENDENT
VIEWS AVAILABLE TO THE BOARD

The Board adopted the Policy in relation to Independent Views
Available to the Board which aims to ensure independent views are
available to the Board.

The Policy in relation to Independent Views Available to the
Board also served as a guideline on the requirements in relation
to independent non-executive Directors. The independent
non-executive Directors shall satisfy the independence criteria under
the Listing Rules on Stock Exchange. In this connection, each
independent non-executive Director is required to confirm in writing
to the Company and the Stock Exchange his independence upon
his appointment as a director of the Company with reference to the
independence criteria in the Listing Rules. Each independent non-
executive Director is also required to inform the Company and the
Stock Exchange as soon as practicable if there is any subsequent
change of circumstances which may affect his independence and
must provide an annual confirmation of his independence to the
Company. An annual review shall be conducted by the Company to
assess the continuing independence of independent non-executive
Directors, with attention to ensuring that they remain independent in
character and judgement, and continue to present an objective and
constructive challenge to the assumptions and viewpoints presented
by the management and the Board.

The implementation and the effectiveness of the Policy in relation to

Independent Views Available to the Board are subject to review by
the Board on an annual basis.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee comprised two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chen Sun-Te and
Dr. Fan Ren-Da, Anthony; and one executive Director, namely Mr. Lo
Chih-Hsien. The Remuneration Committee is chaired by Mr. Chen
Sun-Te throughout the Year.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to
make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy
and structure of the remuneration of the Directors and senior
management, to determine on behalf of the Board the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management,
and to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
of non-executive Directors. Details of the remuneration of each of
the Directors for the Year are set out in Note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements. The specific written terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee are available for inspection upon request at
the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong and on
the respective website of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Remuneration Committee held three meetings during the Year.
All members of the Remuneration Committee attended the meetings
during the Year. A summary of work performed by the Remuneration
Committee is set out as follows:

(i) reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of the non-executive Directors;

(i)  reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of the independent non-executive

Directors;

(i)  reviewed the current remuneration structure/package of both
the Directors and the senior management of the Company;

(iv) assessed the performance of senior management of the
Group; and

(v reviewed the terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee.
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REMUNERATION OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

During the Year, the range of remuneration payable to the members
of the senior management (other than the Directors) of the Group is
set out below:

AE

Number of

M 28 & Remuneration range persons
AE 11,000,000 7t ZE A E#1,499,9997¢ RMB1,000,000 to RMB1,499,999 1
AR 1,500,000 7t 2 A R #1,999,9997¢ RMB1,500,000 to RMB1,999,999 2
AR 12,000,000 2 A R 152,499,9997¢ RMB2,000,000 to RMB2,499,999 2

RE - BRREREZEST

RAREE HRE BRNEREZEZHERI
TESBEBAAERBMELE FERTE
EREIE L E RERRIGAE (52202485831
HBRME) URBIIFMTEEREBELEE R
EREE B EETREEENEANE
BhEEEARE BRNEREETTE.

RE BRREREZEC T ERERER
FEBZRERERESE RER LURER
REBBUMNEFTRLEZ -RE BBK
EREZEENHEREBESINEQTE
BIEEEMBERNER-

RE - BRRERZETNETFERITMR
g -RE - BRREREZEEFMEMENA
HERFERTHNREEH-

EFHER

FrBEEEHERIBRENREUEE20245F12
B3 1HIEEERBZEE-

INVESTMENT, STRATEGY AND DEVELOPMENT
COMMITTEE

During the Year, the Investment, Strategy and Development
Committee comprised Mr. Lo Chih-Hsien and Mr. Liu Xinhua, being
executive Directors, Mr. Chen Kuo-Hui and Mr. Su Tsung-Ming
(retired on 31 May 2024), being non-executive Directors, and Mr.
Chen Sun-Te, Mr. Chen Johnny, Dr. Fan Ren-Da, Anthony and Mr. Lo
Peter, being independent non-executive Directors. The Investment,
Strategy and Development Committee is chaired by Mr. Lo Chih-
Hsien.

The primary functions of the Investment, Strategy and Development
Committee are to review the investment and development plans
and policies of the Group and to review investment proposals and
make recommendations to the Board. The specific written terms of
reference of the Investment, Strategy and Development Committee
are available for inspection upon request at the principal place of
business of the Company in Hong Kong.

The Investment, Strategy and Development Committee held two
meetings during the Year. All members of the Investment, Strategy
and Development Committee attended all of the meetings held
during the Year.

DIRECTORS ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

All Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
accounts for the year ended 31 December 2024.
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AUDITORS’ INDEPENDENCE AND
REMUNERATION

The Audit Committee is mandated to review and monitor the
independence of the external auditors of the Company to
ensure objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with the applicable standards. Members of the Audit
Committee were of the view that the Company’s external auditors,
PricewaterhouseCoopers (‘PwC”), are independent and therefore
have recommended the Board to re-appoint PwC as the external
auditors of the Company subject to the shareholders’ approval at the
forthcoming AGM.

During the Year, the fees paid or payable by the Group to PwC in
respect of the audit and non-audit services rendered to the Group
amounted to approximately RMB5.5 million and approximately
RMB1.7 million respectively. The non-audit services represent
consultation services in respect of (i) corporate social responsibility
report (approximately RMBO0.8 million); (i) a strategic relocation
project (approximately RMBO0.4 million); and (jii) taxation and other
business solutions (approximately RMB0.4 million).

The following table sets out a reconciliation of the auditors’
remunerations as disclosed above and in Note 6 to the consolidated
financial statements in this Annual Report.

ARBFT
RMB’000
KEEBZRFB AT Auditor’s remuneration paid or payable by the
FE{T 28 LBk 28 B9 IZ BETEN <& Group to PwC in respect of audit services 5,450
AEEDMYEMNGRAEENBATIRM  Auditors’ remunerations paid or payable by the
EHETE B ZARFERVINSAZELEN (TR Group to external auditors (other than PwQ)
AGBLAIN) BUZEEMEN & who provided local statutory audits to
subsidiaries of the Group 1,852
TR IZARFE VA B BN BN S 42 %8 Total auditors’ remunerations in respect of
(W& B PSR M ST6FT I E2) audit services (as disclosed in Note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements) 7,302
AEEMIEEBZIRF DA NERNE IR AE  Auditor's remuneration paid or payable by the
BIZEENEN & Group to PwC in respect of non-audit services 1,670
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS
OF LISTED ISSUERS (THE “MODEL CODE”)

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
C8 to the Listing Rules to regulate the Directors’ securities
transactions. All Directors have confirmed, following specific enquiry
by the Company, that they have fully complied with the required
standards as set out in the Model Code during the Year and up to
the date of this annual report.

Senior management who, because of their office in the Company,
are likely to be in possession of inside information, have also been
requested to comply with the provisions of the code for securities
dealing adopted by the Company, which is no less exacting than the
Model Code, when dealing in the Company’s shares.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibilities for maintaining a sound and
effective risk management and internal control system of the Group.
The system includes a defined management structure with limits of
authority, and is designed to help the Group to identify and manage
significant risks to achieve the Group’s overall business objectives,
determine the Group’s risk profile, oversee risk management
framework structure, review key risks and mitigation strategies and to
ensure risk management effectiveness and compliance with relevant
laws and regulations.

A bottom-up and top-down approach is utilised to ensure a holistic
risk management process. The bottom-up approach is supported by
key business units to identify and prioritise risks while the top-down
approach reviews and assesses if risks are comprehensively
identified, prioritised and properly addressed by key business units
to accomplish the Group’s objectives. The management team
regularly monitors emerging risks for continuous risk assessment
purpose and for building the risk-management based internal audit
plan and periodically assesses the adequacy and effectiveness of
risk management and internal controls for ongoing risk assurance
purposes. This enhances the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and control framework.

L 4



82

TEELSRS

Corporate Governance Report

FEENEREERABEZERTSERK
R REFEEEE BLEREERFTH
RRERREE  TREZSREG M0
UKkBTBRBERKRBRA -RNEFE &
FEEBHREER RBBFFEBERINEZ
BT E T MM A X LU R B 5t BXFR
EXRRE RARAEFLEETREAEER
REBRANBEZRFZANE B (HF
) UHEE - SEAGREEULARE
B-AREERRNIEN A MEFHESTS
BENEERNENEEBSEE/YREE-

FRBABEFBEURBRESTE EES
G REHLEAREZZEGRHE T @5
BB SF ZRBEE RO EHRE
BB E - BREE Eo2EARE
ERNEER B R RESEENNE
ZIF58) - W E B ZERENITRE
MEZEZEGREZTER ZRAEEM
EARERRAFBRREHGEMIFEH 2R
B ITEEMFTEEREAEREERAL
Mz AR WEREERZEHER-

REFE AATRNBESBUREBEESTS
HEZ FEEZE TEHECTRBPIN
RS RBE R ITIFRESERKLE
fErEEER BERBEREAERRRE
2 MH - BE - ERERUARAREET
B Wt AN I @ - REFE EFE
EEZFEENEREERABSEZRRN
ERMLRBZERABERNKRBE - RiE
EFEMETENKEEAINER EFT
MBEAERERTZEREERANSEZERR
WRRARABERKRTED - NAFERE
EXAFROP TEZFREEAETEFE
o

#F—1 ¥ hE PG AR /2 E Uni-President China Holdings Ltd.

The Group’s risk management and internal control system is
designed to reduce risks, safeguard the Group’s assets, prevent
and detect fraud and protect shareholders’ investment as well
as to ensure that proper accounting records are maintained and
applicable legislation and regulations are complied with. During the
Year, through discussions with the management, the internal audit
team and external auditors and with reference to a report submitted
by the internal audit team, the Board has conducted assessments
and reviews of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
and internal control system in various perspectives, including, among
others, financial control, operational and compliance controls and
risk management. The risk management and internal control systems
are reviewed by the Board annually and each review covers a whole
financial year.

The internal audit unit of the Company, which is subordinated to the
Board, formulates the internal audit plan of the Group based on the
strategic objectives analysis, business flow analysis, risk assessment
and performance evaluation and the self-inspection mechanism with
comprehensive risk management functions under the authority of
the Board, the guidance of the Audit Committee and co-ordination
with the external auditors. It regularly reports to the Audit Committee
and the Board for its audit findings and recommendations on
internal control. The system is designed to provide reasonable, but
not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss, and
to manage rather than to eliminate risks of failure in the Group’s
operational systems and to achieve the Group’s business objectives.

During the Year, the internal audit unit of the Company continuously
optimised job responsibilities and functions of different departments
according to the annual audit plan approved by the Board. Such
audit work covered food safety, financial, operation, statutory
compliance and risk management of the Group at all levels and
functions, taking into account of the manpower cost-effectiveness.
During the Year, the Board has reviewed the effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems and considers
them effective and adequate. Based on information furnished to it
and on its own observations, the Board is satisfied with the present
risk management and internal control systems of the Group and
considers them effective and adequate. During the Year and as at
the date of this annual report, nothing has been found which requires
substantial improvement.
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The Company adopted a policy for the Directors, senior
management and other employees of the Group on disclosure of
inside information to ensure that inside information is handled and
disseminated properly. During the Year, the Company regarded
information of an event as inside information if such event might
impact the price or trading volume of the shares of the Company.
Should public disclosure of inside information be required,
announcements in relation to inside information, being approved
by the executive Directors under powers delegated by the Board
from time to time, would be published by the Company as soon as
reasonably practicable pursuant to Rules 13.09 and 13.10 of the
Listing Rules and the Inside Information Provisions (as defined under
the Listing Rules) under Part XIVA of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO”).

The Group has also adopted an internal policy for certain employees
who, because of their office in the Company, may from time to time
encounter inside information (as defined in the SFO).

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company is committed to ensure that the Group complies with
disclosure obligations under the Listing Rules and other applicable
laws and regulations. The Company communicates with the
shareholders of the Company mainly in the following ways: (i) the
holding of the AGM and extraordinary general meeting(s) (the “EGM”),
if any, which may be convened for specific purpose and provide
opportunities for the shareholders of the Company to communicate
directly with the Board; (i) the publication of announcements, annual
reports, interim reports and/or circulars as required under the
Listing Rules which provide updated information of the Group on
the website of the Stock Exchange at “http://www.hkexnews.hk”;
and (iii) the provision of the latest information of the Group and,
if appropriate, press releases of the Company at the Company’s
website at “www.uni-president.com.cn”.
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The general meetings of the Company provide opportunities for
constructive communication between the shareholders of the
Company and the Board. During the Year, the AGM was held on
31 May 2024. Members of the Board, namely Mr. Lo Chih-Hsien
(Chairman), Mr. Liu Xinhua (President), Mr. Chen Kuo-Hui, Ms. Chien
Chi-Lin, Mr. Chen Johnny and Dr. Fan Ren-Da, Anthony, were
present at the AGM to answer questions raised by the shareholders
of the Company at the AGM. The Company’s external auditors and
the Company Secretary also attended the aforesaid AGM.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

(1)

2
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Procedures for shareholders to convene an EGM

According to the Articles of Association, an EGM may be
convened on the written requisition of any one or more
members of the Company holding together, as at the date of
deposit of the requisition, shares representing not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which carry
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company. The
written requisition shall be deposited at the principal office of
the Company, specifying the objects of the meeting and the
resolutions to be added to the meeting agenda, and signed by
the requisitionist(s).

If within twenty-one days of such deposit, the Board fails to
proceed to convene the EGM, the requisitionist(s) or any of
them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights
of all of them, may themselves convene an EGM, but any
meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration of
three months from the date of the deposit of the requisition
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s)
as a result of the Board’s failure to convene an EGM shall be
reimbursed to them by the Company.

Shareholders’ enquiries put to the Board

Shareholders’ enquiries about their shareholdings can be
directed to the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited.
Shareholders may send their enquiries in respect of other
matters to the Company Secretarial Office by post to the
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong or by
email to ir@pec.com.cn.
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(3) Procedures for putting forward proposal at general
meetings

There are no provisions allowing shareholders of the Company
to put forward proposals at general meetings under the
Memorandum of Association (the “Memorandum”) and
Articles of Association or the Companies Act of the Cayman
Islands. If shareholders of the Company wish to do so, they
may request to convene an EGM as stipulated above and
specify the proposals in such written requisition. Pursuant
to Article 116 of the Articles of Association, no person shall,
unless recommended by the Board, be eligible for election
to the office of director at any general meeting unless during
the period, which shall be at least seven days, commencing
no earlier than the day after the despatch of the notice of the
meeting appointed for such election and ending no later than
seven days prior to the date of such meeting, there has been
given to the Company Secretary notice in writing by a member
of the Company (not being the person to be proposed), entitled
to attend and vote at the meeting for which such notice is
given, of his intention to propose such person for election and
also a notice in writing signed by the person to be proposed of
his willingness to be elected.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Year, the Company did not amend its constitutional
documents.

SHAREHOLDERS’ COMMUNICATION POLICY

The Company has established and adopted a Shareholders’
Communication Policy which sets out the provisions with the
objective of providing shareholders of the Company with ready,
equal and timely information on the Company for them to make
informed assessments of the Company’s strategy, operations
and financial performance, and enabling them to engage actively
with the Company and exercise their rights as shareholders in
an informed manner. The said policy, which is subject to annual
review by the Board, is available on the website of the Company at
www.uni-president.com.cn. The Board has reviewed the situation
of shareholders’ engagement and communication during the Year
as well as the procedures of the Company’s general meetings and
was satisfied with the implementation and effectiveness of the
Shareholders’ Communication Policy. The Company will continue to
enhance communications and relationships with its shareholders and
investors to keep them abreast of the Company’s developments.
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ACCOUNTABILITY

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for overseeing the
preparation of financial statements for each financial period which
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and
of the results and cash flow for that period. A statement from the
Company’s external auditors about their reporting responsibilities
is set out in the section headed “Independent Auditor's Report”
of the annual report. In preparing the financial statements for the
Year, the Directors have selected suitable accounting policies and
applied them consistently and have made prudent and reasonable
judgements and estimates and have prepared the financial
statements on a going concern basis.

COMPANY SECRETARY

During the Year, the Company did not engage an external service
provider as its company secretary and the role of the company
secretary was performed by Mr. Fung Kwan Ho (“Mr. Fung”), who
is @ member of Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, at all times
during the Year. In compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules,
Mr. Fung has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training during the Year.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

ERR R E
To the Shareholders of Uni-President China Holdings Ltd.
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Uni-President China
Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”),
which are set out on pages 96 to 228, comprise:

° the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2024;
° the consolidated income statement for the year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

° the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended;
and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising
material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong

ALK IE Ot UF BT - B PR 7 R
T: +852 2289 8888, F: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com

At : +852 2289 8888 » fHH :

i—1 ¥ hEEAR B RA S Uni-President China Holdings Ltd.

+852 2810 9888 » www.pwchk.com
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

° Revenue recognition: Sales of goods

° Deferred income tax assets
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BB A EIERMEE SR

Revenue recognition: Sales of goods

Yozt SR - Biom i E

Refer to Note 2.20 (Summary of material
and other accounting policies — Revenue
recognition) and Note 5 (Revenue and segment
information) to the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.
FLREEERSMBHREME2.20 (EAK
HME s BRI E — e s?) RWEEs (s
RD BB °

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Group recognised revenue from sales of goods
amounted to RMB30,332 million.

B E2024F12B31HILFE  EEERETE
mid E W 5t AR 30,3328 B 7T e

Revenue is recognised when the Group
satisfies a performance obligation by
transferring the control of promised good or
service to a customer in an amount that reflects
the consideration to which the Group expects
to be entitled in exchange for that good or
service.
EEEENTMMPE P EEKEEMIRT
ZEHENENEET B EERMEER
MM ZEERARBERESHNR
B> 75 ISR A o

We focused on this area due to the huge
volume of revenue transactions generated
from sales of numerous kinds of products to
a large number of customers, including direct
customers and distributors in many different
locations.

BMIE—FHE HTHREEERENS
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IERIESS R
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We understood, evaluated and validated management’s controls in
respect of the Group’s sales transactions. In addition, we tested the
general control environment of the Group’s information technology
systems and the automated controls that were related to revenue
recording.

EMTHR - FIHIREEEENEEERNmHERZ 2iEH oIt
Sh HMAREEEERRM RS 2 —ARIZEHIRIE > 1085 H Uk
mECERA B2 BENEH] o

We conducted testing of revenue transactions on a sample basis by
examining the relevant supporting documents including customer
contracts and orders, goods delivery notes and good receipt
records. In addition, we circularised confirmations on a sample basis
on trade receivables balances as at the balance sheet date.
EMERETOEERalRITIE - REERREERERTN
MAERE AN B M m R B ETHERRE - i BPINEER
R EER R E Z RS RE HAER o

Furthermore, we tested sales transactions that took place shortly
before and after the balance sheet date, by reconciling recognised
revenue with the goods delivery notes and good receipt records,
to assess whether revenue was recognised in the correct reporting
periods.

o P HEE BRI BRREHERNNEER ZETRE &
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Based on the work performed, we found the Group’s revenue from
sales of goods being tested were supported by the evidences that
we obtained.
RIBRMPFAITHNES LIE RPDAEEEFMAEERHE W
mAEMESNEE o
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Deferred income tax assets

BEFZHREE

Refer to Note 2.17 (Summary of material
and other accounting policies — Current
and deferred income tax), Note 4.1 (Critical
accounting estimates and assumptions) and
Note 19 (Deferred income tax) to the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.
F2REEERGEMBRERWE2.17 AR
HMESHEERESE - S8 RIELEPTER) Mt
4.1 (RAREsHEE RRR) K19 GRLE
PR1SHR) ©

As at 31 December 2024, deferred income tax
assets of approximately RMB112 million were
recognised for tax losses that can be carried
forward in respect of certain subsidiaries in
Mainland China, to the extent that, realisation of
the related tax benefits through the availability
of future taxable profits is probable. The Group
did not recognise deferred income tax assets
of approximately RMB147 million in respect
of tax losses that can be carried forward but
the availability of future taxable profit is not
probable.

122024128310 EEERIEAR KB R
BRI BRNEMMASEE PR AES
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We obtained an understanding of the management’s internal control
and assessment process of the recognition of deferred income tax
assets and assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement by
considering the degree of estimation uncertainty and level of other
inherent risk factors.

BT REIEETRRIBIEFSNE E S EN A ER TS KTk
B lmBeERAFAREENEEREMATREEZNKE
IRETAE IR E A SE R PRI A 9 7E B o

As part of our risk assessment in this area, we compared the current
year actual results with the prior year forecast to consider, with
hindsight, whether key assumptions included in that forecast had
been subject to management bias and assessed the effectiveness of
management’s estimation process.
ERBRBTEN—& 2 BRMNERAFEEEREEEMUREEZ
BRFER UNERAE BN FEARZAERRESFTEEE
/R L EIRE (LR A o

We then evaluated and challenged management’s profit forecasts for
the next five years of individual entities that have accumulated tax
losses. Our assessment focused on certain key assumptions, such
as revenue growth rates and gross profit margin, by comparing them
to these entities’ historical operating results and future operating
plans, together with economic and industry forecasts, where
appropriate. We also considered the potential impact of reasonably
possible downside changes in these key assumptions.

BT REREEEHE R NEBENS XERBMIENR
RAF@AERZ S - EHMRTERERBATE TRARR
RoOAME@mERIMENR BRLLBERERBNELEER
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EME st RIS EIE

Significant judgement is required in determining
the recognition of deferred income tax assets,
considering whether future taxable profit will be
available against which the accumulative tax
losses can be utilised. Management prepared a
5-year profit forecast to assess the probability
of generating sufficient taxable profits in the
foreseeable future. The major assumptions
involved were revenue growth rate and gross
profit margin.
RIEFTISIMBEEMNHER I REZHIE T
BEIRRE DB EL AR FTIFEELL
ARIBNEAREEE EEEGRRELFEH
FFER > UsTHE R AR R AREL BHAER
MAFNAEM - FERB I RINAIERE
FREREK-

We focused on this area due to the inherent
complexity of the model, and high degree of
uncertainty and subjectivity of the estimations
on the forecast of the availability and timing
of future taxable profits, including the key
assumption of revenue growth rates and gross
profit margin.

EMEAFE—FE DHRZEEARSG+5
B BHTBRRREMRMSETERM
REFENGE (BEH WAL RENEF
XELNERRR FESERRE LN TEH
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We have also verified the existence and amounts of tax losses,
together with their expiry dates, and the income tax rates applicable
to the entities by examining the tax returns submitted by the relevant
entities and reviewing the correspondences with the tax authorities.
EPmEeEZERERERE SAREURETENBHEAE
B URERTHENTFERSE JHEUREERERNM
BRR=Ko

We assessed the adequacy of the disclosures related to the
recognition of deferred tax assets in the context of HKFRSs.
EPEBRERAMBREEN T EARERELERBEEENIRER
BRE

Based on our work performed, we found that management’s
judgement and estimation for the recognition of deferred tax assets
were supported by the evidences that we obtained.
BBRMIFFAITHES LI RSB A EEEHHEDELER
HEEZ FIE R EStRRMEENE R
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.
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The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.
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Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for
forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of
the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Kwan Siu Man.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 5 March 2025
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Consolidated Income Statement
HZE2024F 1283310 LEFEE For the year ended 31 December 2024
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2024 2023
gz AR®FTr AR®ETT
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
I & Revenue 5 30,331,512 28,591,271
FI=R= i Cost of goods sold 6 (20,461,844)  (19,879,540)
EF Gross profit 9,869,668 8,711,731
HMF)E— %% Other gains - net 7 57,841 413,600
HW A Other income 8 294,550 351,273
Hithps Other expenses 6 (129,635) (133,953)
HERTIZERRS Selling and marketing expenses 6 (6,738,417) (6,277,942)
THRX Administrative expenses 6 (1,107,488) (1,065,856)
SREE AR FEE Net impairment losses on
financial assets 3.1(b), 6 (2,614) (2,393)
RREEF Operating profit 2,243,905 1,996,460
REUWA Finance income 252,691 252,671
=i Finance costs (72,206) (59,121)
REUWA—FEE Finance income - net 10 180,485 193,550
MEREARZ Share of profits of investments
FELIEEIEH] accounted for using
the equity method 18 59,384 49,914
PRERISIR AR Profit before income tax 2,483,774 2,239,924
FriginR = Income tax expenses 11 (634,655) (572,864)
TATEZFEA Profit for the year attributable to
e EFEEiER the equity holders of
the Company 1,849,119 1,667,060
FEXATRERTFEA Earnings per share for profit
FE(L G F 2 SRR EF attributable to the equity
MUEBRARESE) holders of the Company
during the year
(expressed in RMB per share)
—BERKREE — Basic and diluted 12 42.81% cents  38.60%) cents
F£103E228E M sE B iz 8B F5EK  The notes on pages 103 to 228 are an integral part of these
—Zf o consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
B E2024F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

2024 2023
B 5 AR®BFr ABEFT
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
FEEF Profit for the year 1,849,119 1,667,060
Hh2mas - Other comprehensive income:
REE#H 7 IEZEEm 2EE  ltems that may not be reclassified to
profit or loss
R ENSZEMNENSTE  Remeasurements of post-employment
benefit obligations 1,074 188
FEHM2EKRE Other comprehensive income
—PRRIREE for the year, net of tax 1,074 188
AT EDZFE AEWN Total comprehensive income
FE2MKRLEE for the year attributable
to the equity holders
of the Company 1,850,193 1,667,248

F103E228B 2 MisE B L2 a 75K The notes on pages 103 to 228 are an integral part of these
Z2—&me consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
122024412 831H As at 31 December 2024

2024 2023
Mk ARETFT ARETT
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BE ASSETS
ERENEE Non-current assets
Y2~ R I sk Property, plant and equipment 14 6,044,750 6,489,433
ERAREE Right-of-use assets 15 1,513,997 1,565,227
SI=E/ES Investment properties 16 330,583 237,479
mEEE Intangible assets 17 7,486 8,007
MigEmEARZEE Investments accounted for using
the equity method 18 877,477 845,597
EEFTISMEE Deferred income tax assets 19 306,226 255,748
HhpEsiIa Other receivables
—3EBNHAEE 2 — non-current portion 23 16,624 17,567
REACHAEN Long-term time deposits 25 5,170,340 5,070,170
14,267,483 14,489,228
RENEE Current assets
78 Inventories 21 2,487,076 2,125,883
FEW B Z R R EE Trade and bills receivables 22 627,556 585,790
BERIE - EE & Prepayments, deposits and
HuhpE U shIE other receivables 23 888,461 755,215
EHAA IR Bl FTiS IR IR =R Current income tax recoverable 22,072 64,136
AT EFABGREZ Financial assets at fair value
TREE through profit or loss 24 1,676,730 1,618,682
RE RIRITHEER Cash and bank balances 25 3,406,856 2,495,284
9,108,751 7,644,990
WEE Total assets 23,376,234 22,134,218
R EQUITY
ERAREZFEA Equity attributable to equity
FE{h 12 holders of the Company
[N Share capital 26 39,764 39,764
15 (B Share premium account 26 4,829,899 4,829,899
HMEE Other reserves 27 4,583,955 4,246,943
RERF] Retained earnings 3,945,492 4,265,771
afEas Total equity 13,399,110 13,382,377

#F—1 ¥ hE PG AR /2 E Uni-President China Holdings Ltd.
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
12024F12331H As at 31 December 2024

2024 2023
i ARBFT ARETT
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
=i LIABILITIES
EREERE Non-current liabilities
IRIEFRSIR AR Deferred income tax liabilities 19 311,765 342,760
HEaE—FERNHAE D Lease liabilities — non-current portion 15 59,846 62,587
HMENRIE—IERNHAEES  Other payables — non-current portion 29 404,668 331,318
776,279 736,665
mENAE Current liabilities
FE(T B Z AR Trade payables 28 2,283,504 2,122,561
Hih B ETE A Other payables and accruals 29 2,760,796 2,019,652
BHEaE Contract liabilities 5(b) 3,776,619 2,823,147
‘e Borrowings 30 201,264 990,647
HEaR Lease liabilities 15 28,886 26,201
2HFEREas Current income tax liabilities 149,776 32,968
9,200,845 8,015,176
FEy =R Total liabilities 9,977,124 8,751,841
HEm kB EREE Total equity and liabilities 23,376,234 22,134,218

F103E228B 2 T B Z S & B IR R

Z—EB e

E96FE228H

A TRIRFRE 2025534

SAKEFEME TR TIATARESTS

REe

BEXx
LO Chih-Hsien
HITEF

Executive Director

i—1 ¥ hEEAR B RA S Uni-President China Holdings Ltd.

The notes on pages 103 to 228 are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements on pages 96 to 228 were
approved by the Board of Directors on 5 March 2025 and were

signed on its behalf.

BME
LIU Xinhua
HITEF

Executive Director
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

HZE2024F 1283310 LEFEE For the year ended 31 December 2024

FRFEGRFE AR
Attributable to equity holders of the Company
A iR aE Hithfk RERT ait
Share Share Other Retained
capital premium reserves earnings Total
Mz  ARETr ARETT ARETR ARETR ARET:
Note RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
R2023F1B1H 2 &k Balance at 1 January 2023 39,764 4,829,899 3,858,113 4,453,577 13,181,353
2EKE Comprehensive income
EERA Profit for the year - - - 1,667,060 1,667,060
Hth 2l Other comprehensive income
—EREBEEIEEN - Remeasurements of post-employment
b benefit obligations = = 188 = 188
Hth2Ek e Total other comprehensive income - = 188 = 188
FEZENGEE Total comprehensive income
for the year - - 188 1,667,060 1,667,248
BOELTEHE Appropriation to statutory reserves 27(b) = = 388,642 (388,642) =
B0ERRZRE Dividends relating to 2022 - - S (1466224)  (1,466224)
142023128318 2 454% Balance at 31 December 2023 39,764 4,829,899 4,246,943 4,265,771 13,382,377
#2024 1 B1H 2 &5 Balance at 1 January 2024 39,764 4,829,899 4,246,943 4,265,771 13,382,377
2EME Comprehensive income
FE&HH Profit for the year - - - 1,849,119 1,849,119
Hth 2@ Other comprehensive income
—-ERBEEIEEN - Remeasurements of post-employment
BHstE benefit obligations - - 1,074 - 1,074
Htt2E R EAE Total other comprehensive income - - 1,074 - 1,074
FERENGEE Total comprehensive income
for the year - - 1,074 1,849,119 1,850,193
BOELTHE Appropriation to statutory reserves 27(b) - - 335,938 (335,938) -
023 BHZRE Dividends relating to 2023 - - - (1,833,460)  (1,833,460)
12024128310 248k Balance at 31 December 2024 39,764 4,829,899 4,583,955 3,945,492 13,399,110

F103E228E Y M sE B i S8 F5RE  The notes on pages 103 to 228 are an integral part of these
—&f 5o consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
B E2024F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

2024 2023
B 5 AREFTr AERETT
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
SETEZRERE Cash flows from operating
activities
SEESA RS Cash generated from operations 31 4,965,255 3,624,143
ENFERE Interest expenses paid (34,466) (54,371)
B PRER Income tax paid (557,525) (516,268)
SEEMELEZFRE Net cash generated from
operating activities 4,373,264 3,053,504
KREIZHZHERE Cash flows from investing
activities
BEYE -BERREUR  Purchases of property,
"By plant and equipment and
investment properties (694,598) (952,210)
BERTEE Purchases of intangible assets (2,282) (7,721)
BERATEF AEBGR Purchase of financial assets at
EMEE fair value through profit or loss (2,060,000) (1,603,000)
HEFREEERZE Proceeds from disposal of
BB K&t 2 Frigs1a right-of-use assets and
property, plant and equipment 6,858 624,903
HERAFESABTR Proceeds from disposal of financial
ZEMEEZENRIA assets at fair value through
profit or loss 2,058,428 1,056,760
—HEaErEBHELRE Proceeds from liquidation of
ZPR1GFIE investment in a joint venture 18 - 728
BO—EEE Proceeds from decrease of
ZREERIE investment in a joint venture 18 - 2,392
xﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ’—m}\ Decrease/(increase) in restricted
B, (g hn) bank deposits 25 5,200 (5,300)
HH EI BiE=1EAa Increase in time deposits with
ERERZIEM maturity more than 3 months 25 (1,338,921) (82,447)
EEbER—EHE Dividends received from
IWERZ IR B joint ventures and an associate 18 27,504 18,926
KREFRBFMAZFRE Net cash used in investing activities (1,997,811) (946,969)

i—1 ¥ hEEAR B RA S Uni-President China Holdings Ltd.

o Annual Report 2024 F#§
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
HZE2024F 1283310 LEFEE For the year ended 31 December 2024

2024 2023
Mk AR®FTr AR®ETT
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
REESZRERE Cash flows from financing
activities
IRITEEFTISIE Proceeds from bank borrowings 14,679,697 18,306,317
BiERITEE Repayments of bank borrowings (15,469,080)  (18,083,426)
MEMNRZARETE D Principal elements of lease payment (35,864) (34,360)
ERANCIE S ST =DN Dividends paid to equity holders
FKRE of the Company (1,872,245) (1,470,996)
MEEEMMAZFRE Net cash used in financing activities (2,697,492) (1,282,465)
RERREEEY Net (decrease)/increase
GRL) /tEmniese in cash and cash equivalents (322,039) 824,070
EVZRERIBEEEY Cash and cash equivalents at
the beginning of the year 931,995 108,519
REMRTEEY Exchange gains/(losses) on cash and
ZERFR (EB18) cash equivalents 60 (594)
FRZRERIREEEY Cash and cash equivalents at
the end of the year 25 610,016 931,995

$£103E228B 2 B ZSHEEHTERE  The notes on pages 103 to 228 are an integral part of these
22— consolidated financial statements.
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B E2024F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

GENERAL INFORMATION

Uni-President China Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 4 July 2007 as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies
Law of the Cayman lIslands. The address of the Company’s
registered office is P.O. Box 309, Ugland House, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries (together as the “Group”) are principally engaged
in the manufacturing and sale of beverages and food in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) (the “PRC Beverages
and Food Businesses”).

The Company completed its global initial public offering and its
shares were listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 17 December
2007 (the “Listing”).

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
thousands of Renminbi (“RMB’000”), unless otherwise stated.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

This note provides a list of the material and other accounting
policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated
financial statements. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

()  Compliance with HKFRS and HKCO

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have
been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (the “HKFRS”) as issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
Cap.622.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HZE2024F 1283310 LEFEE For the year ended 31 December 2024

2 BEAKRHEMIGAHERHME 2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
(48) ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

21
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Basis of preparation (Continued)

()  Compliance with HKFRS and HKCO (Continued)

HKFRS comprise the following authoritative literature:

o Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards

Hong Kong Accounting Standards

Interpretations developed by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

(i) Historical cost convention

The financial statements have been prepared on a
historical cost basis, except for the following:

o certain financial assets and liabilities (including
derivative instruments) — measured at fair value or
revalued amount

o defined benefit pension plans — plan assets
measured at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgment in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are material to the consolidated financial
statements are disclosed in Note 4.

H— ¥R EERARZAT Uni-President China Holdings Ltd. ¢ Annual Report 2024 &%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE2024F 128318 LEEE For the year ended 31 December 2024
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2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.1 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

@  New and amended standards adopted by the Group

A number of new or amended standards and
interpretations became applicable for the current
reporting period. The Group did not change its
accounting policies or make retrospective adjustments as
a result of adopting these standards.

HKAS 1 (Amendments)
HKAS 1 (Amendments)

Hong Kong
Interpretation 5
(Revised)

HKFRS 16
(Amendments)

HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7
(Amendments)

o Annual Report 2024 F#§

Effective for
annual periods
beginning

on or after

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current

Non-current liabilities with
covenants

Presentation of Financial
Statements - Classification
by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand
Clause

1 January 2024
1 January 2024

1 January 2024

Lease liability in sale
and leaseback

Supplier Finance
Arrangements

1 January 2024

1 January 2024
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HZE2024F 1283310 LEFEE For the year ended 31 December 2024

2 BEARHEMEEREE
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2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

21

Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.1 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures
(Continued)

(@)  New and amended standards adopted by the Group
(Continued)

As a result of the adoption of the amendments to HKAS
1, the Group changed its accounting policy for the
classification of borrowings:

“Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless, at
the end of the reporting period, the Group has a right to
defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after
the reporting period.

Covenants that the Group is required to comply with, on
or before the end of the reporting period, are considered
in classifying loan arrangements with covenants as
current or non-current. Covenants that the Group is
required to comply with after the reporting period do not
affect the classification.”

This new policy did not result in a change in the
classification of the Group’s borrowings. The Group
did not make retrospective adjustments as a result of
adopting the amendments to HKAS 1.

o Annual Report 2024
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2 BEAREMIGAHERHME 2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
(48) ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

21 REEE (B

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.1 Bt HERKEZEE) (B)

2.1.1 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures
(Continued)

(b) T EEMHEEE K5 2024 (b)  The following new standards and amendments to
F151HBEIIT K FEEE standards, and interpretations have been issued but
XA > B it KT RN BT HT are not effective for the financial year beginning on 1
BIL R B ZE B R 52 FERTIEET - January 2024 and have not been early adopted:

Effective for
RT5IEHE annual periods
EbA: Ll beginning on
EEBRHER or after
BAGHENE1H BzaRnt 202551818 HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability 1 January 2025
(IE3TA) (Amendments)
BAUBREEN SRIBZNE  2026E1818 HKFRS 9 and Classification and Measurement 1 January 2026
FORRER Ritg HKFRS 7 of Financial Instruments
UBREEAETR (Amendments)
(IE3TA)
BANBREEN ERNBREEE 202651818 Annual Improvements ~ Amendments to HKFRS 1, 1 January 2026
ZEEMESREY- EAbA to HKFRS HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9,
E115 HBREEE Accounting HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7
ST R Standards -
HHREEA Volume 11
20558
SBREEA
F0RRER
B ERETR
(CHEN
EEUKRSENER  MERRZER  207F1B18 HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure 1 January 2027
REE in Financial Statements
BEMBREEAEI0E  BAREEEN  200rF1518 HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public 1 January 2027

MEAT: RE

Accountability: Disclosures

BAUBREEN REEHHEY "E HKFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets To be determined
FIORKERRHED AEHEE HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
B CHES] PEZEz (Amendments) Associate or Joint Venture
ERHERRA

AER EETARTE] R R H 2
AN EIINEETE -

Hi—> ¥ hEZERAERAT Uni-President China Holdings Ltd. ¢ Annual Report 2024 %3

The Group is assessing the full impact of the new
standards and amendments to standards and
interpretations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HZE2024F 1283310 LEFEE For the year ended 31 December 2024
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2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Subsidiaries

2.2.1 Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity)
over which the Group has control. The Group controls an
entity where the Group is exposed to, or has rights to,
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the
date on which control is transferred to the Group. They
are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated. When
necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries have
been adjusted to conform with the Group’s accounting
policies.

(@) Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method of accounting
to account for business combinations. The consideration
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the
fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities
incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group.
The consideration transferred includes the fair value
of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination are measured initially at their fair
values at the acquisition date. The Group recognises
any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an
acquisition-by-acquisition basis, either at fair value or at
the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

H— ¥R EERARZAT Uni-President China Holdings Ltd. ¢ Annual Report 2024 &%
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2 BEAREMIGAHERHME 2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
(48) ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 WEBAT (#8) 2.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)
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2.2.1 Consolidation (Continued))
(@  Business combinations (Continueq)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date through
profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
Group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the
contingent consideration that is deemed to be an asset
or liability is recognised in accordance with HKFRS 9
either in the income statement or as a change to other
comprehensive income. Contingent consideration
that is classified as equity is not remeasured, and its
subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest
in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net
assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total
of consideration transferred, non-controlling interest
recognised and previously held interest measured is less
than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference
is recognised directly in the income statement.
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2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)

2.2.1 Consolidation (Continued)
(b)  Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control or significant
influence, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured
to its fair value, with the change in carrying amount
recognised in the income statement. The fair value is the
initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently
accounting for the retained interest as an associate,
joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
This may mean that amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income are reclassified to income
statement.

2.2.2 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost also includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving dividends from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income
of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or
if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net
assets including goodwill.
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B E2024F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3 Principle of equity accounting

2.3.1 Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has
significant influence but not control or joint control. This is
generally the case where the Group holds between 20%
and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates
are accounted for using the equity method of accounting
(Note 2.3.3), after initially being recognised at cost.

2.3.2 Joint arrangements

Under HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements investments in
joint arrangements are classified as either joint operations
or joint ventures. The classification depends on the
contractual rights and obligations of each investor, rather
than the legal structure of the joint arrangement.

Joint ventures

Joint ventures are all entities over which the Group
has joint control but not solo control. Interests in joint
ventures are accounted for using the equity method of
accounting (Note 2.3.3), after initially being recognised at
cost in the consolidated balance sheet.

2.3.3 Equity method

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments
are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter
to recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisition
profits or losses of the investee in profit or loss, and the
Group’s share of movements in other comprehensive
income of the investee in other comprehensive income.
Dividends received or receivable from associates and
joint ventures are recognised as a reduction in the
carrying amount of the investment.
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2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3

24

Principle of equity accounting (Continued)
2.3.3 Equity method (Continued)

Where the Group’s share of losses in an equity-
accounted investment equals or exceeds its interest
in the entity, including any other unsecured long-term
receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses,
unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on
behalf of the other entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and
its associates and joint ventures are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s interest in these entities. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.

Accounting policies of equity-accounted investees have
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments
is tested for impairment in accordance with the policy
described in Note 2.8.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker.

The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible
for allocating resources and assessing performance
of the operating segments, has been identified as the
executive directors that makes strategic decisions.

o Annual Report 2024
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2 BEAREMIGAHERHME 2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
(48) ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
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(@) Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The functional
currency of majority of the Group’s entities is Renminbi
(“RMB”). The consolidated financial statements are
presented in RMB, which is the Company’s functional
and the Group’s presentation currency.

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions of each of the Group’s
entities are translated into the functional currency using
the applicable exchange rates prevailing at the dates
of the transactions or valuation where items are re-
measured. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are recognised in the income statement.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to
borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are presented
in the income statement within ‘finance income or
cost’. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are
presented in the income statement within ‘Other gains —

net'.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial
assets such as equities held at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“OCI") are included in the fair
value reserves in other comprehensive income.
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2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.5

2.6

Foreign currency translation (Continued)
(¢) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different
from the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

(i) Assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate at the
date of that balance sheet;

(i)  Income and expenses for each income statement
and statement of comprehensive income are
translated at average exchange rates (unless
this average is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the rate on the dates of
the transactions); and

(i) All resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any. Historical cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition
of the items.

o Annual Report 2024
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Construction-in-progress (“CIP”) represents buildings,
plant and machinery under construction or pending
installation and is stated at cost less accumulated
impairment losses, if any. Cost includes the costs of
construction and acquisition and capitalised borrowing
costs. No provision for depreciation is made on CIP until
such time as the relevant assets are completed and
ready for intended use. When the assets concerned are
available for use, the costs are transferred to property,
plant and equipment and depreciated in accordance with
the policy as stated below.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of any component
accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when
replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are charged
to the income statement during the financial period in
which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method
to allocate the cost less impairment loss of each asset to
its residual value over its estimated useful life, as follows:

Buildings 20 years
Machinery and factory equipment 10 years
Vehicle, other equipment and fixtures 3-5 years

Leasehold improvements shorter of 5 years

or lease terms

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.
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2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.6

2.7

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.8).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and
are recognised within ‘Other gains — net’, in the income
statement.

Investment properties

Investment properties are defined as properties (land or
a building — or part of a building — or both) held (by the
owner or by the lessee under a finance lease) to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation or both, rather than for:
(@) use in the production of supply of goods or services
or for administrative purposes; or (b) sale in the ordinary
course of business.

Investment properties are initially recognised at cost
and subsequently carried at cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
Depreciation is calculated using a straight-line method
to allocate the depreciable amounts over the estimated
useful lives of 40 years. The residual values and useful
lives of investment properties are reviewed, and adjusted
as appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

The Group classifies cash outflows to acquire or

construct investment property as investing and rental
inflows as operating cash flows.

o Annual Report 2024



iR e M SRR M R

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B E2024F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

2 BARHMEABRME

=}

2.8

2.9

FERMBERE

EREDNEAFHZETLEES
REH MESEETREANS
UEASHHRINFEESHET
FIREH IR A ERETT ERERE
A -HMWEEEFHHRAE
AR BT AR BE WK Bl AR T B B
ETREAS - BREBEREE
SREEBBEEJKEISE Y =5
RO EAEERTE
BMHEMAREBBEEME 28
BE FERMEMS  BER
BREABBIAHRERANR
Bk#E - BREE EBIREM
EEHBEEMENZRERA RE
EEEA) N HRREZIFE
MEE (BERIN IRESREH
R E BB 2 BBl AT e 1 AT IR
5o

ETREE
2.9.1 548

FEBERHEETMEESES T

BT

« HERATEHE GIAR
fiv 2 U 30 B A SR 3) 2
SWMEE R

s REBHENAFEZEZME
Eo

NERTEREETRNEECE
BRANRBEREZ GHRRM
Fo

i—1 ¥ hEEAR B RA S Uni-President China Holdings Ltd.

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.8

2.9

Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are
not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for
impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that they might be impaired.
Other assets are tested for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels
for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows
which are largely independent of the cash inflows from
other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units).
Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered
an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at the end of each reporting period.

Financial assets
2.9.1 Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently at fair value
(either through OCI or through profit or loss), and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model
for managing the financial assets and the contractual
terms of the cash flows.
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2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.9 Financial assets (Continued)

2.9.1 Classification (Continued)

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will
either be recorded in the income statement or OCI. For
investments in equity instruments that are not held for
trading, the Group has made an irrevocable election at
the time of initial recognition to account for the equity
investment at financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”).

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only
when its business model for managing those assets
changes.

2.9.2 Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets
are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows
from the financial assets have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership.

2.9.3 Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss (‘FVPL”),
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of
financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in the
income statement.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining whether
their cash flows are solely payment of principal and
interest.
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classifies its debt instruments:

o Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash
flows represent solely payments of principal and
interest are measured at amortised cost. Interest
income from these financial assets is included in
finance income using the effective interest rate
method. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
is recognised directly in the income statement and
presented in other gains/(losses) together with
foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment
losses are presented as separate line item in the
income statement.

° FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL.
A gain or loss on a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at FVPL is recognised in
the income statement and presented net within
other gains/(losses) in the period in which it arises.
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2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.9 Financial assets (Continued)

2.9.3 Measurement (Continued)
Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments
at fair value. Where the Group’s management has
elected to present fair value gains and losses on
equity investments in OCI, there is no subsequent
reclassification of fair value gains and losses to the
income statement following the derecognition of the
investment. Dividends from such investments continue
to be recognised in the income statement as other
income when the Group’s right to receive payments is
established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL
are recognised in other gains/(losses) in the income
statement as applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal
of impairment losses) on equity investments measured at
FVOCI are not reported separately from other changes in
fair value.

2.9.4 Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its debt
instruments carried at amortised cost. The impairment
methodology applied depends on whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires
expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial
recognition of the receivables, see Note 3.1(b) for further
details.
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2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.10 Inventories

2.1

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted
average method. The cost of finished goods and work
in progress comprises raw materials, direct labour, other
direct costs and related production overheads (based on
normal operating capacity). It excludes borrowing costs.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
merchandise sold or services performed in the ordinary
course of business. If collection of trade and other
receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are
classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as
non-current assets.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional unless they
contain significant financing components, when they
are recognised at fair value. The Group holds the trade
receivables with the objective of collecting the contractual
cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently
at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
See Note 2.9.2 for further information about the Group’s
accounting for trade receivables and Note 2.9.4 and 3.1(b)
for a description of the Group’s impairment policies.

2.12 Cash and bank balances

For the purpose of presentation in the cash flow
statement, cash and cash equivalents includes cash
on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions,
other short-term, highly liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.13 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net
of tax, from the proceeds.

2.14 Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are obligations to pay for
goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary
course of business from suppliers. Trade and other
payable are classified as current liabilities if payment is
due within one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are presented
as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

2.15 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
stated at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in the income statement over the
period of the borrowings using the effective interest
method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the
draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for
liquidity services and amortised over the period of the
facility to which it relates.
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2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.15 Borrowings (Continued)

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the
reporting period.

Covenants that the Group is required to comply with, on
or before the end of the reporting period, are considered
in classifying loan arrangements with covenants as
current or non-current. Covenants that the Group is
required to comply with after the reporting period do not
affect the classification at the reporting date.

2.16 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until
such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the income
statement in the period in which they are incurred.

2.17 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense for the period comprises
current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the income
statement, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity. In this case the tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.
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2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.17 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(@) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date in the countries where the Company
and its subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates
operate and generate taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with
respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid
to the tax authorities.

(b) Deferred income tax
Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the financial statements. However, the
deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
other than a business combination that at the time of
the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable
profit or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences. Deferred income tax
is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been
enacted or substantially enacted by the balance sheet
date and are expected to apply when the related deferred
income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax
liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be
utilised.
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2.17 BHIRIEIEFRIEIR (B) 2.17 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)
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(b) Deferred income tax (Continued)
Outside basis differences

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for
temporary differences between the carrying amount and
tax bases of investments in subsidiaries, associates and
joint arrangements where the Company is able to control
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

(c) Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset where
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current income
tax assets against current income tax liabilities and where
the deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to
income taxed levied by the same taxation authority on
either the taxable entity or different taxable entities where
there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.

2.18 Employee benefits

Pension obligation - defined contribution plan

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which
the Group pays contributions to publicly or privately
administered pension insurance plans on a mandatory,
contractual or voluntary basis. The Group has no further
payment obligations once the contributions have been
paid. The contributions are recognised as employee
benefit expense when they are due.
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2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.18 Employee benefits (Continued)

Pension obligation - defined contribution plan
(Continued)

(@)  Employees of the Group in the Mainiand China

Pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations
in the Mainland China, employees of the Group in the
Mainland China participated in the central pension
scheme (“Scheme”), which is a defined contribution
plan administered by the Mainland China government,
whereby the Group is required to make contributions to
the Scheme based on certain percentages of the eligible
employees’ salaries. The local government authorities
are responsible for the entire pension obligations payable
to the retired employees. Contributions made to the
Scheme vest immediately.

(b)  Employees of the Group in Hong Kong

In compliance with the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws
of Hong Kong), employees of the Group in Hong Kong
are required to participate in the Mandatory Provident
Fund scheme of the Group (“MPF Scheme”). The MPF
Scheme is a defined contribution plan administered by an
independent corporate trustee. Under the MPF Scheme,
each of the Group and the employees are required to
make contributions to the MPF Scheme at 5% of the
employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly
relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the MPF
Scheme vest immediately.
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2.18 RE&EH (B) 2.18 Employee benefits (Continued)
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Pension obligation - defined contribution plan
(Continued)

(c)  Employees of the Group in Taiwan

Pursuant to the Labour Standards Law of Taiwan,
employees of the Group in Taiwan participated in the
Labour Pension Fund, which is a defined contribution
plan managed by the Bureau of Labour Funds as
governed by the Ministry of Labour in Taiwan (“Ministry of
Labour”). Under such plan, the Group is required to make
monthly contributions to the Bureau of Labour Insurance,
Ministry of Labour at 6.0% of the employees’ total
monthly wages. Contributions made to such pension
fund vest immediately.

The Group’s contributions under the above-mentioned
defined contribution plans in the Mainland China, Hong
Kong and Taiwan are expensed as incurred and not
reduced by contributions forfeited by those employees
who leave the defined contribution plans prior to vesting
fully in the contributions.

Pension obligation - defined benefit plan

Certain Taiwan employees of the Group elected to
participate in a defined benefit plan in accordance with
the Labour Standards Law of Taiwan (“Defined Benefit
Plan”). Under the Defined Benefit Plan, pension benefits
are calculated based on the years of service and average
monthly salary of the six months preceding retirement of
the relevant employee, and the Group is required to make
monthly contributions of 2% to 15% of the total monthly
wages of the employees to a pension fund (“Pension
Fund”). Pension contributions are deposited into the
Bank of Taiwan in the name of the pension fund provision
supervision committee of the Group. Before the end of
each financial year, the Group will assess the balance in
the Pension Fund. In the event that the balance in the
Pension Fund is insufficient to pay out pension benefits
to retiring employees in the following financial year, the
Group is required to pay up such difference on its own
account.
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2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.19 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events;
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably
estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future
operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is
determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of
an outflow with respect to any one item included in the
same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of
management’s best estimate of the expenditure required
to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the liability. The increase in the
provision due to the passage of time is recognised as
interest expense.

2.20 Revenue recognition

The Group manufactures and sells beverages and food.
Sales are recognised when control of the products has
transferred, being when the products are delivered to
the customer, the customer has full discretion over the
channel and price to sell the products, and there is no
unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customer’s
acceptance of the products. Delivery occurs when the
products have been shipped to the specific location, the
risks of obsolescence and loss have been transferred
to the customer, and either the customer has accepted
the products in accordance with the sales contract, the
acceptance provisions have lapsed, or the Group has
objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance have
been satisfied.
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2.20 WmHEsR (48) 2.20 Revenue recognition (Continued)
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The products are often sold with retrospective volume
discounts based on aggregate sales over a period of
time. Revenue from these sales is recognised based on
the price specified in the contract, net of the estimated
volume discounts. Accumulated experience is used to
estimate and provide for the discounts, and revenue is
only recognised to the extent that it is highly probable
that a significant reversal will not occur. A refund liability
(included in other payables and accruals) is recognised
for expected volume discounts payable to customers in
relation to sales. No significant element of financing is
deemed present as the sales are made with a credit term
of 60-90 days, which is consistent with market practice.

A receivable is recognised when the goods are delivered
as this is the point in time that the consideration is
unconditional because only the passage of time is
required before the payment is due.

The Group’s obligations to provide a refund for faulty
products are under the standard warranty terms.
Accumulated experience is used to estimate such returns
at the time of sale. Because of the large size and low
value of each individual product, the amount of products
returned were immaterial. It is highly probable that a
significant reversal in the cumulative revenue recognised
will not occur. Therefore, no refund liability for goods
return was recognized. The validity of this assumption
and the estimated amount of returns are reassessed at
each reporting date.

For certain payments to customers for promotion
activities, the Group did not provide a distinct good
or service to customers and therefore recorded as a
deduction of sales price.

The Group does not expect to have any contracts
containing financing components. As a consequence, the
Group does not adjust any of the transition prices for the
time value of money.
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2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.21 Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will
be received and the Group will comply with all attached
conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in the income statement over the period
necessary to match them with the costs that they are
intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to land use rights and
property, plant and equipment are included in non-
current liabilities as deferred government grants and are
credited to the income statement on a straight-line basis
over the expected lives of the related assets.

2.22 Interest income

Interest income on financial assets at amortised
cost calculated using the effective interest method is
recognised in the income statement as part of other
income.

Interest income is presented as finance income where
it is earned from financial assets that are held for cash
management purposes, see Note 10 below. Any other
interest income is included in other income.

2.23 Leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased
asset is available for use by the Group.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives
receivable.
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2.23 THE (&) 2.23 Leases (Continued)

RECEEERANESEMFLN
BENRITEF ABRHNEE-

HENMMEBHEEMBSHE
FUURLR - A EEZA X (£
EEMNEE-RBIEER 8
ERABANEEMERF R BE
B ZATE AR S RSB IR IR R 1R 48
U TR IR R I 5 A S
EREEEBEALUNEEMS
BEEAXARIFEK

RETEREBERA R AER

. HEAEERT ERENX
HARTEGNE= SHE
2 BB (E B 5 DU B S
195 = R LURBLE 15
B ;

s ERENZ BEMNEAEE
FIFAEHEENEERR (&
LU EF=ME) AEE
RBEHE ; K

o ETRENRBEANREH
AR N BR ~ B KR o

HEMNRRAEERBEREZH
EEDEC- R E M AEHEHME
REB@mERNG FULSHBEN
BEFREBVIBMNE K-

Hi—> ¥ hEZERAERAT Uni-President China Holdings Ltd. ¢ Annual Report 2024 %3 1 31 4

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement
of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the
Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used,
being the rate that the individual lessee would have to
pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset
of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment with similar terms, security and
conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

° where possible, uses recent third-party financing
received by the individual lessee as a starting point,
adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions
since third party financing was received;

° uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free
interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held
by the Group, which does not have recent third
party financing; and

° makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term,
country, currency and security.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to income
statement over the lease period so as to produce a
constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability for each period.
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2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.23 Leases (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

° the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability; and

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on
a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases of
equipment and vehicles and all leases of low-value
assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an
expense in the income statement. Short-term leases are
leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value
assets comprise IT equipment and small items of office
furniture.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is
a lessor is recognised in income on a straight-line basis
over the lease term (Note 16). Initial direct costs incurred
in obtaining an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the underlying asset and recognised as
expense over the lease term on the same basis as lease
income. The respective leased assets are included in the
balance sheet based on their nature.

H— ¥R EERARZAT Uni-President China Holdings Ltd. ¢ Annual Report 2024 &%



_ | ARMISmARNE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B E2024F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

2 BEAREMIGAHERHME 2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
(48) ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

224 FARBBRIAEE 2.24 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
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A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises
from past events and whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more uncertain future events not wholly within the
control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation
arising from past events that is not recognised because
it is not probable that outflow of economic resources
will be required or the amount of obligation cannot be
measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed
in the financial statements. When a change in the
probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow is
probable, it will then be recognised as a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from
past events and whose existence will be confirmed only
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
uncertain events not wholly within the control of the
Group.

A contingent asset is not recognised but is disclosed in
the notes to the financial statements when an inflow of
economic benefits is probable. When inflow is virtually
certain, an asset is recognised.

2.25 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders
is recognised as a liability in the Group’s and the
Company’s financial statements in the period in which the
dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders.



4= A
i 3

FA 75 3k 2R Pt X

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HZE2024F 1283310 LEFEE For the year ended 31 December 2024

2 BEARHEMEEREE

("g)

134

2.26 Hth&stER

2.26.1 EHEE

BABKMBARESKSERR
A BAR AR T E £ Z A
WMEETLERE - RFRETS
RSt R FHA2E0F #iE -

2262 iiEEHMITA

MEIBERMTEIRGWNEIULE
BEAFENRES HEEA
FEREREHREFAE -2
FTEREEHZESRIEIORN
ZMETIRARSRIEEAE T
B IS ERHE TR BIBUR
REHPEBZMHE NEBE
BZTMETIRIANEHTES
ZR TR AFESFAEBRAR
AR AR EH P S ERNZIT
EFTREZRAFEINAEZE  &KAD
R R S Bm R ARSI s A TH
fthFE—FE -

2263 IHTHT A

EMEEREGEGFERE MR
BRI ABIAMITEMNRHEE
BREEMRAELFREARESE
NERSREENSEARR
HEEEBRINKRZ FER AR
LRI B BTN A REFH
BEAMERLABLEEEFTS
RIEABDHHFHHRIRIE E
FERRF IR ZE By P] S8 HI BT o

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.26 Other accounting policies

2.26.1 Intangible assets

Acquired computer software is capitalised on the basis
of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the
specific software. These costs are amortised over the
estimated useful life of 2-5 years.

2.26.2 Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting
period. The accounting for subsequent changes in fair
value depends on whether the derivative is designed
as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of item
being hedged. Derivative instruments held by the Group
do not qualify for hedge accounting and are accounted
for at fair value through profit or loss. Changes in fair
value of these derivative instruments that do not qualify
for hedge accounting are recognised immediately in
the consolidated income statement and are included in
‘Other gains — net’.

2.26.3 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the balance sheet when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The
legally enforceable right must not be contingent on future
events and must be enforceable in the normal course
of business and in the event of default, insolvency or
bankruptcy of the company or the counterparty.
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2.26 HME st EER (8) 2.26 Other accounting policies (Continued)
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2.26.4 Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their
carrying amount will be recovered principally through a
sale transaction rather than through continuing use and
a sale is considered highly probable. They are measured
at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less
costs to sell, except for assets such as deferred tax
assets, assets arising from employee benefits, financial
assets and investment property that are carried at fair
value and contractual rights under insurance contracts,
which are specifically exempt from this requirement.

An impairment loss is recognised for any initial or
subsequent write-down of the asset to fair value less
costs to sell. A gain is recognised for any subsequent
increases in fair value less costs to sell of an asset,
but not in excess of any cumulative impairment loss
previously recognised. A gain or loss not previously
recognised by the date of the sale of the non-current
asset is recognised at the date of derecognition.

Non-current assets are not depreciated or amortised
while they are classified as held for sale. Interest
and other expenses attributable to the liabilities of a
disposal group classified as held for sale continue to be
recognised.

Non-current assets classified as held for sale and the
assets of a disposal group classified as held for sale are
presented separately from the other assets in the balance
sheet. The liabilities of a disposal group classified as held
for sale are presented separately from other liabilities in
the balance sheet.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk and
cash flow and fair value interest rate risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management
program focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects
on the Group’s financial performance.

(@) Market risk
() Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates internationally and is exposed to
foreign exchange risk arising from various currency
exposures, primarily with respect to the USD for certain
PRC subsidiaries whose functional currency are RMB.
Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial
transactions, recognised assets and liabilities and net
investments in foreign operations.

Management has set up a policy to require Group
companies to manage their foreign exchange risk
against their functional currency. To manage their foreign
exchange risk arising from future commercial transactions
and recognised assets and liabilities, entities in the Group
use forward contracts outside the PRC, transacted by
Group treasury. Foreign exchange risk arises when future
commercial transactions or recognised assets or liabilities
are denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s
functional currency.

Most of the Group entities’ functional currency is RMB
since majority of the revenues of these entities are
derived from operations in Mainland China. Foreign
exchange risk arises from recognised assets or liabilities,
such as trade and bills receivables (Note 22) and
cash and bank balances (Note 25), part of which are
denominated in United States dollar (“USD”) and Hong
Kong dollar (‘HKD”).

o Annual Report 2024



_ | ARMISmARNE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B E2024F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

3 HERKEEIE (&) 3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(CONTINUED)

31 HHBEEBEZR (@) 3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
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(@) Market risk (Continued)
0 Foreign exchange risk (Continueq)

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk, price
risk, and cash flow and fair value interest rate risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk
management program focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse
effects on the Group’s financial performance.

As at 31 December 2024, if RMB had strengthened/
weakened by 5% against USD and HKD with all
other variables held constant, the post-tax profit for
the year ended 31 December 2024 would have been
approximately RMB367,000 lower/higher (2023:
RMB397,000 lower/higher), mainly as a result of foreign
exchange losses/gains on translation of USD and HKD
denominated cash and bank balances.
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3 HMBEMEIRE (&) 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)
31 HMBREEEER (@ 3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(a) THHEE () (a) Market risk (Continued)
0 SNEEE G () Foreign exchange risk (Continued)
J2 B 7 A Exposure
THRHEIAEBRRSHERTE The Group’s major exposure to foreign currency risk at
AERSME BB UAR T T the end of the reporting period, expressed in RMB’000,
&) : was as follows:
SAE A
WNETEE WBTEHE SMEstE
Other foreign
usD HKD currencies

denominated denominated denominated

120245128318 As at 31 December 2024
Re Cash 1,427 2,761 5,430
EREZER Trade receivables 172 4,928 =
F*2023%12A318 As at 31 December 2023
Re Cash 1,345 3,784 2,107
S E RS Trade receivables 1,626 3,831 =
RIEERER 2 SXE Amounts recognised in the income statement
FRENRBRmRER T Z I E During the year, the following foreign-exchange related
MERIEEE - amounts were recognised in the income statement:
2024 2023
AR®TT ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BE WA — 358 Finance income — net
—MEEHEREIE - Foreign exchange losses on
financing activities (38,751) (5,374)
1 38 H— ¥R EERARZAT Uni-President China Holdings Ltd. ¢ Annual Report 2024 &%
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(CONTINUED)

3 MBRAKER (B

3.1 MBRBREZR (8

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
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BRERIEMFRURE S RIRT
rEER (MysE25) REE (HFE30)
MY S U ARHEIHR KA Z AT
Bt ABmNEREE (i5E24)
Sho> REBRTEEREME KRG
BEEKAR-

FEBZHAXRABRKBRTER
REE-FRBRTERREES
FEBAZRERBAMEXEAR
MmiEsERREERERRZA
FEMKRER ~ERTERE
ReRERNFENRARESD
FEAHF-RITERRBERNA
R F 5 B B 1S MY 5E 26 e Y
5130°

R2024%F 128318 > % Fr A Efth
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EENEEREHE
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(@) Market risk (Continued)
(i) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

Except for long-term time deposits and cash and bank
balances (Note 25) and borrowings (Note 30) with
interest charges and financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (Note 24) with expected return rate, the
Group has no other significant interest-bearing assets
and liabilities.

The Group’s interest-rate risk arises from bank deposits
and borrowings. Bank deposits and borrowings at
variable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest-rate
risk, and if at fixed rates expose the Group to fair value
interest-rate risk. The Group has not hedged its cash flow
and fair value interest rate risk. The interest rates and
terms of bank deposits and borrowings are disclosed in
Note 25 and Note 30 respectively.

As at 31 December 2024, if interest rates on bank
deposits and borrowings had been 100 basis points
higher/lower with all other variables held constant,
the post-tax profit for the year would have been
approximately RMB62,819,000 (2023: RMB49,311,000)
higher/lower, mainly as a result of higher/lower interest
income on bank balances which would offset partially by
interest expenses on borrowings.

The Group’s cash flow interest-rate risk arises from
wealth management products with variable return
rates, which are mainly structured deposits carried at
FVPL. The Group has not hedged its variable return
rates. The expected return rates and terms of financial
assets at FVPL are disclosed in Note 3.3.1 and Note 24
respectively.

As at 31 December 2024, if expected return rates on
financial assets at FVPL had been 100 basis points
higher/lower, the post-tax profit for the year would
have been approximately RMB7,417,000 (2023:
RMB4,528,000) higher/lower.
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3.1
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MHRREEER (&)
(b) EEmELE

FERBKRERTEARSSE
W)~ B A A FER A
BmflRNEHIRAZENERE
M REBRIRITREMERBEN
BE URMERTEEZERNIE
B BERERZ ERRIE -

() ERERE

EERRBUAEGFEFRAREE -1
2024128318 BHARITER
RIETRENENREERTAR
BAHEERRRENERMEE-
TRETERSHEDHNIRTHE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(CONTINUED)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents,
contractual cash flows of debt instruments carried at
amortised cost and at FVPL, and deposits with banks
and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures to
wholesale and retail customers, including outstanding
receivables.

(1) Risk management

Credit risk is managed on a group basis. As at 31
December 2024, the bank deposits and cash at bank
were deposited in reputable financial institutions which
are considered with low credit risk. The table below
shows bank deposits and cash at bank balances by

MR IRITIR B4R counterparties:
2024 2023
ARBETT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
R3H Counterparties
—PgKH WER1T* - Big 4 PRC domestic banks* 76,946 200,731
—SNEIRTT — Foreign owned banks 7,372,988 5,075,393
—HMEAEERIT — Other domestic commercial banks 1,126,050 2,286,469
8,575,984 7,562,593
* s WIRITEEFRET * Big 4 PRC domestic banks comprise Industrial and

BIRTROBRLAE -FER
FRTEROABRLE P EIR
TROERABDKRPEERIR
TRMPBRAT -

Commercial Bank of China Limited, Agricultural Bank
of China Limited, Bank of China Limited and China
Construction Bank Corporation.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

3 MBRAKER (B

31 BMERRAZR (@& 3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) FEEEE (&)
() EREE )

HEHEZRZHILFR A
RZEFH -8 HEREEIL
i RBREREFEERHGE
BEE FARZEBHBBRR B
FERMEMAR -RREFS
RERRS BEARRKRESZ
MEBRIN SRR E - EiREE
BEMEERHEEZRHEREE
ESPESHIEPIES

AER BRI ERERERER
MEAREEER EERBERED
RITAREE DHRZFRRE
MEEFRIREERITREMS
B AR EMmIRTT  80h LR
7817) - EEEBRIAZERSH
TEROTSBMEREE-

FEEREBEILANRERRES
BERKE - mEMEERE &
EREEERENEATR-

(i) EFHEERE

FEEARIEENRYE SRR
B TRAEEREEN -

BERERBITEH BHRRE
REHEREMRITRETEAY
RS ERFSRBBMERE B
BRI ERELAEKX-
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(b) Credit risk (Continued)
() Risk management (Continued)

If wholesale customers are independently rated, these
ratings are used. Otherwise, if there is no independent
rating, risk control assesses the credit quality of the
customer, taking into account its financial position, past
experience and other factors. Individual risk limits are set
based on internal or external ratings in accordance with
limits set by the board. The compliance with credit limits
by wholesale customers is regularly monitored by line
management.

The Group expects that there is no significant credit risk
associated with bills receivables, all of which are bank
acceptance bills since they are substantially deposited
at or issued by state-owned banks and other medium
or large sized listed banks. Management does not
expect that there will be any significant losses from non-
performance by these counterparties.

The Group’s investment in debt instruments are
considered to be low risk investments. The credit ratings
of the investments are monitored for credit deterioration.

(i) Impairment of financial assets

The Group has trade receivables for sales of goods that
are subject to the expected credit loss model.

While cash and bank balances, bills receivable and long-
term time deposits are also subject to the impairment
requirements of HKFRS 9, the identified impairment loss
was immaterial.
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(b) 1EEmEE (&)

i) ZHEERE )
FE & 5 BR X
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)
(i) Impairment of financial assets (Continueq)

Trade receivables

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables from
initial recognition. To measure the expected credit losses,
trade receivables have been grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics and the days past due. On that
basis, the loss allowance as at 31 December 2024 and
31 December 2023 was determined as follows for trade

H ¥ 7E A9 FE UK B 5 BR =X AN 5 18 5 receivables:
BRI
RO0XA  91E180X 181E365Kk  —ELE “st
Within 91 to 181 to Over
90 days 180 days 365 days one year Total
20245128318 31 December 2024
BHRSBLE Expected loss rate 0.54% 15.63% 83.96%  100.00%
BEmE Gross carrying amount
W E B — trade receivables 572,491 29,934 5,874 4,14 612,440
BiaRE Loss allowance 3,073 4,679 4,932 4,141 16,825
POOXA  91E180K 181E3/5K  —FLE 1Bt
Within 91to 18110 Over
90 days 180 days 365 days one year Total
2023%F12831H 31 December 2023
BEBBEILE Expected loss rate 0.60% 13.39% 64.84% 100.00%
BIREE Gross carrying amount
-FEREZER —trade receivables 541,047 47 141 2,895 10,597 601,680
BiERE Loss allowance 3,247 6,312 1877 10,597 22,033

H— ¥R EERARZAT Uni-President China Holdings Ltd. ¢ Annual Report 2024 &%
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3 MBRAKER (B

3.1

MHBEERER (&)

(b) EEmEE (&)

(i) EHEERE
FEURL & 5 8RR (48)
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MH ARG RBEERADEFE
BEBYIROT

B E2024F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)
(i) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

The closing loss allowances for trade receivables as
at 31 December 2024 reconcile to the opening losses
allowances as follows:

2024 2023
ARBETT AREEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
R1B1BMEHY Opening loss allowance as at 1 January
BERE 22,033 19,644
FARIEGERERTH Increase in loss allowance recognised in
EE R IE N (MY5E6)  the income statement during the year
(Note 6) 2,614 2,393
REAREARTH B Receivables written off during
RIS 3 B FE U IE the year as uncollectible (7,822) 4)
MR12831HH Closing loss allowance as at
FREBEE 31 December 16,825 22,033

ENFEANWRENGERRAR
FEBSHMBRBEZ KRR A
FEAWEN G ERRNEREE
(Haf) G ABEREER
ENEMSEIREAMARES
60H E90H (EAHD) BIRMIEH
CEEANE/

i—1 ¥ hEEAR B RA S Uni-President China Holdings Ltd.

Trade receivables are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that
there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include,
amongst others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a
repayment plan with the Group, and a failure to make
contractual payments for a period greater than 60-90
days past due (credit terms).

o Annual Report 2024 F#§
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3 MBRAKER (@

31 MBEREAZR (@ 3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
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(b) Credit risk (Continued)
(i) Impairment of financial assets (Continueq)

Trade receivables (Continued)

Impairment losses on trade receivables are presented as
net impairment losses within operating profit. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited
against the same line item.

Other financial assets at amortised cost

Other financial assets at amortised cost include other
receivables. Impairment on other receivables is measured
as either 12-month expected credit losses or lifetime
expected credit loss, depending on whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. If a significant increase in credit risk of a
receivable has occurred since initial recognition, then
impairment is measured as lifetime expected credit
losses. As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, there was
no increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, other receivables
within the Group mainly include interest receivables,
amounts due from related parties and other deposits.

o Interest receivables arise from time deposits in
state-owned banks and other medium or large
sized listed banks institutions which are considered
with low credit risk;
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3 HERKEEIE (&) 3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(CONTINUED)

31 BMERRAZR (@& 3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) EEmEE (&)
(i) TAAEERE &
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B35
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(b) Credit risk (Continued)
(i) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Other financial assets at amortised cost (Continued)

° Amounts due from related parties are considered
as low credit risk which mainly arise from
the subsidiaries of Uni-President Enterprises
Corporation, ultimate holding company of the
Group, which has a A grade credit rating issued by
Taiwan Ratings Corp., a subsidiary of internationally
renowned credit rating agency S&P Global Rating

Historically, all other receivables were collected on timely
basis. Management assesses and concludes that these
receivables are considered to be low credit risk where
they have a low risk of default and have a strong capacity
to meet the contractual cash flow obligations in the
near term. And thus, the identified impairment loss is
immaterial.

Net impairment losses on financial assets recognised in
the income statement

During the year, the following losses were recognised
in ‘net impairment losses’ in the income statement in
relation to impaired financial assets:

2024 2023
ARETFT ABETIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FEUN B 5 IR =AY Movement in loss allowance for
EIEEHEEE) trade receivables 2,614 2,393
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i) Financial assets at FVPL

The Group’s financial assets at FVPL are comprised
of term bank products (principal protected), structured
deposit and investment fund considered to be low risk
investments. The credit ratings of the investments are
monitored for credit deterioration (Note 24).

(c) Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining
sufficient cash and cash equivalents, the availability of
fund through an adequate amount of committed credit
facilities to meet obligations when due and to close out
market positions. The Group’s objective is to maintain
adequate committed credit facilities to ensure sufficient
and flexible funding is available to the Group.

o Annual Report 2024
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3 HMBEMEIRE (8 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)
31 BMERRAZR (@& 3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(c) FEEZEE () (c) Liquidity risk (Continued)
TRAETEBE ZEMEBED N The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities
ZEERNEEBEESNRE that will be settled on a net basis into relevant maturity
Z BT HARR R AN B R I HA4E groupings based on the remaining period at the balance
MAGEE RAFBESERAS sheet date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts
ARWEIRIFERE o disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted
cash flows.

PR-£  —E@RE CZERE HBBRLE st
Between Between
Less than 1 and 2 and Over
1 year 2 years 5years 5years Total
ARETR ARBTT ARETR ARBTT ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

#2024%12831H  As at 31 December 2024

B8 Borrowings 201,264 = - - 201,264
BENERR Interest payments on borrowings 2,041 - - - 2,041
HEAE Lease liabilities 31,256 20,486 31,835 12,005 95,582
AN EA Trade payables 2,283,504 = - - 2,283,504
AtEMTIER Other payables and accruals,

FEEHER (excluding non-financial liabilties)

(R EEERER 2,259,588 - - - 2,259,588
HEMESEMZIE  Other long term payables = 408,211 - - 408,211

4,777,653 428,697 31,835 12,005 5,250,190

#2023%E12H31H  As at 31 December 2023

(L Borrowings 990,647 - - - 990,647
BEFEAR Interest payments on borrowings 6,032 = = = 6,032
HEaR Lease liabilities 28,658 17,875 29,088 21,609 97,230
BB ZIRN Trade payables 2,122,561 - = - 2,122,561
AttERTIER Other payables and accruals,

B ER (excluding non-financial liabilities)

(FaEFERaR) 1,604,382 - - - 1,604,382
EfRMECTIE  Other long term payables - 333,311 - - 333,311

4,752,280 351,186 29,088 21,609 5,154,163
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(CONTINUED)

3.1

3.2

Financial risk factors (Continued)
(c) Liquidity risk (Continued)

Interests payments on borrowings are calculated based
on borrowings held as at the balance sheet dates without
taking into account of future issues. Floating-rate interest
is estimated using the current interest rate as at the
balance sheet dates.

Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to:

° safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, so that they can continue to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders; and

o maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the
cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce
debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group
monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This
ratio is calculated as net cash divided by total equity.
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3 HMBEMEIRE (8 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)
3.2 BEAXREMERE (&) 3.2 Capital risk management (Continued)
§120244F > AEE IS (812023 During 2024, the Group’s strategy, which was
FHRE) RREABBLERERT unchanged from 2023, was to maintain a gearing ratio
B 50% ° iR20244F 2023412 below 50%. The gearing ratios at 31 December 2024
B1EMERSBLEENT : and 2023 are as follows:

2024 2023

ARBETT AREFT

RMB’000 RMB’000

WEE (BEHEEA® Total borrowings

(I 5E15 R FI5E30) (including lease liabilities)
(Note 15 and Note 30) 289,996 1,079,435

B BEEHRERE  Less: long-term time deposits

RE& MIRTTAEER and cash and bank balances

(MizE25) (Note 25) (8,577,196) (7,565,454)
RE3E8 Net cash (8,287,200) (6,486,019)
“ERER Total equity 13,399,110 13,382,377
BXRBMEEXR Gearing ratio -61.85% -48.47%
HRAEEERFRER R & The Group’s gearing ratio as at 31 December 2024 was
EEN2024F12831HNELRE negative since the Group is in net cash position.
BLEEAEBH -
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3 HMBEMEIRE (&) 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)
3.3 RAFEMHE 3.3 Fair value estimation
TRUGEEDMIERFETE The table below analyses financial instruments carried at
ZEMTHRH-FBREATWT : fair value by valuation method. The different levels have

been defined as follows:

e HEEEFEETIEETS e Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
HRE REHEE) (F1E) o identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

e  RTYFHI1EBFEENHREN e Inputs other than quoted prices included within
ZEENBBZEZEE A level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
B roaBERE GHuwE®) either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is,
S EE BREBER) (2 derived from prices) (level 2).
[E) o

e EEFEBRAUIFKREBEAIER e Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based
THEEBEZBAE (BT on observable market data (that is, unobservable
W= AE) ($B3E) - inputs) (level 3).

AEBRBEEF2BREIBAF The Group did not change any valuation techniques in

1B BF L >R 88 PUE AT fi (B 52 1l © determining the level 2 and level 3 fair values.
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3 MBRAKER (B

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(CONTINUED)

3.3 ATEMGE (@

TRERKEBRSRE EN2024
FH2023F12A31HE 2 AT

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

The following table presents the Group’s financial assets
that are measured at fair value at 31 December 2024 and

Bo 2023.
20244 20234
12831H 12831H
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
AR®TT ARETIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BE Assets
BAFEF ARG FVPL (Note 24)
(BfF5E24)
— 3= —Level 3 1,676,730 1,618,682

REE2024F12B31HLIEFE >
HEERTAAFEMERRF
EEARELEEHESE AE
REEZEEEBNNERMNK
BEMEENDE

3.3.1 BAEATATHEHA B
BRFE (B3E)

AREERETSHMEBTILIMNE
EHEsNEBVEREN %5
EHNNREEBBRERARMEAR
NEEFABGHNEHREE R
2024F12831H > KEDIEH E
@B R AEN T ESRILE
BE SEEBEENEFHRERE
REETE TEZENERRE
BMEMe

Hi—> ¥ hEZERAERAT Uni-President China Holdings Ltd. ¢ Annual Report 2024 %3

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there are no
transfers among levels of the fair value hierarchy used in
measuring the fair value of financial instruments, and also
no changes in the classification of financial assets as a
result of a change in the purpose or use of those assets.

3.3.1 Fair value measurements using significant
unobservable inputs (Level 3)

The Group enters into the wealth management products
contracts with relatively higher interest rates with certain
financial institutions. These are reflected as financial
assets at FVPL on the balance sheet. As at 31 December
2024, most of the wealth management products are
bought from the major financial institutions in Mainland
China and management has exercised due care when
making investment decision focusing only on low risk
wealth management products.
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3 HMBEMEIRE (&) 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)
3.3 AT EMHE @ 3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)
3.3.1 BHEAFTEREBA (G5 3.3.1 Fair value measurements using significant
BERTE (E3E) (4B) unobservable inputs (Level 3) (Continued)
TREYEHE2024F12831H 1k The following table presents the changes in level 3
FEMNEIETAEH - instruments for the year ended 31 December 2024.
BATESA
Ei=Fnd:)
EREE
Financial
assets
at FVPL
ARETT
RMB’000
FHAEER Opening balance 1,618,682
A0 Additions 2,060,000
HERAFESAER Gains on disposal of financial assets at FVPL
NEMEEZFRF 29,746
BT EFABRN Change in value of financial assets at FVPL
THEEZBEEZE 26,730
WERBIFR1ZFRIE Proceeds received (2,058,428)
FEREEER Closing balance 1,676,730
FRFBEZEENREBERRP Total unrealised gains for the year recognised in
mesdar 25 T 2 A the income statement for assets held at the end
—RERITETNFEER of the year, under ‘Other gains — net’
REIRAE 26,730
1 52 H— ¥R EERARZAT Uni-President China Holdings Ltd. ¢ Annual Report 2024 &%
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MEEREER (&)

(CONTINUED)

3.3 AFEMLE @

3.3.1 BAEATFATHEHA B
BEATE (BB @)

BREHEAT TBRHA E
BRATENEEEH (F3E)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

3.3.1 Fair value measurements using significant
unobservable inputs (Level 3) (Continued)

Quantitative information about fair value measurements
using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3)

120245
128310 FABREHAE
i HNATE (hERKI FHBERBAE #E - HEATENRER
Relationship of
Fair value at Valuation Unobservable unobservable inputs
Description 31/12/2024 technique(s) input Range to fair value
ARBFT
RMB’000
RETETHKE 1,676,730 MRRENE FHEABIR = 1.45-413%  meRBERERE
BOIREL ANEEEMARY
5,337,0007T ; &
BRBRERELE
REERD AR
10,810,0007¢T
Wealth management 1,676,730 Discounted Expected retun 1.45-4.13% Highest expected
products from cash flow rate return rate would
major financial increase fair value
institutions by RMB5,337,000;
lowest expected
return rate would
decrease fair value by
RMB10,810,000
420234
12H31H TARRHAE
Eii:pan NATE  (HERKI FrIBREHAE #E - EAQTENREG
Relationship of
Fair value at  Valuation Unobservable unobservable inputs to
Description 31/12/2023  technique(s) input Range fair value
ARBTFIT
RMB’000
RE T ELRISH 1618682 MEELME BHERE 150-450% — BEEHEHREEE
HOIREL E REEEMAR
1,638,0007T ; R1ETE
HRIRE R A TE
AR 12,262,000
TT
Wealth management 1,618,682  Discounted Expected return 1.50-4.50% Highest expected
products from cash flow rate return rate would
major financial increase fair value
institutions by RMB1,638,000;

lowest expected
return rate would
decrease fair value by
RMB2,262,000
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(CONTINUED)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

3.3.2 Valuation processes

The finance department of the Group includes a team
that performs the valuations of financial assets at FVPL
required for financial reporting purposes, including level
3 fair values. Discussions of valuation processes and
results are held between the management and the
valuation team at least once every six months, in line with
the Group’s half-yearly reporting periods.

The main level 3 inputs used by the Group are return
rates of the financial assets at FVPL which are derived
and evaluated based on the yield rate written in contracts
by the counterparties.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated. They are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that may have a financial impact
on the Group and that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

41

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions
concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates
will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results.
The estimates and assumptions that have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year are discussed below.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4 FARGSHEFERAE (B

4.1 FARESHEE KRR (@)

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

(@) FiRRREEMFREE

FEBTE2RNPEBMFAE
Mo EREMSRZEBRAF
HEXRHE - RERXZ KR EMR
BB BRI TS E R N HEE
By REBAMS ARG T AR
MERSNMR IR LU TR B AR 75 38 %
FERINER - HMZFFEEZR
RRMBERRBENCHRARZE
BAR ZFEZBEREFTEET
MIEMEZ ERELERSRNE
ERhEEe

ERETEREEERNEBRE
ZIEJEFFISMEEC TR R
E B EEER AP IS AR RER
Aeis A > DU S HE 8 B HE 40 B By
MERNMIERIE

TR IREFRRMAN B R RS
Ryt B BREEENMG
5110% > Bl E @ AF T, m
FEIERIBE E AR 114,657,000
7t (20234 : AR 122,463,000
JT) °

(b) LTHEFERYE BER
REZ 15 HE

THERERDE BB KRRE
RHREEREELEBTARLY
BE IR (o] AR I (B Ry 1T R (B 2 B ©
AREEREDREERAEEFE
BE =S8R TEERA
i Ko it 51 o
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(Continued)
(a) Income taxes and deferred income tax assets

The Group is mainly subject to income taxes in the
PRC. Significant judgment is required in determining the
provision for income taxes. There are many transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination
is uncertain. The Group recognises liabilities for
anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of
whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts
that were initially recorded, such differences will impact
the current and deferred income tax assets and liabilities
in the period in which such determination is made.

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain
temporary differences and tax losses are recognised as
management considers it is probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences or tax losses can be utilized.

Were the actual final outcome (on the judgment areas)
of future taxable income favourable/unfavourable by
10% from management’s estimates, the Group would
need to increase/decrease the deferred tax assets by
RMB14,657,000 (2023: RMB22,463,000).

(b) Estimated impairment of land use rights and
property, plant and equipment

Land use right and property, plant and equipment are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts may
not be recoverable. The recoverable amounts have been
determined based on value-in-use calculations. These
calculations require the use of judgments and estimates.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4.1

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(Continued)

(b) Estimated impairment of land use rights and
property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Management judgment is required in the area of asset
impairment particularly in assessing: (i) whether an event
has occurred that may indicate that the related assets
values may not be recoverable; (i) whether the carrying
value of an asset can be supported by the recoverable
amount, being the higher of fair value less costs to
sell or net present value of future cash flows which are
estimated based upon the continued use of the asset in
the business; and (iii) the appropriate key assumptions
to be applied in preparing cash flow projections and
whether these cash flow projections are discounted using
an appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions selected
by management in assessing impairment, including the
discount rates or the growth rate assumptions in the
cash flow projections, could materially affect the net
present value in the impairment test and as a result affect
the Group’s financial position and results of operations.
If there is a significant adverse change in the projected
performance and resulting future cash flow projections,
it may be necessary to take an impairment charge to the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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B E2024F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The chief operating decision-maker has been identified as
the executive directors. The executive directors review the
Group’s internal reporting in order to assess performance and
allocate resources. Management has determined the operating
segments based on these reports.

The executive directors consider the business from a
product perspective as over 90% of the Group’s sales and
business activities are conducted in the PRC. From a product
perspective, management assesses the performance of
beverages, food, others and unallocated.

Others mainly includes the sales of bottle water, wine,
cosmetics products and other non-beverages or non-food
products. Unallocated mainly includes the cost centers of
the Group, such as corporate department, administration
department, group finance department, human resources
department and information technology department, which
support the whole Group’s activities.

The executive directors assess the performance of operating
segments based on segment profit or loss. Other information
provided, except as noted below, to the executive directors
is measured in a manner consistent with that in the financial
statements.

The majority of the Group’s sales are through distributors and
no revenue from transactions with a single external customer
account for 10% or more of the Group’s revenue.
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DEER

(CONTINUED)

(@

B F20244F %2023F 1284318 1k

Segment information

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The segment information for the year ended 31

FEZDEERNMT December 2024 and 2023 is as follows:
2024
Bkt Bm Hith KA FE£E
Beverages Food Others Unallocated Group
AR%EFT ARETR ARETR ARETR AREFR
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000  RMB’000
DHER Segment results
Wi Revenue 19,240,555 9,998,240 1,092,717 - 380,331,512
PEvEE/ (B8 Segment profit/(loss) 2,285,966 270,185 87,007  (399,343) 2,243,905
MEWA—FE Finance income - net - - = 180,485 180,485
LU A N BR 2 FEfh Share of profit/(loss) of
REEN,/ (58 investments accounted for
using the equity method 60,060 - - (676) 59,384
PRETEMANRF Profit before income tax 2,483,774
kS ha Income tax expense (634,655)
FERF Profit for the year 1,849,119
TEREH Depreciation and amortisation 726,400 275,015 22,946 78,650 1,103,011
BE Assets 8,977,062 4,093,212 1,056,300 8,372,183 22,498,757
MgmEANRZRE Investments accounted for
using the equity method 724,827 - - 152,650 877,477
wEE Total assets 9,701,889 4,093,212 1,056,300 8,524,833 23,376,234
=NES Liabilities 5,308,443 3,876,958 411,893 379,830 9,977,124
ek Total liabilities 9,977,124
REFRBEE Addition to non-current assets 576,567 97,718 38,418 16,012 728,715

#F—1 ¥ hE PG AR /2 E Uni-President China Holdings Ltd.
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5 WEKkDEBER (B) 5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)
() AHIEE @ (@) Segment information (Continued)
2023
Rt B =gy KO KEE
Beverages Food Others  Unallocated Group
ABETT ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR
RMB'O00O  RMBOO0  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000
W ES Segment results
Wa Revenue 17,775,543 9,846,833 968,895 - 28,591,271
DEER/ (BE) Segment profit/(oss) 1,878,380 77,368 66,460 (25,748) 1,996,460
HEWA—FE Finance income - net = = = 193,550 193,550
DUB R E AR 2 1 Share of profit/(loss) of
REHN/ (58 investments accounted for
using the equity method 51,246 S S (1,332) 49,914
BRAEMANRR Profit before income tax 2,239,924
FiRES Income tax expense (572,864)
FEGH Profit for the year 1,667,060
E R Depreciation and amortisation 736,455 298,466 34,082 62,768 1,131,771
BE Assets 8281274 3641447 031,081 8434819 21,288,621
MBS EARZEE Investments accounted for
using the equity method 692,271 - - 153,326 845,597
BEE Total assets 8973545 3641447 031,081 8,588,145 22,134,218
& Liabilties 4090463 3,162,645 329520 1,169213 8,751,841
BaB Total liabilities 8,751,841
REFREEE Addition to non-current assets 811,905 215,881 35,730 15,282 1,078,798

i—1 ¥ hEEAR B RA S Uni-President China Holdings Ltd.
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5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

(@) Segment information (Continued)

and related right-of-use assets.

tax liabilities and borrowings.

properties and intangible assets.

Assets grouped under unallocated category consisted
primarily of deferred income tax assets, financial assets
at FVPL, cash and bank balances, investment properties

Liabilities grouped under unallocated category comprised
primarily of deferred income tax liabilities, current income

Capital expenditure comprised additions to property,
plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, investment

The total of non-current assets located in different

mr countries is as follows:
2024 2023
AR¥F ANEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
ERBEE (FEIE The total of non-current assets other than
TR T B RIRIE financial instruments and deferred income
FTSREE) tax assets
— B AR - Mainland China 8,774,292 9,145,742
—BIER K& - Overseas countries and territories 1 1
TRTA Financial instruments 5,186,964 5,087,737
FILFTEREE Deferred income tax assets 306,226 255,748
14,267,483 14,489,228
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_ | ARMISmARNE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE2024F 128318 LEEE For the year ended 31 December 2024

5 WmkaEBER (4) 5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

b) BEERENERMzEE (b) Liabilities related to contracts with customers
REFBEHITIHERENE The Group has recognised the following liabilities related
fzad: to contracts with customers:

2024 2023
ARBETT ARBEF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
BHREE—EU Contract liabilities — Beverages 2,556,144 1,884,117
EHBE-BR Contract liabilities — Food 1,192,466 922,930
BHEaE-Hi Contract liabilities — Others 28,009 16,100
3,776,619 2,823,147
() BHEEZEAXLZE () Significant changes in contract liabilities
2024F12H31HN & B EIE M The increase in contract liabilities as at 31 December
TDEEHNRAEBR2024F F X 2024 was mainly due to the cash advance payments
FTER R BRI NIRETENE from distributors received by the Group in the year end of
RER2023F F R BP0 2024 was more than that in the year end of 2023.

Hi—> ¥ hEZERAERAT Uni-President China Holdings Ltd. ¢ Annual Report 2024 %3 1 61 ,
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(b)

Liabilities related to contracts with customers
(Continued)

(i)  Revenue recognised in relation to contract
liabilities

The following table shows how much of the revenue
recognised in the current reporting period relates to
carried-forward contract liabilities and how much relates
to performance obligations that were satisfied in the prior
year.

2024 2023
ARBTT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
sFAEVEHNEaELESR  Revenue recognised that was included
BB R S in the contract liability balance at the
beginning of the year
Bt Beverages 1,884,117 1,459,608
B Food 922,930 765,661
Hith Others 16,100 32,567
2,823,147 2,257,836

(iii) KIETTHIEAIEIE

AEBEZERNATHNEES
T ARERBEBREBNEE RA
HETBHEBASNEES —FIN
o

(i)  Unsatisfied performance obligations

The Group selected to choose a practical expedient and
omitted disclosure of remaining performance obligations
as all related contracts have a duration of one year or
less.
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6 EXPENSES BY NATURE

analysed as follows:

Expenses included in cost of goods sold, selling and marketing
expenses, administrative expenses and other expenses are

2024 2023
AR®TT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
T FBTR AT HEL ~ ELEERAHEL ~ Raw materials, packaging materials,
SHERKEENEH consumables and purchased
commodity used 17,755,692 17,388,593
HaFEEE Changes in inventories of finished goods 368,066 127,069
SNEEERYE Manufacturing outsourcing expenses 90,587 133,644
RIERESER Promotion and advertising expenses 1,499,052 1,320,129
BTEMMREE Employee benefit expenses, including
BIEEEFHM () directors’ emoluments (Note 9) 4,701,955 4,474,718
EwmER Transportation expenses 1,451,645 1,338,725
ME- -BERREITE Depreciation of property, plant and
(MF5E14) equipment (Note 14) 993,880 1,021,274
EREEEEE (HE15) Amortisation of right-of-use assets
(Note 15) 86,782 85,158
KEYEITE (MsE16) Depreciation of investment properties
(Note 16) 19,546 18,938
EmILEEEE (F:E17) Amortisation of intangible assets
(Note 17) 2,803 6,401
FOHATEERY Short-term rental expenses 74,384 73,828
IR MR City construction tax, property tax and
REMRFEER other tax surcharges 281,873 266,230
WoR, (#BR) FEE Write-down of/(reversal of) inventories
AEIRFEE (k1) to net realisable value (Note 21) 495 (15,337)
SRIEE R ERIEFEE Net impairment losses on financial assets
(FFE3.1(b)) (Note 3.1(b)) 2,614 2,393
ZE AN & Auditors’ remunerations
—ZERTE — Audit services 7,302 7,294
—IERZEAR 5 — Non-audit services 1,670 610
HAth Others 1,101,652 1,110,017
48z Total 28,439,998 27,359,684
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7

164

HthF1S — 288 7 OTHER GAINS - NET
2024 2023
AR®TT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
HERATFESTAESR Gains on disposal of financial assets
NEmMEEZFT at FVPL 29,746 35,239
BNTEFT ABZAIEEREZE Net fair value gains on financial assets
Z AT EWEPEE at FVPL 26,730 18,682
HEYE -MERZELUR  (Losses)/gains on disposal of property,
FRAEEEZ plant and equipment, and right-of-use
(B538) /#)18 F%5 assets, net (7,722) 351,555
Hith Others 9,087 8,124
57,841 413,600
Hhig A 8 OTHER INCOME
2024 2023
ARBTT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BT B0 Government grants 90,499 130,709
HEWMZE BEKREE Rental income from lease of property,
IVYSE =LY Epd kA N plant and equipment and investment
properties 129,907 136,601
BRSO (F35E33(a)) Consultation service income (Note 33(a)) 54,524 57,698
HAth Others 19,620 26,265
294,550 351,273
BT 483 Bh U A 6 B HR B 2 3t 75 U U The income from government grants represented financial
BN BEZERE (FARERREB A support subsidy received from various local governments
BIHEMEMESEREREERDN in the PRC as rewards to the Group’s subsidiaries for their
(O] %R o 5% 55 BUIS 7 Bh /&8 M & 14 > 7R i B contributions to the economy and development of the regions
FANRHBERNAG BRASESN in which the subsidiaries are located. Such government grants
FEBmRZ THMRA IR - were unconditional and with no future commitment to be

fulfilled. They were recognised within ‘other income’ in the
consolidated income statement.
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B E2024F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES,

INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

2024 2023

ARETT ARETF T

RMB’000 RMB’000

ITENFHE Wages and salaries 3,400,059 3,230,995
BARESREMITEETEFN Pension and other social welfare

(EZBHFETE) (defined contribution plan) 726,304 701,391

BETIEEREREN Staff quarters and housing benefit 249,279 244,786

HhigF] Other benefits 326,313 297,546

4,701,955 4,474,718

HE2024F12A31HILEEZRAEH
AR HMATEEME (20234 :
W) EFEFMERKE3S5@ME
T Z DM R BR e R E R E S T F HER
=% (2023 | = %) RE FM A L2 5

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 included two
(2023: two) directors, whose emoluments are reflected in the
analysis shown in Note 35(a). The emoluments payable to the
remaining three (2023: three) highest paid individuals during the

&SI

year are as follows:

2024 2023
ARETT AREF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
EARFE& ERERM Basic salaries, housing allowances,

HZMREYH = other allowances and benefits in kind 3,330 2,845
TE4T Bonuses 2,759 2,185
RIS FH B Contribution to pension scheme 117 109

6,206 5,139
AE N
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
HENEEE Emolument bands:
1,500,001 TE HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000

2,000,000 7T (equivalent to RMB1,389,061 to

(HERARNE1,389,0617c  RMB1,852,080)

Z AR #1,852,0807T) - 3
2,000,00185E HKD2,000,001 to HKD2,500,000

2,500,000 7T (equivalent to RMB1,852,080 to

(HHER AR1,852,0807t  RMB2,315,100)

ZE AR12,315,1007T) 3 -
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9 BI@RARAX BFREFEHF 9
A (48)

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES,
INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

H E2024F 2023F12A31HLEFEE >
KAEBTEREERALESTHNAL
TS EAREENBRERRNE

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no
remuneration was paid by the Group to the directors or the
five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon

MEAR 7 MBS ERMERAESTER

joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

BULEfRIBRLL ©

10 MBEWA—FEE 10 FINANCE INCOME - NET
2024 2023
AR®T T ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
RRE WA Finance income
—IRERIRITHER — Interest income on cash and bank
ZF BWA balances 252,691 252,671
AL AL A Finance costs
—BEZFEMAZ — Interest expenses on borrowings (33,282) (50,532)
—HEaGEZMEMZ — Interest expenses on lease liabilities (173) (3,215)
—FEREIEFEE - Net foreign exchange losses (38,751) (5,374)
(72,206) (59,121)
HMEWA—F5 Finance income — net 180,485 193,550
11 FiEHRAX 11 INCOME TAX EXPENSES
2024 2023
ARETT ARBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BPRAFRTISIRBE S Current income tax expenses 716,397 451,843
EEFTSIRFES (MF5E19) Deferred income tax expenses (Note 19) (81,742) 121,021
634,655 572,864
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11 FREREAX (@)

(@)

(b)

PERERZEMRSH (TR
E2AY

A > 7 o B oK BE B 3L B9 Bt
BATB¥%25% (20234 : 25%)
BIFR R AR (> P8R

RIS EIRALE K B RE 42
EEMIRFR[2011]585% [RAFYE
AESHFAI AR EEEARRRIK
BRI BN K1 #72[2020]23
SRR IC BRI AN
BRBEN RS  RAEIMEAR
UMW BRAEBNAMRZETE
BEEXER N AREERES
15% BB o KN B 240 S B
B AT IS MR
AEEBRER LM15%EER

HIFr1SIR

FABRB(HERE AT E)E
MEREEMMRIAERRAR
ANE) 2 FEIE AR E)VE R R BN R
EEEMEKR-

ETAEEBAMRINMBAT A
BEMIBITIRE20% (20234 .
20%) BUHRFrR1SHR o

RIEIR TS E 6 & BY 0 4k B 713 1R
EoRBEEAMBRILNKB LA
REE2024F12831HIEFEER
HE_EEBTETIRENHNRE
#8.25% (20234 : 8.25%) ° &k
B8 _ a8 AT EIREF
1B 4 483%16.5% (20234 © 16.5%)
B ERR o

i—1 ¥ hEEAR B RA S Uni-President China Holdings Ltd.

11 INCOME TAX EXPENSES (CONTINUED)

(@)

(b)

Mainland China corporate income tax (“CIT”)

Subsidiaries established in Mainland China are subject to
CIT at rate of 25% (2023: 25%) during the year.

According to the Caishui (2011) No. 58 “The notice on
the tax policies of further implementation of the western
region development strategy issued by the Ministry of
Finance, the State Administration of Taxation and the
General Administration of Customs” (B1#2[2011]58%%
‘BRI R OB I 78 B0 A R B B BE B RATR I R B R
#B40”) and the Caishui (2020) No. 23 “Announcement
on the continuation of the enterprise income tax policies
for western region development” (84#3[2020]235% B
BB KRS B EFSIMBERNASE"), companies
set up in the western region and falling into certain
encouraged industry catalogue promulgated by the PRC
government will be entitled to a preferential tax rate of
15%. Some of the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC
set up in the western development region are entitled to
the above mentioned preferential tax rate of 15% during
the year.

Other income tax

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law of Cayman Islands and, accordingly, is
exempted from payment of Cayman Islands income tax.

Subsidiaries incorporated in Taiwan are subject to income
tax at the prevailing rates of 20% (2023: 20%).

Pursuant to the enactment of two-tiered profit tax rates
by the Inland Revenue Department, the first HK$2 million
of assessable profits of subsidiaries incorporated in Hong
Kong is subject to a tax rate of 8.25% during the year
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: 8.25%). The remaining
assessable profits above HK$2 million will continue to be
subject to a tax rate of 16.5% (2023: 16.5%).
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11 PR3 (&)
(b) HthFrFIR (&)
7 £ 8 b S 10 A 2 ) B4 o

BRANRAGHEBRESN ZEEMREK
25% (20234 : 25%) HE 2B

11 INCOME TAX EXPENSES (CONTINUED)

(b)

Other income tax (Continued)

The taxation on the Group’s profit before income tax
differs from the theoretical amount that would arise
using the statutory tax rate in the PRC of 25% (2023:

MEEZERWT : 25%) applicable to profits of the consolidated entities as
follows:
2024 2023
ARBTT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FRPTSMATEF Profit before income tax 2,483,774 2,239,924
BHRBELEEREAE Tax calculated at the statutory tax rate in
Z 18 the PRC 620,944 559,981
THRBEZRFBELE . Tax effects of:
BRAGETHEBAE Preferential tax rates on the profits of
WAz BERE certain subsidiaries (48,885) (55,259)
RHESBIRIEFTER Tax losses for which no deferred
BEEZRIERE income tax asset was recognised 18,268 24,415
MBI KRR Recognition of previously
ZMIEEIER unrecognised tax losses and
HMERMEER other temporary differences (57,694) (6,062)
BEBEEHER Reversal of previously recognised
Z HIBE51E tax losses 3,474 5,487
BIARBUA Income not subject to tax (14,846) (12,478)
ENGIEE Expenses not deductible for
tax purpose 13,114 9,408
PR EERASZ ANET N Additional deduction of research and
development expenses (2,190) (81,048)
F [ B A Bl Withholding tax on profits retained by
R @Az FaIR PRC subsidiaries 102,470 78,420
FriSiiB =< Income tax expense 634,655 572,864
1 68 #— 2P EER A R/AF Uni-President China Holdings Ltd. ¢ Annual Report 2024 &




_ | ARMISmARNE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B E2024F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

11 FrigHE (8 11 INCOME TAX EXPENSES (CONTINUED)
(b) HMPREHR (&) (b) Other income tax (Continued)

BREMEEKE I D ZER The income tax charge relating to components of other

AW : comprehensive income is as follows:
2024 2023
MiRE MBI iRk PRItA  RIEZH PRI
Before tax Tax charge  Aftertax Beforetax Tax charge After tax
ARBTR ARETR ARBTR ARETR ARBTT ARETR
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
At 2miE Other comprehensive
income:
—TEEB1EREH B8 - Actuarial gains on
BEHNE defined benefit plans 1,343 (269) 1,074 235 47) 188
FiksiE Income tax expense (269) 47)
(c) RESIEHAZERERMBAMOECD) (c) The Organisation for Economic Co-operation

SEZERER

AREBRTHEAE -FEREE
HHEER > BHROECD i &8
FRAIZESEE -HERSHE 81
FEAELRGEERNZELEE
WEBGEEANAS - FSEEEM
Hit 2 EH2025F B2 KR E
ME A REHERSG 5
X HER2024F 108 8K E 0 &
BIEZR2024F12827HHIE >
LLB2025%F1 818 & HE WA AN
ARAEREEREHER B
2023F7THEMNE B GRS
125 BT FTRE » REEE A

REWERATE B A
FERIERIBEE EREEE N
MBS ©

i—1 ¥ hEEAR B RA S Uni-President China Holdings Ltd.

and Development (OECD) Pillar Two model rules

The Group has operation in Mainland China, Hong Kong
and Taiwan. It is within the scope of the OECD Pillar Two
model rules. As of the reporting date, there is no public
announcement being published in jurisdictions including
Mainland China and Taiwan. Hong Kong has announced
that it plans to implement the Global Minimum Tax and
Hong Kong Domestic Minimum Top-up Tax starting
from 2025 onwards. Following the consultation paper
published in October 2024, a bill was gazette on 27
December 2024 to implement the income inclusion rule
(IR) and the Hong Kong minimum top-up tax (HKMTT)
starting from 1 January 2025. The Group applies the
exception to recognising and disclosing information
about deferred tax assets and liabilities related to Pillar
Two income taxes, as provided in the amendments to
HKAS 12 issued in July 2023.
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FA 75 3k 2R Pt X

11 FERAX (&)

()

KESFHZREB(OECD)
T ZEBEA (48)

ERNAERLKEFRER AEEN
I ATARRF B2025F
3% REBNREE2024F128
SIHLEFEIEBERBRE-
REREIEFEHEE2025512831
HEFERFTEE@BSIH I
ER RS o

12 BRREF

170

B

SREFRAEEERATRERE
A FEAS 3 B b B 34T BB MR A T4

11 INCOME TAX EXPENSES (CONTINUED)

(c) The Organisation for Economic Co-operation
and Development (OECD) Pillar Two model rules
(Continued)

Since the Pillar Two legislation in the jurisdictions that
the Group has operation is expected to be effective from
2025 earliest, there was no top-up tax impact for the
Group in the year ended 31 December 2024. The Group
is in the process of assessing its exposure to the Pillar
Two legislation for the year ending 31 December 2025
and afterwards.

12 EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit
attributable to equity holders of the Company by the weighted

HEE-o average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.
2024 2023

AAE A ABGEET  Profit attributable to equity holders of

(ANR¥EF7T) the Company (RMB’000) 1,849,119 1,667,060
BETEERMETEH Weighted average number of ordinary

(FRR) shares in issue (thousands) 4,319,334 4,319,334
BREXRF] Basic earnings per share

(ERAREE) (RMB per share) 42.81%9 cents  38.60% cents

HRARRLEEEHESER B
REERNASKRERRN -

Diluted earnings per share is the same as basic earnings per
share as there are no potential dilutive ordinary shares of the
Company.

H— ¥R EERARZAT Uni-President China Holdings Ltd. ¢ Annual Report 2024 &%



_ | ARMISmARNE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B E2024F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

13 KRR 13 DIVIDENDS
2024 2023
AR®TFT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
EBRIKCERBERE Proposed final dividend of
skEEk ARB4I2.810 RMB42.81 cents
(20234 : AR#42.45%))  (2023: RMB42.45 cents)
per ordinary share 1,849,119 1,833,769
20244 F220234F » A A Bl L& £2023 The dividends paid by the Company in 2024 and 2023 for
FRK2022F 128331 B EEEBIRNMAIE the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 amounted to
BRI AANRE1833 BB TAAR RMB1,833.5 million and RMB1,466.2 million respectively.
#51,466.2F & T °
EEFN2025F3A5BR T2 ESES A dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2024
& L EEIREH E2024F12831H of RMB42.81 cents per share, amounting to a total dividend
LTFEZRESRARE42817 (61 of RMB1,849.1 million was proposed by the directors on the
REASARTE1,840.1HET) » WHR board of directors meeting held on 5 March 2025 and is to be
20256 H6H BRI B RIT 2 REBEF proposed for approval at the annual general meeting to be held
AELREUFE LFEMFEREKRE on or around 6 June 2025. These financial statements do not

BRILEEMRKRE - reflect this dividend payable.
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14 YE - -BERKE

172

HEk BEIAHft

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

& IBRE  RERRE rEIR At
Vehicles,
Machinery other
and factory equipment  Construction
Buildings equipment  and fixtures in progress Total
AEETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARBTR  AREBTR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
1#2023%181H At 1 January 2023
ﬁJZZIS Cost 7,638,448 8,054,231 3,907,870 84,221 19,684,770
ZotihE Accumulated depreciation (3,244,990) (6,425,126) (3,351,703) - (13021819
RHERE Accumulated impairment provision - (263) - - (269)
REFE Net book amount 4,393,458 1,628,842 566,167 84,221 6,662,688
HE2023F1283HALEE  Year ended 31 December 2023
ENEEEFE Opening net book amount 4,393,458 1,628,842 556,167 84,221 6,662,688
HE Additions 55,379 185,462 483,158 324,250 1,048,249
TUREA Transfer upon compltion 29,086 153,637 66,935 (249,638) -
k3 Disposals (188,537) (5,689) (6,004) - (200,230)
nE (M0) Depreciation (Note 6) (300,001) (456,988) (255,285) = (1,021,274
FREEFE Closing net book amount 3,980,365 1,505,264 844,971 158,833 6,489,433
1R2023512R31R At 31 December 2023
A Cost 7,534,356 8,387,468 4,451,959 158,833 20,532,616
ZetE Accumulated depreciation (3,553,991) (6,882,114) (3,606,988) - (14,043003)
REHERE Accumulated impairment provision = 90) = = (90)
REZE Net book amount 3,980,365 1,505,264 844,971 158,833 6,489,433
HENUF12B31ALEE  Year ended 31 December 2024
ENREFE Opening net book amount 3,080,365 1,505,264 844,971 158,833 6,489,433
AE Additions 1,360 46,095 453,596 186,772 687,823
TREEA Transfer upon completion 129,331 93,677 30,332 (253,340) -
HE Disposals (11,288) (22714 (3,122 - (16,684)
BAREME (Wzh6) Transfer to investment properties
(Note 16) (112,650) - - - (112,650)
& (Hi3t6) Depreciation (Note 6) (307,036) (367,827) (819,017) - (993,880)
NE RERRERERE Provision for impaiment of property,
plant and equipment (9,292) - - - (9,292)
EXREEE Closing net book amount 3,670,790 1,274,935 1,006,760 92,265 6,044,750
1R2024512R31R At 31 December 2024
Ax Cost 541,100 854966 4,932,765 92265 21,001,105
ZotihE Accumulated depreciation (3,861,027) (7,249,941) (3,926,005) - (15,036,973)
BitafERE Accumulated impairment provision (9,292) (90) - - (9,382
REFE Net book amount 3,670,790 1,274,935 1,006,760 92,265 6,044,750

#F—1 ¥ hE PG AR /2 E Uni-President China Holdings Ltd.
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14 £ -BERXE (@) 14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)
hEEREBEaBaRIIRUT : Depreciation expenses have been charged to the consolidated

income statement as follows:

2024 2023
AR®TT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
IHE A Cost of goods sold 624,083 699,838
HE RTIZERER AR Selling and marketing expenses 257,945 207,127
THRE Administrative expenses 111,852 114,309
993,880 1,021,274
KEBZIBF2EAMNAEH - The Group’s buildings are all located in the PRC.
7220245 K720235 12831 H I K 1F There was no pledge of property, plant and equipment as at 31
ERCIE/ EN U EYE T - K December 2024 and 2023.
RELAEEETEFHEZHEWAL Rental income amounting to approximately RMB47.3 million
ANE147,300,0007T (20234 : AR (2023: RMB57.2 million) derived from lease of certain buildings
57,200,0007T) Est AfraBmEW A of the Group is included in ‘Other income’ in the consolidated
g AL (fFEE8) © income statement (Note 8).
FRNAERTERSERBEENEER During the year, the Group has no capitalised borrowing costs
7N (20235 @ ) AR E Ao (2023: nil) on qualifying assets.
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15 FE (8iF L ith A1) 15 LEASES (INCLUDING LAND USE RIGHTS)
i) MNEEBERWERZTIE () Amounts recognised in the balance sheet
2024 2023
ARBETT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
EREEE Right-of-use assets
LS Properties 87,799 90,324
TR A Land use rights 1,426,198 1,474,903
1,513,997 1,665,227
HEaRE Lease liabilities
S Properties
—BPHA — Current 28,886 26,201
—3JERNHER — Non-current 59,846 62,587
88,732 88,788
2024 F K 2023 F 2 (FAEE E Movements in right-of-use assets in 2024 and 2023 are
BEDWOT analysed as follows:
EHEEE
Right-of-use assets
2024 2023
mE LHERE st ME THERE st
Land use Land use
Properties rights Total  Properties rights Total

ARRTT AREBTRT ARETR AREBTT ARETT ARBTR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000  RMB'000

P1A1H At 1 January 90,324 1,474,903 1,565,227 105026 1,597,069 1,702,095

RE Additions 38,610 - 38610 22828 - 22828

HE Disposals (2,793) (265) (3,058) (1,362)  (73,176)  (74,538)

BT (M3to) Amortisation charges (Note 6) (38,342)  (48,440) (86,782)  (36,168)  (48990)  (85,158)

R128318 At 31 December 87,799 1,426,198 1,513,997 90,324 1,474,903 1,565,227
1 74 H— ¥R EERARZAT Uni-President China Holdings Ltd. ¢ Annual Report 2024 &%
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15 HE (BFLMERRE) (@)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

REmRERZ

B E2024F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

15 LEASES (INCLUDING LAND USE RIGHTS)
(CONTINUED)

(i) Amounts recognised in the income statement

2024 2023
nE LHERE st nE DmERE et
Land use Land use
Properties rights Total  Properties rights Total

AE®TT ARETR ARRTR ARETRL ARBTR ARETR
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMBOOD  RMB'OO0  RMB'000

B (f136) Amortisation charges (Note 6)

Hnps Other expenses 6,693 - 6,693 4133 S 4133
HEMA Cost of goods sold 860 28,302 29,162 1,073 29,078 30,151
BERTHEENE  Seling and marketing expenses 29,464 3,866 33,330 28,034 3,741 31,775
BB Administrative expenses 1,325 16,272 17,597 2,928 16,171 19,099

38,342 48,440 86,782 36,168 48,990 86,158

RSB (5t ABRERLZ) Interest expense (included in

_ (3E10) finance cost) (Note 10) 173 3215
TSR (11356)  Short-term rental expenses (Note 6) 74,384 73,828
BRRINBAE Total charges to income statement 161,339 162,201

R2024E 2 HAERS ML EEES
AR #110,248,0007T (20234 © A
R 108,189,0007T) °

rEBZHEEEHRERETE
ZABRAR

FEEZIMEREZHIET
AN o IS FEBEE Z @
NRERBE -BH—RKRLUEE
R=EAE+F5TIL TR
BT (V)P i AEHR R 2 A

HERRENBEIER TES
BRI AR o BREE A
REZHEEERHNERESR
S BEWE I BRI E R RS
WHEEETSRIFEENRE-

ERBR A LR

FEENETYERREEES
TR IEEERE - ZF IR
TARMERGNSKEEENS
RAAC e PR A BY KRB 0 SEH3 &
RIEEEZEREJHAERTRE
HARSHAERBBATRE.

The total cash outflow for leases in 2024 was
RMB110,248,000 (2023: RMB108,189,000).

(iii) The Group’s leasing activities and how they are
accounted for

The Group’s land use rights are all fully prepaid.
In addition, the Group leases various offices and
warehouses. Rental contracts are typically made for
fixed periods of three months to ten years, but may have
extension options as described in (iv) below.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.
The lease agreements do not impose any covenants
other than the security interests in the leased assets that
are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as
security for borrowing purposes.

(iv) Extension and termination options

Extension and termination options are included in a
number of property and equipment leases across the
Group. These terms are used to maximise operational
flexibility in terms of managing contracts. The majority of
extension and termination options held are exercisable
only by the Group and not by the respective lessor.

Hi—> ¥ hEZERAERAT Uni-President China Holdings Ltd. ¢ Annual Report 2024 %3 1 75 14
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16 REY=E 16 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
2024 2023
AR®TT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
MB1H At 1 January 237,479 256,417
BYE - BB MR EEEH Transfer from property, plant and
(MF=x14) equipment (Note 14) 112,650 =
rE (Myske) Depreciation (Note 6) (19,546) (18,938)
128318 At 31 December 330,583 237,479
R12BA31 B Cost as at 31 December 606,946 494,296
REHTE Accumulated depreciation (276,363) (256,817)
M12831H At 31 December 330,583 237,479
KREMEMRPEN LB IHE T The investment properties are located in Shanghai, Jiangsu,
NEKRERS I ENHEIAA40F M50 Sichuan and Guangdong Province of the PRC and erected on
FR LT o land with lease periods of 40 and 50 years.
AEBREYEZINEBRF AGEER Depreciation of the Group's investment properties has been
RETEMBESZ ] o charged to ‘Other expenses’ in the consolidated income
statement.
2024 2023
AR®TT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
A2 WA Rental income 82,611 79,409
REEEHESWAZYIE Direct operating expenses from property
ZERKERE that generated rental income (19,545) (19,060)
63,066 60,349
1 76 H— ¥R EERARZAT Uni-President China Holdings Ltd. ¢ Annual Report 2024 &%
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16 REWE (@)

HE %

RFEEHERTHEL ZREMER
AXfE-

BEAEEBNREHETERRIERE
BEEB AR HAEE RGN
MEME AT SRERamMEE
SR ERRISERE ML - BRKRK
FHEERARREYEZATEE
o

BRRBEYFHEEZRRRERENR
=15 B2 RMEE32.

REMEZ AFEHIWT :

B E2024F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

16 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Leasing arrangements

The investment properties are leased to tenants under
operating leases with rentals payable monthly.

Although the Group is exposed to changes in the residual value
at the end of the current leases, the Group typically enters into
new operating leases and therefore will not immediately realise
any reduction in residual value at the end of these leases.
Expectations about the future residual values are reflected in
the fair value of the properties.

For minimum lease payments receivable on leases of
investment properties, refer to Note 32.

The fair values of the investment properties are set out as
follows:

2024 2023

ARBTT ARBETT

RMB’000 RMB’000

~FHE Fair value 1,041,035 783,737

2024 K2023F12H31HZ AF &
TLEEBFERUERT SRS A SIS
($38) AEE IR RBNEE
TEHEHEERE o

Hi—> ¥ hEZERAERAT Uni-President China Holdings Ltd. ¢ Annual Report 2024 %3

The fair values as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 were
determined by management’s self-assessment using
discounted cash flow projection based on significant
unobservable inputs (Level 3).
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16 BREMZE (B 16 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)
HEZH (@ Leasing arrangements (Continued)
FREATERHAZK (E3E) & Information about fair value measurements using significant
TZAFEFENERFEIAOT : unobservable inputs (Level 3) is set out below:

eI EREABE
Unobservable inputs
1£2024512H318
AB ZATHE A& BRIR

Fair value at
31 December

Description 2024 Rental value Discount rate
(AR m) (AR 7T)
(RMB’000) (RMB’000)
BEA 59,093
Plant A 46,998 9,093 per annum 9%
=B 416,658
Plant B 86,103 16,658 per annum 9%
BEC 548,638
Plant C 48,886 8,638 per annum 9%
=D 512,309
Plant D 70,246 12,309 per annum 9%
BEE 557,597
Warehouse E 126,514 7,597 per annum 6%
EEYN S 432,860
Office building 648,754 32,860 per annum 8%
5 51686
Shops 13,534 686 per annum 8%
1 78 H— ¥R EERARZAT Uni-President China Holdings Ltd. ¢ Annual Report 2024 &%
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16 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Leasing arrangements (Continued)

eI 2= 8 A BUR
Unobservable inputs
$22023F12831H
S ZATE fE FhIREE
Fair value at
31 December
Description 2023 Rental value Discount rate
ANEFT) N5 )
(RMB’000) (RMB’000)
BEA 49,093
Plant A 49,993 9,093 per annum 10%
5B 16,658
Plant B 91,590 16,658 per annum 10%
BEC 9178,638
Plant C 51,029 8,638 per annum 10%
B ED F412,309
Plant D 73,331 12,309 per annum 10%
/N §1F32,152
Office building 508,934 32,152 per annum 10%
[ FE560
Shops 8,860 560 per annum 10%

i—1 ¥ hEEAR B RA S Uni-President China Holdings Ltd.
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17 BEFEE

17 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

EE G
Computer
software
ABRETFIT
RMB’000
2023F1H1H At 1 January 2023
%N Cost 121,561
Rty Accumulated amortisation (114,874)
BREFE Net book amount 6,687
HF2023F 128310 L EE Year ended 31 December 2023
FHEREFE Opening net book amount 6,687
AE Additions 7,721
iy (fzEe) Amortisation (Note 6) (6,401)
FREREZFE Closing net book amount 8,007
7120235 12831H At 31 December 2023
%N Cost 129,282
Rty Accumulated amortisation (121,275)
EREHE Net book amount 8,007
HE2024F12A31H L EE Year ended 31 December 2024
FHEREFE Opening net book amount 8,007
NE Additions 2,282
iy (fyzEe) Amortisation (Note 6) (2,803)
FREREDNEE Closing net book amount 7,486
120245128318 At 31 December 2024
%N Cost 131,564
RET Y Accumulated amortisation (124,078)
ERERE Net book amount 7,486

#F—1 ¥ hE PG AR /2 E Uni-President China Holdings Ltd.
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17 BREE (8)

BISEG 2 D RISt A TITBRE 20
MEERMIZHERSZ) R THHE K
K)o AR ANREL1,713,0007T
AE 262,000t & A K 1828,0007T
(20234 : AR#64,721,00070 AR
1,036,0007t & A R #6644,0007T) ©

18 MU ZEARNKE

HEESRRESDIBENT !

B E2024F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

17 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

The amortisation of computer software has been charged to
‘administrative expenses’, ‘selling and marketing expenses’,
and ‘cost of goods sold’ at the amounts of approximately
RMB1,713,000, RMB262,000 and RMB828,000 (2023:
RMB4,721,000, RMB1,036,000 and RMB644,000),
respectively.

18 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING

THE EQUITY METHOD

The amounts recognised in the balance sheet are as follows:

2024 2023

AR®FT AR¥FT

RMB’000 RMB’000

N—EE AR 2 #@) Interests in an associate (a) 485,867 455827
ReZhEERD) Interests in joint ventures (b) 391,610 389,770
877,477 845,597

R2024% 128310 AE BT E#HE
NAMRGETLEHAEEMS L AE
EoREBZRMDEHAEE (TLE
ENHE AR REECENGEER
MR W

All the associate and the joint ventures of the Group as at 31
December 2024 are not significant to the Group. The amounts
recognised in the consolidated income statement of the
Group’s associate and joint ventures, attributable to the shares
of the Group and in aggregate, are as follows:

2024 2023

AR®FT AR¥FT

RMB’000 RMB’000

FE{L B E A BT (a) Share of profit of the associate (a) 44,116 37,326
FE(h & 25 F 58 () Share of net of profits of joint ventures (b) 15,268 12,588
HE12B31HIEEE For the year ended 31 December 59,384 49,914

i—1 ¥ hEEAR B RA S Uni-President China Holdings Ltd.
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18 LIEZZARNKE (8) 18 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING

182

@

(b)

R—EBERT 2

\

=

R—RIB A S 2 B> BB

THE EQUITY METHOD (CONTINUED)
(@) Interests in an associate

The movements in interests in an associate are as

T follows:

2024 2023
ARETT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
MB18 At 1 January 455,827 424,899
e H) Share of profit 44,116 37,326
BWRE Dividends received (14,076) (6,398)
R12831H At 31 December 485,867 455,827

REEtE#ER (b) Interests in joint ventures

REEhETREZEFHUT

The movements in interests in joint ventures are as

follows:
2024 2023
AE®TT AREEFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
== At 1 January 389,770 392,830
i3 parll Share of profit 15,268 12,588
BUWRER Dividend received (13,428) (12,528)
BERD Decrease in investments - (3,120)
®12831H At 31 December 391,610 389,770

H— ¥R EERARZAT Uni-President China Holdings Ltd. ¢ Annual Report 2024 &%
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18 LUHEHZEARNKE (8) 18 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING
THE EQUITY METHOD (CONTINUED)

(b) MEELXEZER (@) (b) Interests in joint ventures (Continued)
ERIAEEREBEEESNEZS The Group accounts the particulars as joint ventures after
RAHB)HEE R (I IEE R 2= %J) taking into consideration that the Group jointly controls
EHERR AEBRRLEESE not solo controls the particulars in accordance with the
ARERFE- articles of association of the particulars.
R2024F12B31H  AEBAEGE The particulars of the Group’s joint ventures as at 31
¥ (EHrEHRLETEMUER December 2024, all of which are unlisted and accounted
JEHER) 2 BEESIWT for using equity method, are set as follows:

HRRAER,/
eSS WERAH HREX REREERE TEEE REfE
Country/place
and date of Paid-up Equity interest
Company name incorporation capital attributable to the Group Principal activities Carrying amount
2024 2023 2024 2023
BNTERECERMEREER FEEM AR 50% 50%  REEERERER ARE AR
BRAR (£REIEREEE) 2008575 187 1,000,007 4,450,000 3958,0007
(United Advisor Venture Management  Suzhou, PRC, RMB1,000,000 50% 50%  Investment management and RMBA4,450,000 RMB3,958,000
Co., Ltd.") (‘United Advisor Venture 18 July 2008 advisory services
Management')
ERERHMBTIE FEE 19,060,000£7 42% 0% EERERE AEAR AR% N
BRAR (EMHER) 2009575248 B RRMHE 53,506,0007 53,508,007
(Guilin Ziquan Beverage Industries Guilin, PRC, USD19,060,000 42% 42%  Production of various types RMB53,506,000 RMB53,506,000
Co., Ltd.") ("Guilin Ziquan') 24 July 2009 of beverage including frut,

vegetable, tea and coffee efc.

Greater China F&B Captal HEHE 10,700%7 50% 50% REEE AR AR
Partners Ltd. (T Greater China F&B ) 200848 16H 2,571,0007 2,618,007
Greater China F&B Capital Cayman Islands, UsD10,700 50% 50%  Investment management RMB2,571,000 RMB2,618,000
Partners Ltd. (‘Greater China F&8') 16 April 2008
RERIA—CEERAA FERE ARE 50% 50% EESEERER NG ARE
(EEZT) 011478298 232,000,000 14454000075 142,024,000
(Wuhan Zjlang President Enterprises ~ Wuhan, PRC, RMB232,000,000 50% 50%  Production of various types of RMB144,540,000  RMB142,024,000
Co., Ltd.") ("Wuhan Zjiang’) 29 July 2011 plastic products
ERRnAlERERE (Een)  TEHEN ARH 47.85% 785% REER AE% ARH
(China F&B Venture Investments’) 20004451380 406,500,0007 145,629,0007T 146,750,0007T
(‘China F&B") Suzhou, PRC, RMB406,500,000 47.85% 4785%  Investment management RMB145,629,000  RMB146,750,000
13 April 2009
HEARMNTIEERAA HEEE 19,000,000% 7t 35% 3% EERHERH AEH AEE
(Ziquan Beverage industries 2013E7H23H 40,914,0007% 40,914,0007%
Co., Ltd.) Yichang, PRC, USD19,000,000 35% 35%  Manufacturing and sale of RMB40,914,000 RMB40,914,000
23 July 2013 beverages
* HNABLEARABEEEBERESN * The English name represents the best effort by
HEXZBEESH management of the Company in translating the Chinese
name.
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18 LIEZZARNKE (8) 18 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING
THE EQUITY METHOD (CONTINUED)

184

(b)

REErEZ#ET (B) (b) Interests in joint ventures (Continued)
TYXHIAEBTESELEL A summary of the financial information of the major joint
MBERE . ventures of the Group is set out below:
EERSD China F&B
2024 2023
AR®TT ARBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
EEBBRRBE: Summary of balance sheet:
IERENE E Non-current assets 287,145 278,505
RENEE Current assets 13,249 15,578
HEE Total assets 300,394 294,083
ERBERE Non-current liabilities - =
mEIEE Current liabilities (356) (118)
=R Total liabilities (356) (118)
REE Net assets 300,750 294,201
KEEDEHZEDLE The Group’s % share 47.85% 47.85%
KEE DY The Group’s share 145,629 146,750
LEBHAREE Summary of comprehensive income:
Y &= Revenue - =
FERIE Loss for the year (2,344) (2,355)
AEE DM The Group’s share (1,122) (1,127)

#F—1 ¥ hE PG AR /2 E Uni-President China Holdings Ltd.
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INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING

THE EQUITY METHOD (CONTINUED)

(b) Interests in joint ventures (Continued)

EEET Wuhan Zjjiang
2024 2023
AR¥F AR®FT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BEEABBEREE Summary of balance sheet:
ERBEE Non-current assets 32,216 36,535
TENE Current assets 305,712 311,842
MEE Total assets 337,928 348,377
JEREAR Non-current liabilities - 2,543
mEAas Current liabilities 42,399 56,237
mas Total liabilities 42,399 58,780
FEE Net assets 295,529 289,597
KEFBDEHZBRL The Group’s % share 50% 50%
KEE D The Group’s share 144,540 142,024
2EBEKRBE ! Summary of comprehensive income:
Wi Revenue 314,562 298,846
FERM Profit for the year 31,888 27,840
KEE DM The Group’s share 15,944 13,920

i—1 ¥ hEEAR B RA S Uni-President China Holdings Ltd.
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19 RIEFRTEHR

EIEFRISM B ERELEFTSMA /D

19 DEFERRED INCOME TAX

The analysis of deferred income tax assets and deferred

wr income tax liabilities is as follows:
2024 2023
ARETT ARKEF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
IRICFRSIME E Deferred income tax assets
— 1218 B U (=] — Deferred income tax assets to be
ZIREFRSINE E recovered within 12 months 269,276 186,315
—i 1218 B & U =] — Deferred income tax assets to be
ZIRIEFTISIREE recovered after more than
12 months 107,950 119,433
FEIEFTISMEEEE Total deferred income tax assets 377,226 305,748
B IREIRIL TSR aE Less: Set-off of deferred income tax
liabilities (71,000) (50,000)
IEIEFTISMEE > B 58 Deferred income tax assets, net 306,226 255,748
RPN ERE Deferred income tax liabilities
—B12ER REE — Deferred income tax liabilities to be
ZIRIEFRSIAE settled within 12 months 112,534 97,898
—BR12ERBEHE — Deferred income tax liabilities to be
ZIEIEFREIR AR settled after more than 12 months 270,231 294,862
EIEFRSIRERRE Total deferred income tax liabilities 382,765 392,760
IR REFT ISR E E Less: Set-off of deferred income tax
assets (71,000) (50,000)
FIEFTISM B & FEE Deferred income tax liabilities, net 311,765 342,760

186 4i— > 2 hEERR A IR/AE Uni-President China Holdings Ltd.
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19 EFEFRIFIR (B) 19

ESEFRISMARE 2 T ¢

DEFERRED INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

The movements in the deferred income tax accounts are as
follows:

2024 2023
ARBETTT AREF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
R1B18 At 1 January (87,012) 34,056

REMEEU IR (MiEE11) Charged to other comprehensive income
(Note 11) (269) (47)

MEaBu kst A (0  Credited/(Charged) to the consolidated

(MF5E11) income statement (Note 11) 81,742 (121,021)
128318 At 31 December (5,539) (87,012)

FRELEFRSMEERBEZEE (R
stE—RUEEGR IS W

The movements in deferred income tax assets and liabilities
during the year, without taking into consideration the offsetting
of balances within the same tax jurisdiction, are as follows:

IRIEFRISME E Deferred income tax assets
BHESR  NE BER
FRAGEREE RiEHE i  REEETE @t
Impairment
provision of
accounts Depreciation
receivables of property,
and plant and Accrued Tax loss
inventories equipment expenses benefit Total
NSO NSO NSO IN-So AEBFT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
12023E181H At 1 January 2023 13,115 22,181 202,567 164,241 402,104
RizaBER (1R /3t A (Charged)/Credited to the consolidated
income statements (8,204 2,246 (37,632 (67,766) (96,356)
12023F125831H At 31 December 2023 9,911 24,421 164,935 106,475 305,748
RERBERIA Credited to the consolidated income
statements 850 1,853 63,071 5,704 71478
12024125310 At 31 December 2024 10,761 26,280 228,006 112,179 377,226

i—1 ¥ hEEAR B RA S Uni-President China Holdings Ltd.
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19 RIEFRIFIR (48)

19 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

188

FIEFTISMAE Deferred income tax liabilities
R RERE EREEER
BIR £Ba% IETE B&ft BE O BREEEN Bzt
Accelerated Capitalization Post-
Withholding Business  depreciation of borrowing  Right-of-use  employment
tax combination of equipment costs assets, net benefits Total
ARETE ARETR ARETR ARETn ARETT AR%ETr AR®ETR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
120231518 At 1 January 2023 113,644 104,170 142,953 6,879 - 402 368,048
R EAM 2 E Y 0k Charged to other
comprehensive income - - - - 47 47
REGEER Charged/(credited) to the
&/ GtA) consolidated income
statement (4,185) 19,813 (2,026) 343 - 24,665
112023 12531H At 31 December 2023 99,985 162,766 4,853 343 449 392,760
REMZERENR Charged to other
comprehensive income - - - - 269 269
RiEaBEE Charged/(credited) to the
&/ GtA) consolidated income
statement (4,184) 9,084 (2,021) 613) - (10,264)
12024512831H At 31 December 2024 95,801 171,850 2,832 (70 718 382,765

RIEFTIS I E EEETR BB RKRE
FENEFEREEREN GRREE Y
RIS 18 T LU HERD o ANEEE M R 712024
F12831H 7 B LUK H R R ER IR UK
AZMIBEIEN AR 586,272,00070
(20234 : AR #900,164,0007T) FER
IEIEFTE I E EL AR 8146,568,000
70 (20234 : AR #224,675,0007T) ©
R2026FE e AFERZFEREMIVRIBEE
BN A ANREK63,816,0007c AR
#191,012,0007% ~ A B #137,909,000
T AR¥119,052,0007c & A R 8
74,483,0007C °

R2024%F12831H WA ETHBA
BREL I ZARELRMFENRESR
TSR EE AR 107,309,00070
(20234 : AR #107,309,0007T) ° 7~
EEEEEEERN Y REKRERLZ
LA 2024128310 » 2L KR E
EIRMEHAEARE14E 7T (20234 :
ABR#E14E7T) ©

#F—1 ¥ hE PG AR /2 E Uni-President China Holdings Ltd.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses
carried forward to the extent that the realisation of the related
tax benefit through the future taxable profits is probable.
The Group did not recognise deferred income tax assets of
approximately RMB146,568,000 (2023: RMB224,675,000)
in respect of tax losses amounting to approximately
RMB586,272,000 (2023: RMB900,164,000) as at 31
December 2024 that can be carried forward against future
taxable income. Tax losses amounting to approximately
RMB63,816,000, RMB191,012,000, RMB137,909,000,
RMB119,052,000 and RMB74,483,000 will expire in each of
the five years starting from 2025.

As at 31 December 2024, deferred income tax liabilities of
RMB107,309,000 (2023: RMB107,309,000) have not been
recognized for the withholding tax that would otherwise be
payable on the unremitted earnings of certain subsidiaries.
The management of the Group currently has no intention to
remit those earnings in the foreseeable future. Such unremitted
earnings totalled RMB1.4 billion (2023: RMB1.4 billion) as at 31
December 2024.
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20 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

BATHE
8Kk A stABE st

Amortised cost FVPL Total

GABEABRATNEE Assets as per consolidated
balance sheet

120245128311 As at 31 December 2024
BEENAIENEREE Financial assets at amortised cost
BEWEZRTRZE (H:F22) Trade and bills receivables (Note 22) 627,556 - 627,556
HMEWEIE (fzE23) Other receivables (Note 23) 527,713 - 527,713
ReRiRiTH (1525) Cash and bank balances (Note 25) 3,406,856 - 3,406,856
RHRTHED (525) Long-term time deposits (Note 25) 5,170,340 - 5,170,340
BATEFABENEREE Financial assets at FVPL (Note 24)

(MizE24) - 1,676,730 1,676,730
4t Total 9,732,465 1,676,730 11,409,195
1R2023%E12831H As at 31 December 2023
BB AIENEREE Financial assets at amortised cost
EWE FRTREE (H:F22) Trade and bills receivables (Note 22) 585,790 = 585,790
HitnfE KA (f15E23) Other receivables (Note 23) 365,257 = 365,257
RERIBTER (F5E25) Cash and bank balances (Note 25) 2,495,284 = 2,495,284
EHTHED (H5E25) Long-term time deposits (Note 25) 5,070,170 - 5,070,170
BATEFAEGNEREE Financial assets at FVPL (Note 24)

(FftE24) = 1,618,682 1,618,682
ast Total 8,516,501 1,618,682 10,135,183

i—1 ¥ hEEAR B RA S Uni-President China Holdings Ltd.
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20 BB SHNERTA (&)

190

20 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(CONTINUED)

Lt dEe 48 81
RA T ERN
ERAE
Other financial
liabilities
measured at
amortised cost

REEERARFITHNER

R2024%E128331H

FET B SR (95E28)

HeEas (x15)

HtE R IBE R Et &
FEEEsRan)

BE (9%30)

HihRAAE=IE (95E29)

W5t

2023F12331H

FET B SR (F5E28)

HeEas (Msx15)

HtE A mIBE R EE A
FEEEsman)

EE (I5E30)

HihREAE=IE (95E29)

K5t

#F—1 ¥ hE PG AR /2 E Uni-President China Holdings Ltd.

Liabilities as per consolidated
balance sheet

As at 31 December 2024

Trade payables (Note 28)

Lease liabilities (Note 15)

Other payables and accruals
(excluding non-financial liabilities)

Borrowings (Note 30)

Other long-term payables (Note 29)

Total

As at 31 December 2023

Trade payables (Note 28)

Lease liabilities (Note 15)

Other payables and accruals
(excluding non-financial liabilities)

Borrowings (Note 30)

Other long-term payables (Note 29)

Total

2,283,504
88,732

2,259,588
201,264
408,211

5,241,299

2,122,561
88,788

1,604,382
990,647
333,311

5,139,689
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21 78 21 INVENTORIES
2024 2023
AR®TT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
JE AR} Raw materials 574,388 560,241
ER A Work in progress 156,294 165,534
B a Finished goods 1,500,795 1,136,538
5 ¥ Consumables 255,599 263,570
2,487,076 2,125,883
MRABEZ T AHE RS REAMMEA The cost of inventories recognised as expenses and included in
Y ZFEREANOA ANRE18,109B & T cost of sales and other expenses amounted to approximately
(2023%F : AR¥17,516E 8B TT) © RMB18,109 million (2023: RMB17,516 million).
R E2024F12831H IEFE MR The Group recognised inventory provision of approximately
FEZHUERFEMs  AEEER RMB495,000 (2023: reversed RMB15,337,000) (Note 6) for the
FEREHBNA ANRE495,0007T (2023 year ended 31 December 2024 in respect of the write-down of
&£ B0 AR #15,337,00070) (Msk inventories to their net realisable values. These amounts have
6) cZEMEEABmKRZ THER been included in ‘cost of sales’ in the income statement.
A e
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22 BRIKEBZERMRER 22 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES
2024 2023
AR®TT ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FEWE 5 8RR Trade receivables
—REE=FH — from third parties 600,776 587,170
— R B REH 5 (M5E33(b)) — from related parties (Note 33(b)) 11,664 14,510
612,440 601,680
P SEi=tEd Less: loss allowance (16,825) (22,033)
FEU B 5 8RR SR &R Trade receivables, net 595,615 579,647
FEW = 1 Bills receivables
—REE=FH — from third parties 31,941 6,143
BB ZRT R EE Trade and bills receivables 627,556 585,790
AEBBEERFERGOREIOKRZE The credit terms granted to customers by the Group are
FBHA (20234F : 60K EIOK)  FR20244F usually 60 to 90 days (2023: 60 to 90 days). At 31 December
128318 BB ZRANBRBERE 2024, the ageing analysis of trade receivables based on the
HEAZRECDMTEOT - date of demand note is as follows:
2024 2023
AR®TT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FEURE 5 RN > 48 %8 Trade receivables, gross
—90 KA — Within 90 days 572,491 541,047
—91&2180% - 91 to 180 days 29,934 47,141
—181&E365% — 181 to 365 days 5,874 2,895
——&FME — Over one year 4,141 10,597
612,440 601,680
1 92 H— ¥R EERARZAT Uni-President China Holdings Ltd. ¢ Annual Report 2024 &%
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22 BB ZRMKREE (&)

AEEENEFER B EUTIE
Mt

B E2024F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

22 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

(CONTINUED)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables are
denominated in the following currencies:

2024 2023
ARBETT AREF T
RMB’000 RMB’000

FEWE 5 8RN > 48%E Trade receivables, gross
— AR - RMB 607,340 596,223
—%7T -UuUsD 172 1,626
—B7T - HKD 4,928 3,831
612,440 601,680

REER BREZERARRENERE
EREAFERE-

RREEH cEBAREZESEE

Rk LB E BRI RE ZRE
B AEBUTERAEMERRESE
0

FEHEAEBYHREEDFERM
BERm % ERMAERWRIENEHE
HERERRERTERREEER M
3 1) E AR EBSA BB

20244 K2023F12831H ' FR A A&
NEWEZERARITERRER  JHH
REZEEEREATFRNEBRITHE
MEIHREA1TERNPE AR MR
17> A EARITET EEERERE
HEERBHEREAME.

BERABRKEZ R RERAEREER
g ~ BB R B e ) 2 BB 2 B B R Y
5£38.10

Hi—> ¥ hEZERAERAT Uni-President China Holdings Ltd. ¢ Annual Report 2024 %3

The carrying amounts of trade and bills receivables
approximated their fair values as at the balance sheet dates.

The maximum exposure of the Group to credit risk at the
reporting date is the carrying value of trade and bills receivables
as mentioned above. The Group does not hold any collateral as
security.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all receivables. Note 3.1(b)
provides for details about the calculation of the allowance.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, all bills receivables
within the Group are bank acceptance bills since they are
substantially deposited at or issued by state-owned banks
and other medium or large sized listed banks with maturity
dates within 1 year and the credit risks in respect of the bills
receivables are considered to be low.

Information about the impairment of trade receivables and
the Group’s exposure to credit risk, foreign currency risk and
interest rate risk can be found in Note 3.1.
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23 FJEfRMIE-HEREMELW 23 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

TRIH RECEIVABLES
2024 2023
AR¥TT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FAfRIE Prepayments
—FETIZ(ER — Prepaid value added tax 150,652 198,122
—FE FHER 2 P8 — Advance payments to suppliers 118,485 110,177
269,137 308,299
FE UG BA B 5 =018 (M15E33(b))  Amounts due from related parties
(Note 33(0)) 190,897 160,088
H W I Other receivables
—FEUH] B — Interest receivables 393,320 254,315
—Hfh - Others 51,731 50,080
445,051 304,395
B . IFRIHAER Less: non-current portion (16,624) (17,567)
BREAEE Current portion 428,427 286,828
888,461 755,215
BAIDTENRIE S 2 R H A U R Substantially all of the prepayments, deposits and other
EARARBSE - REEH  BEN receivables are dominated in RMB. Their carrying amounts
EHEREAFERE approximated their fair values as at the balance sheet dates.
H{th FE WL R IE B R E B R &R B 5 Information about the impairment of other receivables can be
3.1(b)(ii) ° found in Note 3.1(b)(ii).
1 94 H— ¥R EERARZAT Uni-President China Holdings Ltd. ¢ Annual Report 2024 &%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B E2024F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

24§@$Eﬁkﬁ§%$ﬁﬁ

BATESFABmNEREERRITH
EBMEER - BATESFABERERH

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

24 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

Financial assets at FVPL represented the structured deposits
at banks. Changes in fair values of financial assets at FVPL are

BEEANTEEZFFABRRN TEMF recorded in “Other gains — net” in the income statement.
B9 o
ERATE
#E20245F #E20245F STARREN
12A318 1 12A31BK EHMEELEN
SREEER (ARETR) ERBEEHUE RENSE ATE AL GEBEENEE  EHEHA
Investment Fair Value Percentage
Number of Cost as of as of in terms of
Categories of the Financial 31 December 31 December  Total Financial Weights to Expected date
Financial Assets (RMB’000) Assets 2024 2024  Assets at FVPL Total Assets of expiration
IR 17 1,650,000 1,676,730 100% 717%  2024F1H6HZE
2025F9F26H
Structured Deposit 06/01/2024-
26/09/2025
HRATE
HZE0023F HE20235 A @A
1283181 1283188  SHEEEEN
EMBEEREN ARETFT) SHEEHE BREMA NEE BOLt GREENEE EHIEH
Investment Fair Value Percentage
Number of Cost as of as of in terms of
Categories of the Financial 31 December 31 December Total Financial Weights to Expected date
Financial Assets (RMB’000) Assets 2023 2023  Assets at FVPL Total Assets of expiration
BREER 14 1,600,000 1,618,682 100.00% 7.31% 20245F1H108E
2024512827H
Structured Deposit 10/01/2024-
27/12/2024

i—1 ¥ hEEAR B RA S Uni-President China Holdings Ltd.
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25 REIAEHIEM -REKRIRT

196

25 LONG-TERM TIME DEPOSITS AND CASH

45 BR AND BANK BALANCES
2024 2023
ARETT ABETFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
RHEHER Long-term time deposits 5,170,340 5,070,170
RE MIRTTAEER Cash and bank balances 3,406,856 2,495,284
RIT R FHEIBSEET Total of cash at bank and on hand 8,577,196 7,565,454

MIRBREXRBNMS > WITRFEIR
THRERINESEY 2 HROT ¢

A reconciliation of cash at bank and on hand to cash and
cash equivalent for the purpose of cash flow statements is as

follows:
2024 2023
AR®FT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
RITAFHEIREE Cash at bank and on hand 8,577,196 7,565,454
B REEIEHBB=EA B Less: Long-term and short-term
RENIGHIAEHRER time deposits with original
maturity over three months (7,964,234) (6,625,313)
SIRHBIIRITER Restricted bank deposits (2,946) (8,146)
BERIREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 610,016 931,995

R2024F 128310 ZEBFRIRTT
MERESEMEFHERNXKAE281E
(20234 : 3.47[E) ©

12024512831 H » 2 RBIRITE
AR#2,400,0007 (20234 : AR
7,600,0007T) 151EA % T IRERBE M
TEREIEFRAMERNIRTER

As at 31 December 2024, the effective weighted average rate
on deposits of the Group placed with banks was 2.81% (2023:
3.47%) per annum.

As at 31 December 2024, the restricted bank deposits of
RMB2,400,000 (2023: RMB7,600,000) represented deposits at
bank pledged as security for issuance of letter of credit for the
purpose of purchase of equipments.

H— ¥R EERARZAT Uni-President China Holdings Ltd. ¢ Annual Report 2024 &%
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RIAEHAEMR - RERIRIT
KEaR ()

R2024F12831H > XRHIRITER
AR #546,0007T (2023%F | AR
546,0007t) IEEAAE B RE S HIKF
ST EFERRITER

FR2024F 12831 H  iR1TT R FBIRE 4
UM T EREHE ©

B E2024F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

25 LONG-TERM TIME DEPOSITS AND CASH
AND BANK BALANCES (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2024, the restricted bank deposits of
RMB546,000 (2023: RMB546,000) represented deposits at
bank pledged as security for gas charge of the Group.

As at 31 December 2024, total of cash at bank and on hand
were denominated in the following currencies:

2024 2023

AR¥F T AREFIT

RMB’000 RMB’000

— AR - RMB 8,567,578 7,558,218
—E7T - UsSD 1,427 1,345
—&B7T - HKD 2,761 3,784
—Hfh — Others 5,430 2,107
8,577,196 7,565,454

ARBEMEIFAINERTHEHRR
BMZER - BARBRBBIINERAR
& B th R B AR SN RS2 AR B 1% R AR i =2 St
FEEHIRA KR BIFTIRIR o

RMB is currently not a freely convertible currency in the
international market. The conversion of RMB into foreign
currency and remittance of RMB out of the PRC are subject to
the rules and regulations of exchange controls promulgated by
the PRC authorities.
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26 RAEKKHEER 26 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM
ACCOUNT
HE
Authorised
EERHYE A A E
Number of Share capital
ordinary shares Share capital equivalent to
THET AR®ETR
HKD’000 RMB’000
R2024FE1R1RE At 1 January 2024 till
2024128311 31 December 2024 50,000,000,000 500,000 440,240
BETRER
Issued and fully paid

BHBE K& kxre  ROGEER Rt

Share Share

Number of Share capital premium
shares capital  equivalent to account Total

TET  ARETn  AREFTT  ARETR
HKD'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

R2024F1B1BE At 1 January 2024 til
20245128318 31 December 2024 4,319,334,000 43,193 39,764 4,829,899 4,869,663
AT
Authorised
BERHE B Bxirs
Number of Share capital
ordinary shares Share capital equivalent to
THT ANREFT
HKD’000 RMB’000
120231 B1HE At 1 January 2023 til
2023%12A31H 31 December 2023 50,000,000,000 500,000 440,240
BETRER
Issued and fully paid
RHHE & kAfge  ROEER &t
Share Share
Number of Share capital premium
shares capital equivalent to account Total
TEn  ARETT  AREBTn  ARETR
HKD'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
R2023F1A1HE At 1 January 2023 til
20235F 128318 31 December 2023 4,319,334,000 43,193 39,764 4,829,899 4,869,663
1 98 H— ¥R EERARZAT Uni-President China Holdings Ltd. ¢ Annual Report 2024 &%
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27 Hfithf# s 27 OTHER RESERVES
HARR AR EEE FeH
Contribution Fair value Statutory
surplus reserves reserves Total
AREFT ABEBFT AREFT AREFT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
#2023E1B1H 2 & Balance at 1 January 2023 1,144,299 1,605 2,712,209 3,858,113

BHBEIRENENTE Remeasurement on post-
employment benefit obligations

BRELTEHE Appropriation to statutory reserves
#2023 12A31H 2 & i Balance at 31 December 2023
120241 A1 R Z #5685 Balance at 1 January 2024
BHERNRBNENE Remeasurement on post-
employment benefit obligations
BB LT G Appropriation to statutory reserves
20245128318 2 &5 Balance at 31 December 2024
(@) HBARER @

TRBNBABBREBRIERAT
RPLEHZAARATEERFAA
RIEM LB EETZEEPFE
ZEERBREFL D IKEVAS BR
FERe

REREBRSEZREER ZF
BABBRADIKTEARBNED
BB A

_ 188 - 188
- - 388,642 388,642
1,144,299 1793 3,100,851 4,246,943
1,144,299 1,793 3,100,851 4,246,943
- 1,074 - 1,074
- - 335,938 335,938
1,144,299 2,867 3,436,789 4,583,955

Contribution surplus

Contribution surplus of the Company mainly represent
the net balance of contributions from and distributions to
the equity holders of the Company prior to the listing of
shares of the Company pursuant to the reorganisation for
the purpose of the Listing.

According to the law and regulation of the Cayman
Islands, such contribution surplus is distributable to the
equity holders of the Company.
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FA 75 3k 2R Pt X

27 Hithf#tw (48)

200

(b)

RE R

oh B A 72 SR IR B KT R 5 R
BRE aHRaFA AFEF
DIKBIIE S BBEEM B RKFA
RRAEFNFER ERBENEEE
WREERR) PRE—ENETE
HE-FTALAERBOMSER
BITEE% o

EANEBRELENRNEDREST
ML ENE AR EET
BEFERRBENDIKFE AR
EERAMFEZI0%EBELIER
BABS BEELAERGBAES
TORRAB ZFMEARS0%Z 1L o
o WERB I ERBEEY
B 15 R TE T 8 2B o BRI 8 8 A
ABIGANRTEAREREER
BABE - EARIIEERED
E2AMRILINTEARB AR &
EXBESFENBERETHEIHD
EERRRB BB AEEHEE -

AEBBARERERANBHER
BANEE - BEARENEELE
WIEMABEAR-

#F—1 ¥ hE PG AR /2 E Uni-President China Holdings Ltd.

27 OTHER RESERVES (CONTINUED)

(b)

Statutory reserves

The PRC laws and regulations require companies
registered in the PRC to provide for certain statutory
reserves, which are appropriated from the net profit as
reported in their respective statutory financial statements
after offsetting accumulated losses from prior years and
before profit distributions to equity holders. All statutory
reserves are created for specific purposes.

PRC subsidiaries incorporated as wholly-foreign owned
enterprises and domestic companies are required to
appropriate 10% of statutory net profits to statutory
surplus reserves, upon distribution of their post-tax
profits of the current year, until the statutory surplus
reserve is not less than 50% of its registered capital. In
addition, at the discretion of the respective boards of
directors, these companies may allocate a portion of their
post-tax profits to the staff welfare and bonus reserve
and discretionary surplus reserve. PRC subsidiaries
incorporated as sino-foreign equity joint venture
companies may allocate a portion of their statutory post-
tax profits to the statutory reserves at the discretion of
the respective boards of directors.

The statutory surplus reserves shall only be used to make
up losses of the companies, to expand the companies’
production operations, or to increase the capital of the
companies.

o Annual Report 2024
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B E2024F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

P& B 5 AR X 28 TRADE PAYABLES
2024 2023
ARETT AREF T
RMB’000 RMB’000

e & 5 R Trade payables

—%=h — to third parties 1,581,911 1,516,293
— A7 (5E33()) — to related parties (Note 33(b)) 701,593 606,268
2,283,504 2,122,561

HERRFTAERZEBEETA30K
FI0K (20234 : 30K FEIOK) © 12024
F128310 » BB Z R HFE A

The credit terms granted by suppliers to the Group are usually
30 to 90 days (20283: 30 to 90 days). At 31 December 2024,
the ageing analysis of trade payables based on the date of

EHHZEREDTWOT demand note is as follows:
2024 2023
ARETT AREF T
RMB’000 RMB’000

BB SRR Trade payables

—30K LA — Within 30 days 1,766,332 1,574,934
—31&290%k —31-90 days 443,559 469,295
—91&2180% —91-180 days 27,416 37,163
—181&365% — 181 to 365 days 20,418 16,188
——F — Over 1 year 25,779 24,981
2,283,504 2,122,561

FRERNESERAEUAREBSE-
REBER REZREEEEAFER

o
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All the trade payables are denominated in RMB. Their carrying
amounts approximated their fair values as at the balance sheet
dates.
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29 HthENHIEREER 29 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS
2024 2023
ARBTFT ARMET T
RMB’000 RMB’000

I RESRENESTER  Accruals for promotion and

advertising expenses 1,114,473 567,511
B TE K& Salary and welfare payables 386,829 284,547
BRI MNEE Deposits from customers 596,574 464,097
REBRERELIHIE Payables for purchase of equipment 255,575 262,350
HME R IB R ETE A Other payables and accruals 812,013 772,465
3,165,464 2,350,970
W - FERIHEAER 2 Less: non-current portion (404,668) (331,318)
BREREE Current portion 2,760,796 2,019,652
HtE R IB R ESE R Non-current portion of other payables
HFERNHEAER D and accruals:
BRI EE Deposits from customers 408,211 333,311
BER BB T(a) Post-employment benefits (a) (3,543) (1,993)
404,668 331,318
BRI HAME B R ESE B Substantially all of the other payables and accruals are
ARBHE RNEEH KEZEEE dominated in RMB. Their carrying amounts approximated their
BHEANFERE- fair values as at the balance sheet dates.
202 H— ¥R EERARZAT Uni-President China Holdings Ltd. ¢ Annual Report 2024 &%
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29 HthEARIERESER

=}

(@

BERL R 2 F — ERRRF) 5t E

TRETHFEENMBRREE
HMRRERAEESHEE-

B E2024F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

29 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS
(CONTINUED)

(@) Post-employment benefits — defined benefit
plan

The table below outlines where the Group’s post-
employment amounts and activity are included in the
financial statements.

2024 2023
ARBETT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
MTHIEENWEERAMER Balance sheet obligations for:
8%
—ERER R EEF - Defined pension benefits (3,543) (1,993)
BEABRANEE Assets in the balance sheet (3,543) (1,993)
R 5IE B B EE R Statement of profit or loss charge
WIENIEZERMIZHA :  included in operating profit for:
— R IREER — Defined pension benefits 18 75
18 75
FATYIEEWEHHZE:  Remeasurements for:
—EREER AR EF — Defined pension benefits 1,343 235
1,343 235

HMEFEESENANBARES
IR IR IS AR 5 B AS ~ F B B AS
38 1 AR 75 A4S LA 45 58 e A8 R Y

‘-

FEBNTEERFMRAKFEINE
BEF - AEEZEE LGB
ETHRBRENNMEE - GER
FER T At BEERAE

The income statement charge included within operating
profit includes current service cost, interest cost, past
service costs and gains and losses on settlement and
curtailment.

The Group operates defined benefit pension plans in
Taiwan. The Group engaged independent valuer to carry
out a valuation on post-employment benefits. Projected
unit credit cost method was applied in the valuation.
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29 HEMRIERESER 29 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS
(48) (CONTINUED)
() BEBEEHN - TEEFME (@) Post-employment benefits - defined benefit
(&) plan (Continued)
THREIESBEFEAERKESE The net defined benefit liabilities and fair value of the
EMNAFEEIWMT Pension Fund assets were as follows:
2024 2023
AR®BFT AREEF T
RMB’000 RMB’000

TEREEHIZBENIRE Present value of defined

benefit obligations 8,079 9,253
BRESEENAFE  Fair value of Pension Fund assets (11,622) (11,246)
EXERABESEE Net defined benefit assets (3,543) (1,993)
BHREShTHERNZBHOIR The most recent actuarial valuations of the Pension Fund
B> 202412831 HEAMGE and present value of the defined benefit obligations were
2EH BEBHCXEEBMN carried out with 31 December 2024 as the valuation
BBRAE (B8 (BEN reference date by ClientView Management Consulting
BIUSERBENM ET 7 RI— Co., Ltd. (“Actuary”), an independent qualified actuary
RIBEHE TEENEFHNIR in Taiwan. The present value of the defined benefit
E~HENEBERRBMARBE obligations, and the related current service cost and past
AR5 A A BB T8 5T B AL B A A 5 service cost were measured using the projected unit
EoATZEEMEFRMANEE credit method. The principal assumptions used for the
REWT - purpose of the actuarial valuations were as follows:
() BRERBHIEERE () Discount rate and expected rate of salary

increase
BTETHEEME REE2024 For the purpose of actuarial valuation, a discount rate
F12A3TBIEFEHRM T 1.60% of 1.60% for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:
AYBEIR = (20234 © 1.20%) ° F 1M 1.20%) was adopted. It was further assumed that the
E— P REEE2024F12831H expected rate of salary increase for the year ended 31
IEFERMTERTEEREX%2.00% December 2024 was 2.00% (2023: 2.00%).
(20234 : 2.00%) °
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29 HthEARIERESER

=}

(@

MR REN - EEEFE

)
(i)  EFRIFASLFE
(1) JECE

AENRRTEEREGETR
T ek e

© REEFE

BERAETEANERXZERS
ERERBENBEBCEIER
EMBVE K ERERE ©

G BHE

REFAERBENRRE -5
THREAMEEMNES RS
BERABEHEMNENE EFE
EERHRAT TIRAREK

BRZABEEERFNRBSE
B > THMRER KRB 7E655% K R KAV
EE GI68mRR K

FEH BAKE
7% 15%
Z + 1R E645% 3%
655% 100%

i—1 ¥ hEEAR B RA S Uni-President China Holdings Ltd.

29 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS
(CONTINUED)

(@

Post-employment benefits - defined benefit
plan (Continued)

(i)  Rate of employment termination
(1) Death rate

The 5th life table as adopted by the insurance industry in
Taiwan was used in the actuarial valuation.

(2)  Resignation rate

The resignation rate used in the actuarial valuation was
decided with reference to the past resignation records of
the Group and the database of the Actuary.

(3)  Retirement rate

Based on the past retirement rate of the Group, the
employee movements as published by the Directorate —
General of Budget, Accounting and Statistics, Executive
Yuan of Taiwan, and the database of the Actuary, the
following retirement rates were adopted in the actuarial
valuation:

[t was assumed that Z was the earliest retirement age
of the relevant employees. It was also assumed that
employees who did not retire upon reaching 65 years old
would retire when they reach 68 years old.

Age Retirement rate
Z years old 15%
Z + 1 years old to 64 years old 3%
65 years old 100%

o Annual Report 2024 F#§
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29 HitWEHREREER 29 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS
(48) (CONTINUED)
() BEBEEHN - TEEFME (@) Post-employment benefits - defined benefit
(&) plan (Continued)
(i) EBRIFEALE () (i)  Rate of employment termination (Continued)
4 EEE (4)  Disability rate
IR AABI IR B TE T ZEM10% © The disability rate being 10% of the death rate was
adopted.
BEABEERKRUWTHT The significant actuarial assumptions were as follows:
2024 2023
ARIRER Discount rate 1.60% 1.20%
BT EIRRE Expected rate of salary increase 2.00% 2.00%
30 B8 30 BORROWINGS
2024 2023
ARBETT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
HARITEE » |mIKIR Short-term bank borrowings, unsecured 201,264 990,647
KEBZEEEANR—FRNEE- The Group’s borrowings were repayable within one year.
BEZ REEHAENREEHD 2 ATFEHE The carrying amounts of the borrowings approximated their fair
B MR TS EEEE values as at the balance sheet dates, and were denominated in

the following currencies:

2024 2023
ARBETT AREETIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR RMB 201,264 990,647
206 H— ¥R EERARZAT Uni-President China Holdings Ltd. ¢ Annual Report 2024 &%
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30 &8 (&) 30 BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)
REEEH 2 IMEFHEERFEHI W The weighted average effective interest rates at the respective
1S < balance sheet dates were set out as follows:
2024 2023
RITEE > EIKHF Bank borrowings, unsecured
— AR - RVB 2.89% 3.03%
REBER TIIRENZIRITEER The Group has the following undrawn bank borrowing facilities:
B
2024 2023
AR®TT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BEEAE At floating rate:
——F R E A — Expiring within one year 4,990,695 5,378,163
——F D EF|HR — Expiring beyond one year 3,816,127 1,081,553
8,806,822 6,459,716
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HZE2024F 1283310 LEFEE For the year ended 31 December 2024

31 EEELEZHRE 31 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS
2024 2023
ARBETT ARBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BRPTISIR AT & A Profit before income tax 2,483,774 2,239,924
TR BIEEE ZFEE Adjustments for:
— DT AABRZEZERTE - Gains on investments accounted for
(MI3E18) using equity method (Note 18) (59,384) (49,914)
—ME- -BEMEBITE — Depreciation of property, plant and
(Mg5E14) equipment (Note 14) 993,880 1,021,274
—(EREEE#Y (f15515) - Amortisaton of right-of-use assets
(Note 15) 86,782 85,158
—KEYEIRTE (fEE16) — Depreciation of investment properties
(Note 16) 19,546 18,038
—mEEESHE (EE17) - Amortisation of intangible assets
(Note 17) 2,803 6,401
—HEYE -BERREN — Losses on disposal of property,
518 (¥7) plant and equipment (Note 7) 9,562 1,702
—HEGRREENTE — Gains on disposal of right-of-use
(MF5E7) assets (Note 7) (1,840) (353,257)
—HERATFESAEER - Gains on disposal of financial assets
STREEZFE MW7) at FVPL (Note 7) (29,746) (35,239)
—#E (B0 FEE — Provision of/(reversal of) inventories to
AIE2IRFEE (5E21) net realisable value (Note 21) 495 (15,337)
— W R RRERERE - Provision for impairment of property,
plant and equipment 9,292 S
— BN E ZRFURE RS — Provision for impairment of trade
receivables 2,614 2,393
—ATEFABZEREEEL - Change in value of financial assets
EEZEEE (s7) at FVPL (Note 7) (26,730) (18,682)
—F ERX (FsE10) — Interest expenses (Note 10) 33,455 53,747
—EREE (f15E10) — Foreign exchange losses (Note 10) 38,751 5,374
3,563,254 2,962,482
EEETEE . Changes in working capital:
—EWE SR RER — (Increase)/decrease in trade and
gm R bills receivables (44,380) 231,698
—FEIE ~ g R A A — (Increase)/decrease in prepayments,
FEULERIE (g0 R deposits and other receivables (130,884) 149,673
—HMIEENEAEURERIE R/ — Decrease in other non-current
receivables 943 10,025
—F& {&m R — (Increase)/decrease in inventories (361,688) 411,084
— BN E SRR — Increase/(decrease) in trade payables
1210, Creb) 160,943 (552,486)
—HMENRIERESTER - Increase/(decrease) in other payables
wan, Geib and accruals 750,245 (208,700)
— BN EEN — Increase in contract liabilities 953,472 565,311
—HhIERNEBREIRUIEE M - Increase in other non-current
payables 73,350 54,179
— R IRHIIRITFFRAVIE N - Increase in restricted bank deposits - (23)
SEEdACHE Cash generated from operations 4,965,255 3,624,143
208 H— ¥R EERARZAT Uni-President China Holdings Ltd. ¢ Annual Report 2024 &%



_ | ARMISmARNE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B E2024F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

31 BEEEZRE (B 31 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS
(CONTINUED)
RIRETRERT  HEVE BERRK In the statements of cash flows, proceeds from disposal of
B-BREYMERERAEEEZMERE property, plant and equipment, investment properties and right-
BiE of-use assets comprise:
2024 2023
AR®TT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
REDFE Net book amount 19,742 274,768
HEWZE - BB Rk~ (Losses)/gains on disposal of property,
FREEEZ plant and equipment, right-of-use
(B518) /HI13 (MIE7) assets (Note 7) (7,722) 351,555
GiEN=3=Li=p-N Decrease in lease liabilities (2,802) (1,420)
H e WGk TE IS 0 Increase in other receivables (2,360) -
HEYZE - BERKER Proceeds from disposal of property,
FEREBEEZMEHRIE plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets 6,358 624,903
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HZE2024F 1283310 LEFEE For the year ended 31 December 2024

31

32

210

SEELEZHE (B

FEFHRBEFEN S 2 REEE D

(CONTINUED)

31 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

This section sets out an analysis of the movements in net debt

#re for each of the periods presented.
HEAE &8 st
Lease
liabilities Borrowings Total
AREFT ARBFT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
?2022%12H31H As at 31 December 2022 101,740 767,756 869,496
HWEMRE Cash flows:
RMEEEIRER Inflow from financing activities - 18,306,317 18,306,317
MBEEHRESRE Outflow from financing activities (34,360) (18,083,426) (18,117,786)
WRERAEEE Recognition of right-of-use assets 22,828 - 22,828
BUEERERREE Derecognition of right-of-use assets (1,420) - (1,420)
#?2023F12H31H As at 31 December 2023 88,788 990,647 1,079,435
RWEMRE Cash flows:
MEEHIRER Inflow from financing activities - 14,679,697 14,679,697
MEEEIREME Outflow from financing activities (35,864) (15,469,080 (15,504,944)
EREEE Recognition of right-of-use assets 38,610 - 38,610
BB ERREE Derecognition of right-of-use assets (2,802) = (2,802)
220245128318 As at 31 December 2024 88,732 201,264 289,996
A 32 COMMITMENTS
() BEAEIE (@) Capital commitments
AEBEARFEWT ! The Group’s capital commitments are as follows:
2024 2023
AE®TT AREEFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
Y B R R B Property, plant and equipment
— BT REE — Contracted but not provided for 407,612 439,916

#F—1 ¥ hE PG AR /2 E Uni-President China Holdings Ltd.

o Annual Report 2024



iR e M SRR M R

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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32 K (B)

(b)

REHEEAE
FEEEDEA-A L

AEBRER=ZBAE+EANE
MZ ARG EHEEEZE
MAERBE -ZEHERAEL
EIRARR ~ FHAR IR U AR o A4S
RrEEMEmAEHR-

AEBEMZSHERDEHE
EE EFEEERREEEE
B &S EMFBERME15

MEZCERERENT

32 COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Operating lease commitments
The Group is the lessee:

The Group leases various offices and warehouses
under non-cancellable operating leases expiring within
3 months to 10 years. The leases have varying terms,
escalation clauses and renewal rights. On renewal, the
terms of the leases are renegotiated.

The Group has recognised right-of-use assets for these
leases, except for short-term and low-value leases, see
Note 15 for further information.

The operating lease commitments for properties are as
follows:

2024 2023
ARBETT ARBEFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
LY ES Properties
——FREPZEE — Lease expiring within one year 19,295 7,604
FEFEHBLHFN © The Group is the lessor:

AEBRBAUTHENECERS
FE AR EYE  BRE AR
ZEHMENETRBHEREMR
ARSI RMEMNEERE
TAHRERRKERNRERSLE
U -

The Group leases out investment properties, plant
and equipment under non-cancellable operating lease
agreements. The leases have various terms and renewal
rights. The future aggregate minimum rental receipts
under these non-cancellable operating leases are as
follows:

2024 2023

AR®TFT AREF T

RMB’000 RMB’000

TBE—F Not later than 1 year 48,986 117,162
HBE—FEREBIEAESE Later than 1 year and

not later than 5 years 32,186 49,085

81,172 166,247

o117
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33 Rt AR5

212

33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

RERZ REZERABBHE—DERMD The ultimate holding company of the Group is #i— 12§25
BRAT (Mr—12) » IR &M BFE/AF (Uni-President Enterprises Corporation®) (‘UPE”),
BRI WREEESRGMBRAR L™ a company incorporated in Taiwan and listed on the Taiwan
ZRE AN BEERAR—EZKN Stock Exchange Corporation. The directors of the Company

BRARBKRFAERZ GEEEME

= l/N=] are of the view that the subsidiaries of UPE, the joint ventures

AR (ERAHE T o

@

and associates of the Group are regarded as related parties.

BIRAR HEITHR S - (@) Transactions with related parties:
PR A TR ZUWT © The following transactions are carried out with related
parties:
2024 2023
NS ARETFRT ARETT
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
FEM R miE e Sales of raw materials and
finished goods: (i)
——1¥EZHBAT - Subsidiaries of UPE 214,232 180,968
—REBZEEDE — Joint ventures and associates
K& AT of the Group 24,364 13,659
238,596 194,627
FEM R R i iR Purchase of raw materials and
finished goods: (i)
—m—1 - UPE 23,225 22,675
——1¥EZHBAT - Subsidiaries of UPE 6,196,984 5,537,859
—REBZEERE — Joint ventures and associates
KEE AT of the Group 754,771 727,003
6,974,980 6,287,537
MImBRFE R Logistics service expense: 0]
——1EZHBAB - Subsidiaries of UPE 26,233 109

H— ¥R EERARZAT Uni-President China Holdings Ltd. ¢ Annual Report 2024 &%
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33 B R5H (B)

(@

33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(CONTINUED)
BRI HEITHIRR S (8) (@) Transactions with related parties: (Continued)
2024 2023
[ AREFTr ARETT
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
FEEARRTE A Consultation service income: ()
—R—1rE - UPE 47 -
—R—1EZHBARR - Subsidiaries of UPE 47,494 49,405
—AREBZEERE — Joint ventures and associates
g NI of the Group 6,983 8,293
54,524 57,698
HEUWA - Rental income: (ii)
—#r—hEZMIBAB - Subsidiaries of UPE 75,694 73,985
—HREBZEEDE — Joint ventures and associates
KEE A E] of the Group 1,684 1,647
77,378 75,632
* BYLBIHAATEEER * The English name represents the best effort by the
NP XL BR=ZEY - management of the Company in translating the Chinese
name.
(i) sy E R ERME &R 0] The above sales and purchases of raw materials and
“ESYIRRTE IR EH finished goods, receipt of logistics service and provision
HE BILIRBERBB SR ZRE of consultation service are carried out in accordance with
170 the terms of the underlying agreements.
iy MEsWAEBREMWEZ®RA (i) Rental income represents income from lease of properties

WIRBET MW E R I REZ

1R R UL ©

i—1 ¥ hEEAR B RA S Uni-President China Holdings Ltd.

agreements made between the parties.

o Annual Report 2024 F#§
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33 Rk ARSZ (&) 33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)
(b) EARARG S 4EER - (b) Balances with related parties:
R2024F 128310 "AEBEEA The Group has the following significant balances with its
BBt A B UL T E KGR - related parties as at 31 December 2024:
2024 2023
ARETT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
JFE W BE Bt 75 B A Balances due from related parties:

FEW B ZER T (Mi5£22) & Trade receivables (Note 22):
——1¥EZBAT - Subsidiaries of UPE 11,664 14,510

BT RIB R EAE UL Prepayments and other receivables

FRIE (MFEE23) - (Note 23):
—m—{bE - UPE - 6
—#—EZMEAE - Subsidiaries of UPE 180,128 155,340
—REBZHERE — Joint ventures and associates
Yodi - YN=| of the Group 10,769 4,742
190,897 160,088
202,561 174,598
FE(T REEG 5 RREE - Balances due to related parties:
FET B SRR (MiE528) : Trade payables (Note 28):
—tm—{bE - UPE 3,165 3,196
—i—1EZEBAT - Subsidiaries of UPE 628,419 532,981
—REBZEERE — Joint ventures and associates
Y4 —Y/N= of the Group 70,009 70,091
701,593 606,268
21 4 #Hi— 1 EhEPEARA RAF Uni-President China Holdings Ltd. ¢ Annual Report 2024 &%
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33 B R5H (B)

(b)

()

EARAEE T 48R | ()

B E2024F 128318 LEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

(b) Balances with related parties: (Continued)

2024 2023
ARETT ABETIT
RMB’000 RMB’000

HE i IB R e 5t Other payables and accruals (Note 29):

&R (fsE29) -
——1¥EZHB/AT - Subsidiaries of UPE 34,651 29,759
—REBZEELE — Joint ventures and associates

o4 =U/NE of the Group 200 12
34,851 29,771
736,444 636,039

HRM S ERASERIF - 2B
AREREE-

P WSO Re A RV Bk 75 A5 BR BY AR TED B
HHREERZ ATERE-

The balance with related parties are unsecured, interest
free and repayable on demand.

The carrying amounts of the balances due from and
due to related parties approximated their fair value as at
balance sheet dates.

TESIEASIHHEN : (c) Key management personnel compensation:
2024 2023
ARBETT AREEF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
HE LA R EMER]  Salaries, bonus and other welfares 20,158 18,014

FHFRIRE e TEAL R HAth
BRBRERBHEZ A - L5 K
H20FTINEMNBEREEA RS
EHTEEEBASEHIEHNE
fTFRIE (20234 © ) o

i—1 ¥ hEEAR B RA S Uni-President China Holdings Ltd.

The salaries, bonus and other welfares disclosed above
were all paid as at year end. In addition, the post-
employment benefits disclosed in Note 29(a) include no
obligations payable to the key management personnel
(2023: nil).
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MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(@ FAABEEEER (@) Balance sheet of the Company
2024 2023
AR¥TT ARBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BE ASSETS
ERBEE Non-current assets
R—KMBABZKE  Investment in a subsidiary 8,048,137 8,048,137
R—KEEAB 25 Interest in an associated company 1,713 1,597
ME- BB KREE Property, plant and equipment 1 1
8,049,851 8,049,735
RENEE Current assets
BN IRIEE EMAEWEIE Prepayments and other receivables 433 425
I NI S ] Amounts due from subsidiaries 27,828 6,429
BERIREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 1,112 716
29,373 7,570
BEEE Total assets 8,079,224 8,057,305
21 6 H— ¥R EERARZAT Uni-President China Holdings Ltd. ¢ Annual Report 2024 &%
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MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)
ERBEEEER (@ (a) Balance sheet of the Company (Continued)
2024 2023
AR¥FT ARMEF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
gy EQUITY
[REN Share capital 39,764 39,764
R ERR Share premium account 4,829,899 4,829,899
HhEE Other reserves 1,381,076 1,381,076
REERF Retained earnings 1,824,384 1,531,144
iR Total equity 8,075,123 7,781,883
1=} LIABILITIES
mENBE Current liabilities
HMEAIEKREstEAR Other payables and accruals 4,101 1,922
BE Borrowings - 273,500
4,101 275,422
PR =R Total liabilities 4,101 275,422
kA EEEE Total equity and liabilities 8,079,224 8,057,305

KABEEBBRENR20255438
SHESES=ZH A WAHMUTES

HREZ-

BEX
LO Chih-Hsien
HITEE

Executive Director

i—1 ¥ hEEAR B RA S Uni-President China Holdings Ltd.

its behalf by the following Directors.

23 EE
LIU Xinhua
HITEE

Executive Director

o Annual Report 2024 F#§

The balance sheet of the Company was approved by the
Board of Directors on 5 March 2025 and were signed on
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34 BATEBEERRRKEHEST 34 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE

|

(b)

218

MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)
KREEEES (b) Reserve movements of the Company
BABR NTEEHE BEERH &t
Contribution Fair value Retained
surplus reserves earnings Total
NS AREBTFT AREFT AEEF T
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
12022%12831H Balance at 31 December 2022
248 1,381,078 @ 1,734,563 3,115,639
EERHN Profit for the year = = 1,262,805 1,262,805
BXJ2022F 7S Dividends relating to 2022, paid = = (1,466,224) (1,466,224)
12023%12831H Balance at 31 December 2023
248 1,381,078 © 1,531,144 2,912,220
FERER Profit for the year = = 2,126,700 2,126,700
B {72023 28 Dividends relating to 2023, paid - - (1,833,460) (1,833,460)
12024%12831H Balance at 31 December 2024
248 1,381,078 @ 1,824,384 3,205,460

#F—1 ¥ hE PG AR /2 E Uni-President China Holdings Ltd.
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35 EFRMKER 35 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF
DIRECTORS
(a EFEEREITHRABZMNE (a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
ZEEREBTHRABZEHMNE The remuneration of every director and the chief
FIanF executive is set out below:
BB
HE P4
ik e WBEL  REEN O HfhtERE EXEm Eeh
Employer’s
contribution
toa
retirement
Discretionary Housing Other benefit
EENY Name of Director Fees Salary  bonuses allowance allowance scheme Total

ARETR ARETR ARETRT ARBTR ARETR ARETRT ARETR
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

20245 2024
HNTES Executive directors
BE%EE M Lo Chih-Hslen

(BEEH) 58 467 4,729 - 12 - 5,266
2FELE  Mr. Liu Xinhua (B3E) 50 1,344 2,566 240 - 76 4,276
JERTEZ Non-executive directors
BRIRLE  Mr SuTsung-Ming
(20245  (BRER) (Retired
5E31E on31 May 2024)
BH{T) 21 - - - - = 21
BEEELE  Mr Chen Kuo-Hui
(BEE) 50 - - - - - 50
$#HM LT Ms. Chien Chi-Lin
(EEEW) 50 - - - - - 50
BUIEHIT  Independent
EE non-executive directors
BEEALE M ChenSun-Te
(R 259 - - - 33 - 292
SE{CEfL DrFanRenDa,
Anthony (B1Z3%) 259 - - - 33 - 292
BEELE M LoPeter (BEE) 259 - - - 3 - 292
BEZELE M Chen Johnny
(RER) 259 - - - 21 - 280
1,265 1,811 7,295 240 132 76 10,819
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35 EFmEA M= () 35 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF
DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
@ EFRzETHAEZHME (a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(&) (Continued)
FEERRSITHAB ZHBNE The remuneration of every director and the chief
FIUF executive is set out below:
RAER
HEZ
ik e BETL  REER HtER  BEER st
Employer's
contribution
toa
retirement
Discretionary Housing Other benefit
EENS Name of Director Fees Salary bonuses  allowance  allowance scheme Total

AEETR ARETT ARBTT ARBTT ARETT AREBTRT ARETR
RMB000 ~ RMB000 ~ RMB'000 ~ RMB000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

20234 2023
HiTES Executive directors
BERRE M Lo Chih-Hsien

(BEA 57 460 4,156 - 1 = 4,684
ZIFERE  Mr LuXinhua (BI37%) 50 1,344 2,265 240 - 68 3,967
FHITEE  Non-executive directors
BEHSEE  Mr SuTsung-Ming
(Br=18) 50 - - - - - 50
BEIESE  Mr Chen Kuo-Hui
(REE) 50 - - - - = 50
BEHZET  Ms. Chien Chi-Lin
(%2023  (BREIH) (appointed
3H8H on 8 March 2023)
EZE) 40 - - - - - 40
BIIEHIT  Independent
Ex non-executive directors
BEE/B44E  Mr ChenSun-Te
(HEE) 255 - - - 33 = 288
BICEBL Dr.FanRenDa,
Anthony (B{Z3%) 255 - - - 33 = 288
BEERE M LoPeter (8E2) 255 - - - 33 - 288
ERKE M Chen Johnny
(BEE) 255 - - - 21 = 276
1,267 1,804 6,421 240 131 68 9,931
220 #Hi— 1 EhEPEARA RAF Uni-President China Holdings Ltd. ¢ Annual Report 2024 &%
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35 EEEM RiEm (B)

(@

(b)

EEARBITBRAEBZME

(&)

B E2024F K2023F12H31H
FFE SN FHBEEZEENNE
AN RBEAEENTHRIE
TE o R B E20245F K% 2023FE 128
STHLEEE HMERKABDEENK
ZEYRERETHMENZEE
PiN/N=T ) W R == B e |
SEAREENBAERINE
MBRNZRBNIEAFERELE
A5 B A9 E R B AL

.
I

L

Bk

BF
S

ANEMEMRAEEZ XL
FRBEENETHEERE
(TmmEEHBEE) > BREAE
AR B A F E AR A E BN
REMZEARRG B RER

i—1 ¥ hEEAR B RA S Uni-President China Holdings Ltd.

35 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF
DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

(@

(b)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,
discretionary bonuses paid to the relevant Directors
were determined based on the financial performance
of the Group. For the year ended 31 December 2024
and 2023, no arrangement was in place under which a
director of the Company waived or has agreed to waive
any emoluments and no emoluments were paid by the
Company to any of the directors as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
office.

Interests of Directors

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts
in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company
was a party and in which a director of the Company had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

o Annual Report 2024 F#§
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36 MEAR

TXHEARATF2024F128318 2

222

TEMBATFE

36 SUBSIDIARIES

The following sets out the details of the principal subsidiaries of

the Company as at 31 December 2024.

EMRIER
YNGIE2L HER B BRETKAERES PSR TEER RS
Country/place and Issued and Principal activities/
Company name date of incorporation paid-up capital Equity interest held place of operation
2024 2023
BEREE Directly owned
F—EMNERERRAR HEHE 933,180,000% 7T 100% 100%  REZER/ HEHES
2006565 29H
Uni-President Asia Holdings Ltd. Cayman Islands, USD933,180,000 Investment holding/
29 June 2006 Cayman Islands
%S Indirectly owned
F—1% (hE) REBRAT HE L 1,122,470,000%7C 100% 100%  BEER/TE
(Uni-President Enterprises (China) 199853510H
Investments Ltd.") Shanghai, PRC. USD1,122,470,000 Investment holding/PRC
10 March 1998
HES—CERRERAT FEEEARE 37,500,000% 7% 100% 100%  EERHERERESR
(Uni-President Enterprises 1992618131 /H
(Xinjiang) Food Co., Ltd.) Urumgj, PRC. USD37,500,000 Manufacturing and sale of
13 January 1992 beverages, food/PRC
WA —EERRERAT el 65,000,000% 7% 100% 100%  EERFEESHEER
(Chengdu President Enterprises 199345141 i
Food Co., Ltd.") Chengdu, PRC. USD65,000,000 Manufacturing and sale of
14 April 1993 beverages and food/PRC
Elg—C£emERAT FEIEL 96,000,000%7¢ 100% 100%  LERFEESRHEER
(Kunshan President Enterprises 1993458148 /'
Food Co., Ltd.") Kunshan, PRC. USD96,000,000 Manufacturing and sale of
14 May 1993 beverages and food/PRC
RER—CERRERAF FEIEHE 59,600,000% 7t 100% 100%  LERFESIHEER
(Wuhan President Enterprises 199357870 /HE
Food Co., Ltd. %) Wuhan, PRC. USD59,600,000 Manufacturing and sale of
7 July 1993 beverages and food/PRC
BENE—EEFRAR FEEM 75,000,000% 7% 100% 100%  EERBHEFRERESR
(Guangzhou President 1994412850 /R
Enterprises Corp.*) Guangzhou, PRC. USD75,000,000 Manufacturing and sale of
5 December 1994 beverages and food/PRC
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36 MIEAR (%) 36 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
EMRIER,
REAE 2R B BETRAERS Frfsie TEER/CEhY
Country/place and Issued and Principal activities/
Company name date of incorporation paid-up capital Equity interest held place of operation
2024 2023
BRR—tEERAR HEERR 39,900,000% 7T 100% 100%  AERBERREER
(Shenyang President Enterprises 1995568150 Ve
Co., Ltd.) Shenyang, PRC. USD39,900,000 Manufacturing and sale of
15 June 1995 beverages and food/PRC
BRA—CEBRAR HEERE 60,000,000%7¢ 100% 100%  HERHEGREER
(Hefei President Enterprises 1998825231 Ve:
Co., Ltd.") Hefei, PRC. USD60,000,000 Manufacturing and sale of
23 February 1998 beverages and food/PRC
RAER—CERRAT HER TR 29,200,000%7¢ 100% 100%  AERFEESHEER
(Harbin President Enterprises 199852526 Ve:
Co., Ltd.") Harbin, PRC. USD29,200,000 Manufacturing and sale of
26 February 1998 beverages and food/PRC
TRE—ARRERAT FEIER 52,900,000% 7 100% 100%  EERHEHRH/FE
(Beijing President Enterprises 200128 20H
Drinks Co., Ltd.") Beijing, PRC. USD52,900,000 Manufacturing and sale of
20 February 2001 beverages/PRC
HER—hEERAF hEfEE 44,000,000% 7T 100% 100%  AERBEREEER
(Nanchang President Enterprises 2001555 18H /HE
Co., Ltd.) Nanchang, PRC. USD44,000,000 Manufacturing and sale of
18 May 2001 beverages and food/PRC
BNA—CEBRAR REIEM 20,000,000%7¢ 100% 100%  HERHEGHEER
(Fuzhou President Enterprises 2001£7519H /HE
Co., Ltd.") Fuzhou, PRC. USD20,000,000 Manufacturing and sale of
19 July 2001 beverages and food/PRC
BNF—EEBRAT FREIER 37,000,000%7¢ 100% 100%  AERFHESHEER
(Zhengzhou President Enterprises 20024E6525H Ve:
Co., Ltd.") Zhengzhou, PRC. USD37,000,000 Manufacturing and sale of
25 June 2002 beverages and food/PRC
ffi— (LB BEERAS FELE 8,600,000% 7T 100% 100%  BRERERES/TE
(President (Shanghai) Trading 2005108178
Co., Ltd.*) Shanghai, PRC. USD8,600,000 Trading of beverages and
17 October 2005 food products/PRC
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36 MiBAT (48)

36 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

EMRIER
REBTE HER B BREITKMERS PR TEER RS
Country/place and Issued and Principal activities/
Company name date of incorporation paid-up capital Equity interest held place of operation
2024 2023
RCBERMBERRAR =F 1,000,003 & & 100% 100%  ANWEREE/ &%
(Tong Ren Corp. Limited®) 20065F12H28H
Taiwan NTD1,000,000 Human resource
28 December 2006 management/Taiwan
ERGf—tERRBERAA FEIEH 30,000,000%7¢ 100% 100%  EERFEESERER
(Kunming President Enterprises 2007E11H8H /#
Food Co., Ltd.") Kunming, PRC. USD30,000,000 Manufacturing and sale of
8 November 2007 beverages and food/PRC
SEEXFRAT & 1,711,920% 7T 100% 100%  BEEKR/EE
(Champ Green Capital 200856H5H
Co., Limited) Hong Kong USD1,711,920 Investment holding/Hong
5 June 2008 Kong
EES—BRKERA HEES 4,150,000% 7T 100% 100%  EERHEEHH/HE
(Bama President Mineral Water 2009525 20H
Co., Ltd.") Bama, PRC. USD4,150,000 Manufacturing and sale of
20 February 2009 beverages/PRC
HF—EEBERERAT &8 5,143,435,6007 7 100% 100%  KREZERKRES
(Uni-President Hong Kong 2009545 30H
Holdings Co., Ltd.) Hong Kong HKD5,143,435,600 Investment holding and
30 April 2009 trading
SECEEEEH (LB FRRE)  HELE 150,000% 7T 100% 100%  EEHBHA
(Champ Green (Shanghai) 200958 12H
Consulting Co., Ltd.*) Shanghai, PRC. USD150,000 Management Consulting
12 May 2009
RIVGE—EEFRRA FEIED 30,000,000%7¢ 100% 100%  LERFEESRHRER
(Changsha President Enterprises 2010981H /W
Co., Ltd.") Changsha, PRC. USD30,000,000 Manufacturing and sale of
1 September 2010 beverages and food/PRC
R —TEERRNICBRAT  FEME AE#1,000,0007T 100% 100%  BEERE/TE
(Chengdu Unifies The Skillful 2010585248
Noodle Restaurant Dining Chengdu, PRC. RMB1,000,000 Catering services/PRC
Culture Limited Company*) 24 August 2010
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36 HiEBARE (1) 36 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
EMRIER,
REAE 2R B BETRAERS Frfsie TEER/CEhY
Country/place and Issued and Principal activities/
Company name date of incorporation paid-up capital Equity interest held place of operation
2024 2023
HIF—CEERAT FEHT 25,000,000% 7T 100% 100%  AERBERREER
(Zhanjiang President Enterprises 20102105281 Ve
Co., Ltd.) Zhanjiang, PRC. USD25,000,000 Manufacturing and sale of
28 QOctober 2010 beverages and food/PRC
HER—CERRAR HElmE 30,000,000%7¢ 100% 100%  HERHEGREER
(Nanning President Enterprises 2010115168 Ve:
Co., Ltd.") Nanning, PRC. USD30,000,000 Manufacturing and sale of
16 November 2010 beverages and food/PRC
RER—CEBRAT HEEE 20,000,000% 7T 100% 100%  FERHESRE/TE
(Changchun President Enterprises ~ 2010F1282H
Co., Ltd.") Changchun, PRC. USD20,000,000 Manufacturing and sale of
02 December 2010 beverages/PRC
MREE—CEBRAR F Bl 5o 20,000,000% 7T 100% 100%  ERRERHLEFE
(Akesu President Enterprises 2010128158
Co., Ltd.*) Akesu, PRC. USD20,000,000 Wholesale of forage and
15 December 2010 fertilizer/PRC
TNF—CEBRAT FREZM 30,000,000% 7T 100% 100%  AERBEREEER
(Taizhou President Enterprises 201151528H Ve
Co., Ltd.) Taizhou, PRC. USD30,000,000 Manufacturing and sale of
28 January 2011 beverages and food/PRC
BER—(ERRRAR HEEE 33,600,000%7T 100% 100% HERRAEER
(Chongging President Enterprises 2011&2H16H ZE/HE
Co., Ltd.") Chongging, PRC. USD33,600,000 Wholesale and retail of pre-
16 February 2011 packaged food and dairy
products/PRC
BEE—LEBRAT FERE 20,000,000% 7T 100% 100%  AERBERHERR
(Balyin President Enterprises 2011528248 /]
Co., Ltd.) Baiyin, PRC. USD20,000,000 Manufacturing and sale of
24 February 2011 beverages and food/PRC
—BERRELERAT HE L A E%60,000,00070 100% 100%  HEER/TE
(Uni-President Shanghai Pearly 200385 1H
Century Co., Ltd. %) Shanghai, PRC. RMB60,000,000 Leasing business/PRC
1 August 2003
LER—CXERENER FELE AR 20,000,007 100% 100%  BRERK/TE
(Uni-President Shanghai 2003%7518H
Management Consulting Co., Ltd.")  Shanghai, PRC. RMB20,000,000 Investment holding/PRC
18 July 2003
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36 MiBAT (48)

36 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

EMRIER
REBTE HER B BREITKMERS PR TEER RS
Country/place and Issued and Principal activities/
Company name date of incorporation paid-up capital Equity interest held place of operation
2024 2023
BEA—CEERAR FEEE 22,000,000% 7t 100% 100%  HERBEHRN/TE
(Hainan President Enterprises 20114E3H8H
Co., Ltd.") Chengmai, PRC. USD22,000,000 Manufacturing and sale of
8 March 2011 beverages/PRC
BRER—TEBRAT FEARE 35,000,000%7¢ 100% 100%  EERFEESHRER
(Shijiazhuang President Enterprises 2010118158 /#
Co., Ltd.") Shijiazhuang, PRC. USD35,000,000 Manufacturing and sale of
15 November 2010 beverages and food/PRC
BRA—CERRRAT HFEEE 30,000,000%7¢ 100% 100%  £ERBEAHRESR
(Jinan President Enterprises 2011E4818H /'
Co., Ltd.") Jinan, PRC. USD30,000,000 Manufacturing and sale of
18 April 2011 beverages and food/PRC
BEBG—TEFRAS FEER 30,000,000% 7% 100% 100%  AERBERERESR
(Guiyang President Enterprises 20115E7H6H Vi
Co., Ltd.") Guiyang, PRC. USD30,000,000 Manufacturing and sale of
6 July 2011 beverages and food/PRC
BN —EBRKERAR FEER 4,800,000% 7T 100% 100%  FEBRK/HE
(Wuxue President Enterprises 2011E7H6H
Mineral Water Co. Ltd.”) Wuxue, PRC. USD4,800,000 Manufacturing mineral
6 July 2011 water/PRC
LERERRBSERAT HE L 950,000 7% 100% 100%  HOXEREAZERL
(President (Shanghai) Private Label ~ 2011&6H28H &/
Marketing & Trading Co., Ltd.") Shanghai, PRC. USD950,000 Wholesale of pre-packaged
28 June 2011 food and dairy products/
PRC
MNGE—EEFRAT FE#N 85,000,000%7¢ 100% 100%  AERBERERESR
(Hangzhou President Enterprises 2011568218 /HE
Co., Ltd.") Hangzhou, PRC. USD85,000,000 Manufacturing and sale of
21 June 2011 beverages and food/PRC
BNAE—LEERAF BRI 33,000,000%7¢ 100% 100%  EERHEEHH,HE
(Xuzhou President Enterprises 201149A2H
Co., Ltd.") Xuzhou, PRC. USD33,000,000 Manufacturing and sale of
2 September 2011 beverages/PRC
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36 HiEBARE (1) 36 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
EMRIER,
REAE 2R B BETRAERS Frfsie TEER/CEhY
Country/place and Issued and Principal activities/
Company name date of incorporation paid-up capital Equity interest held place of operation
2024 2023
—BE (EWL) BRAF FEEL 10,000,000% 7% 100% 100%  BEKAELILE/FE
(President (Kunshan) Trading 2012535 28H
Co., Ltd.) Kunshan, PRC. USD10,000,000 Wholesale of pre-packaged
28 March 2012 food products/PRC
AEAR—CERRAR Bl 43,100,000% 7% 100% 100%  HERMEESN/HE
(Henan President Enterprises 20124E359H
Co., Ltd.") Henan,PRC. USD43,100,000 Manufacturing and sale of
9 March 2012 beverages/PRC
MAER—EEERAA IR 50,000,000%7¢ 100% 100%  £ERHEERNRE®
(Shaanxi President Enterprises 2012&7H6H /'t
Co., Ltd.") Shaanxi, PRC. USD50,000,000 Manufacturing and sale of
6 July 2012 beverages and food/PRC
IHG—LEERAT FERR 30,000,000% 7T 100% 100%  AERBEREERS
(Jiangsu President Enterprises 2012411850 Va:
Co., Ltd.*) Nanjing, PRC. USD30,000,000 Manufacturing and sale of
5 November 2012 beverages and food/PRC
RAWHK—BE (E) BRK EIE M A #180,000,0007T 100% 100%  HEBRK/FE
BRAR 201335150
(Changbaishan Mountain Jilin,PRC. RMB180,000,000 Manufacturing mineral
President Enterprises (Jilin) 15 March 2013 water/PRC
Mineral Water Co., Ltd. *)
G-t EL) BXREERAT  PEEWL A& #60,000,00070 100% 100%  BHE/FE
(President Enterprises (Kunshan) 2013F4F9H
Real Estate Development Kunshan,PRC. RMB60,000,000 Real estate/PRC
Co., Ltd.® 9 April 2013
BEH—LEBRAT FERI| 16,000,000% 7T 100% 100%  EERHEHRH/HE
(Ningxia President Enterprises 2013F4522H
Co., Ltd.*) Yinchuan, PRC. USD16,000,000 Manufacturing and sale of
22 April 2013 beverages/PRC
ARLFE—LEBRAT MRS 30,000,000% 7T 100% 100%  AERBERREER
(Uni-President Enterprises 201355590 Ve
(Inner Mongolia) Co., Ltd.") Hohhot, PRC. USD30,000,000 Manufacturing and sale of
9 May 2013 beverages and food/PRC
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36 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

EMRIER
REBTE HER B BREITKMERS PR TEER RS
Country/place and Issued and Principal activities/
Company name date of incorporation paid-up capital Equity interest held place of operation
2024 2023
LRS- EEBRAR HEZEH 30,000,000%7¢ 100% 100%  EERHEEHH,/HE
(Shanxi President Enterprises 20135F9A5H
Co., Ltd.") Jinzhong, PRC. USD30,000,000 Manufacturing and sale of
5 September 2013 beverages/PRC
LER—rERRRAA HE L 40,000,000 7T 100% 100%  BEfeRLE/TE
(Uni-President Enterprises 2001108148
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd %) Shanghai, PRC. USD40,000,000 Wholesale of pre-packaged
14 October 2001 food products/PRC
WEER-rEENRREEK T E B 30,000,000% 7% 100% 100%  SERHESR/FE
BRAS 201311418
(Uni-President Enterprise (Hutubi) ~ Hutubi, PRC. USD30,000,000 Manufacturing and sale of
Tomato Products Technology 1 November 2013 beverages/PRC
Co., Ltd.") Co., Ltd.")
IER—tERHERERAR FE L 80,000,000% 7t 100% 100%  AERBEHHRER
(Uni-President Enterprises 201458158 /H
(Shanghai) Drink&Food Co., Ltd.") ~ Shanghai, PRC. USD80,000,000 Manufacturing and sale of
15 May 2014 beverages and food/PRC
KER—LERRRA FEIXE 22,000,000 7% 100% 100%  HERSEHRN/TE
(Uni-President Enterprises 2014E8F15H
(Tiandin) Co., Ltd") Tianjin, PRC. USD22,000,000 Manufacturing and sale of
15 August 2014 beverages/PRC
EERA SR IEBRAT FEES AE#100,000,0007% 100% 100%  SERHEHR/FE
(Yantai Tongli Beverage Industries 2009%6F59H
Co., Ltd¥) Yantai, PRC. RMB100,000,000 Manufacturing and sale of
09 June 2009 beverages/PRC
F—1% (EL) eRBRERRF  HEEW 1,200,000% 7T 100% 100%  SERBEBKLFE
(President Enterprises (Kunshan) 1995F12827H
Food Products Technology Kunshan, PRC. USD1,200,000 Manufacturing and sale of
Co., Ltd.") 27 December 1995 seasoning/PRC
FrBEMRPEARRE 88 REANKE All subsidiaries located in the Mainland China, Taiwan and

AEERAREAER NHEHER
MBIz — KRB AT D ER R Z AR
BEAS -FRARTEMNIZHEAT

BRI EEERR-

* BYELBLHARBDERERNIFHX

LiBEERY -

#F—1 ¥ hE PG AR /2 E Uni-President China Holdings Ltd.

Hong Kong are limited liability entities. One subsidiary
incorporated in the Cayman Islands is an exempted company
with limited liability. All subsidiaries established in the PRC are

wholly foreign owned enterprises.

*

The English name represents the best effort by management of

the Company in translating the Chinese name.
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UNI-PRESIDENT CHINA HOLDINGS LTD.
(a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
(—RAFAEREEMA AR A)

(Stock Code B2 #R5%: 220)
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